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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated Ind AS financial
statements of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited (hereinafter referred to
as “the Company” or “M&M") and its subsidiaries (the Company and
its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group"”), its associates
and its joint ventures, which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2018, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss
(including other comprehensive income), the Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for
the year then ended, including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as
“the consolidated financial statements”).

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Ind AS Financial
Statements

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements in terms of the requirements
of the Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as “the Act”)
that give a true and fair view of the consolidated state of affairs,
consolidated profit (including other comprehensive income),
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows of the Group including its associates and joint ventures in
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in
India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed
under Section 133 of the Act. The respective Board of Directors of
the companies included in the Group and of its associates and joint
ventures are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting
records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding
the assets of the Group and its associates and its joint ventures and for
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the selection
and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial
controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation
and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors
of the Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective
Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its
associates and joint ventures are responsible for assessing the ability
of the Group and of its associates and joint ventures to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate or cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. While conducting the audit,
we have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting

and auditing standards and matters which are required to be included
in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules
made thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing
specified under Section 143 (10) of the Act. Those Standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal financial
control relevant to the Company's preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by
the Company's Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We are also responsible to conclude on the appropriateness of
management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
ability of Group and of its associates and joint ventures to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause Group and its
associates and joint ventures to cease to continue as a going concern.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the audit
evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports
referred to in sub-paragraph 2 (a) of the Other matters paragraph
below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according
to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of
reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and on
the other financial information of the subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give
the information required by the Act in the manner so required and
give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles
generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of
the Group, its associates and joint ventures as at 31 March 2018, and
their consolidated profit (including other comprehensive income),
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows for the year ended on that date.
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Other matters

1.

The comparative financial information of the Group, its associates
and joint ventures for the year ended 31 March 2017 prepared in
accordance with Ind AS included in these consolidated financial
statements have been audited by the predecessor auditor who
had audited the financial statements for the relevant period. The
report of the predecessor auditor on the comparative financial
information dated 30 May 2018 expressed an unmodified opinion.

(@) We did not audit the financial statements of 157
subsidiaries, whose financial statements reflect total assets
of Rs. 39,384 crores as at 31 March 2018, total revenues
of Rs. 38,009 crores and net cash inflows amounting to
Rs. 825 crores for the year ended on that date, as considered
in the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements also include the Group's share of net
profit of Rs. 357 crores for the year ended 31 March 2018,
as considered in the consolidated financial statements,
in respect of 34 associates and 19 joint ventures, whose
financial statements have not been audited by us. These
financial statements have been audited by other auditors
whose reports have been furnished to us by the Company's
Management and our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts
and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures and our report in terms of sub-
section (3) of Section 143 of the Act, insofar as it relates to
the aforesaid subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures is
based solely on the reports of the other auditors.

Certain of these subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
are located outside India whose financial statements
and other financial information have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
their respective countries and which have been audited by
other auditors under generally accepted auditing standards
applicable in their respective countries. The Company’s
management has converted the financial statements of
such subsidiaries/associates/joint ventures located outside
India from accounting principles generally accepted in
their respective countries to accounting principles generally
accepted in India. We have audited these conversion
adjustments made by the Company’s management. Our
opinion in so far as it relates to the balances and affairs of
such subsidiaries/associates/ joint ventures located outside
India is based on the reports of other auditors and the
conversion adjustments prepared by the management of
the Company and audited by us.

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements,
and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with
respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of
the other auditors.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.

248

As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and
on the consideration of reports of the other auditors on financial
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statements and the other financial information of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, as noted in the ‘Other matters’
paragraph, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

a)

b)

4]

d)

e)

f)

9)

We have sought and obtained all the information and
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the
aforesaid consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, proper books of account as required by
law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated
financial statements have been kept so far as it appears
from our examination of those books and the reports of
the other auditors.

The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement
of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income),
the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are
in agreement with the relevant books of account maintained
for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial
statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards
specified under Section 133 of the Act.

On the basis of the written representations received from
the directors of the Company as on 31 March 2018 taken on
record by the Board of Directors of the Company and the
reports of the statutory auditors of its subsidiary companies,
associate companies and joint ventures incorporated in
India, none of the directors of the Group companies, its
associate companies, and joint ventures incorporated
in India is disqualified as on 31 March 2018 from being
appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of
the Act.

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements of the
Company, its subsidiary companies, associate companies
and joint ventures incorporated in India and the operating
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report
in the “Annexure”.

With respect to the other matters to be included in
the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the
Companies (Audit and Auditor’s) Rules, 2014, in our opinion
and to the best of our information and according to the
explanations given to us and based on the consideration
of the reports of the other auditors on separate financial
statements as also the other financial information of the
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, as noted in the
'Other matters’ paragraph:

i. The consolidated financial statements disclose the
impact of pending litigations on the consolidated
financial position of the Group, its associates and joint
ventures. Refer Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Provision has been made in the consolidated financial
statements, as required under the applicable law or
Ind AS, for material foreseeable losses, on long-term
contracts including derivative contracts. Refer Note 20
to the consolidated financial statements in respect of
such items as it relates to the Group, its associates and
joint ventures.

There has been no delay in transferring amounts to
the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the
Company and its subsidiary companies, associate
companies and joint ventures incorporated in India
during the year ended 31 March 2018.

The disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
regarding holdings as well as dealings in specified
bank notes during the period from 8 November 2016
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to 30 December 2016 have not been made since
they do not pertain to the financial year ended
31 March 2018. However, amounts as appearing in
the audited consolidated financial statements for the
period ended 31 March 2017 have been disclosed.

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 101248W/W-100022)

Jamil Khatri
Partner
(Membership No. 102527)

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited — f2Zis]



Annexure to the Independent Auditors’ Report of even date on the Consolidated Ind AS financial

statements of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of
Sub section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated Ind AS financial
statements of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited (“the Company”) as of
and for the year ended 31 March 2018, we have audited the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements of Company,
its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and joint ventures,
which are companies incorporated in India, as of that date.

Management'’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the Company, its subsidiary
companies, its associate companies and joint ventures, which are
companies incorporated in India, are responsible for establishing
and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal
controls with reference to financial statements criteria established
by the Holding Company considering the essential components of
internal controls stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (“Guidance Note") issued
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI"). These
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance
of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively
for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including
adherence to the respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its
assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy
and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation
of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements of the
Company, its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and joint
ventures, which are companies incorporated in India, based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance
Note and the Standards on Auditing, issued by the ICAI and deemed
to be prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent
applicable, to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable
to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by the ICAI.
Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements was established and
maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material
respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system with
reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness.
Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
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operating effectiveness of internal controls based on the assessed risk.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
Ind AS financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit
evidence obtained by the other auditors of the subsidiary companies,
associate companies and joint ventures which are companies
incorporated in India, in terms of their reports referred to in the Other
matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial
controls system with reference to financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to Financial
Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with
authorisations of management and directors of the Company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to
Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to
the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to

the explanations given to us and based on consideration of reporting
of the other auditors as mentioned in the Other Matters paragraph,
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the Company, its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and
joint ventures, which are companies incorporated in India have, in all
material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system with
reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements were operating effectively as
at 31 March 2018, based on the internal controls with reference to
financial statements criteria established by the Holding Company,
considering the essential components of internal controls stated in
the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

Other matters

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the
adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements in so far as it relates
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to eighty five subsidiary companies, eight associate companies and
sixteen joint ventures which are companies incorporated in India, is
based on the corresponding reports of the auditors of such companies
incorporated in India.

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 101248W/W-100022)

Jamil Khatri
Partner

Mumbai, 29 May, 2018 (Membership No. 102527)

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited — f=ksil



Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31March, 2018

Rupees crores

Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022
Jamil Khatri

Partner

Membership No : 102527

Vishakha N. Desai
Vikram Singh Mehta Narayan Shankar
T. N. Manoharan

Mumbai, 29" May, 2018
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Anupam Puri ) Directors V. S. Parthasarathy

Note 2018 2017
. ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, Plant and EQUIPMENT ...ttt 4 20,820.49 18,306.97
CAPITAl WOTK-IN-PrOGIESS.....coevieeieriieeieesecieisesetae st sessas ettt ee s 1,814.57 1,887.86
GOOAWIll ...ttt ettt bbbttt b et bbb e ae e s se s et aeseseasaeseasaesessaeseasassnasanas 5 2,159.67 558.61
Other INTANGIDIE ASSETS.......ceiieeieiriicietreste ettt ss s st s e s snsesenin 6 3,201.74 2,123.43
Intangible Assets Under DEVEIOPMENT ...t 2,454.90 2,391.08
Investments accounted using Equity Method........coveirieinieccce e 7 9,421.45 8,795.54
Financial Assets
() INVESTMENTS ..ottt bbbt e s e s nnanas 7 1,246.09 1,166.23
(ii) Trade Receivables... 8 513.84 576.59
L) I oY= 4 L30T 9 31,414.43 25,193.54
(iv)  Other FINANCIal ASSETS ....c.ccueieuereieieieieieieie e 10 512.43 443.91
Deferred Tax ASSETS (NET)...ccccrrirrieieeieie ettt e s e naene 1 841.60 906.67
INCOME TAX ASSETS (NET)..cuiuiiiitiiiiietiei ettt b s s b e se e bt st e b se b sb e s sesbe et sbssesesbesssnseane 1,251.02 987.02
Other NON-CUITENT ASSETS......ccueiieieeeireeteireetetese e e e se e se e s te et se e st e asseebese s st eae e tesenssentensanes 12 2,482.66 2,616.94
78,134.89 65,954.39
CURRENT ASSETS
L0 TR 1= OSSPSR 13 9,335.57 8,886.01
Financial Assets
() INVESTMENTS ..ottt 7 5,350.07 4,700.67
(i) Trade RECEIVADIES ...ttt st ne e aeneean 8 8,489.82 7,199.26
(i) Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS.........cccuriruiiiieiiecie e 14 4,466.63 2,945.79
(iv) Bank Balances other than Cash and Cash EQUIVaIENTS .........ccccueiirreenrceeceeeeeeeeene 14 2,080.97 1,708.24
(72 T e Y- TP 9 24,725.46 20,698.48
(Vi)  Other FINANCIAl ASSELS ....c.cvcueueucreieecieteecieie ettt nanas 10 1,255.78 1,095.94
OThEr CUITENT ASSEES ....cueieeteeeesiete e re ettt e et e e et e e se s e se s st eae et esenesensennnens 12 3,308.11 1,553.37
ASSELS NI TOF SAlE......oueeiieeeee ettt bbb bbb bbb a bbbt ettt retenan 44 63.61 —
59,076.02 48,787.76
TOTAL ASSETS ...ttt bbb sttt sttt et st et st en st et ettt essennans 1,37,210.91 1,14,742 .15
Il.  EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
EQUItY Share Capital........coureciririiiicircirieieeie bbb e 15 543.13 270.89
OTNET EQUITY ..vuvreeercieeeisessisessisst sttt b bbb bbb bbbt bbbt 16 36,232.06 29,467.10
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ... 36,775.19 29,737.99
NON-CONTIOIIING INTEIESES ...eeviieceeererereee et es st sse s snsesnennansnens 8,250.47 6,356.90
45,025.66 36,094.89
LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Financial Liabilities
() BOTTOWINGS -.vovereeieiscietee sttt ettt e bbb 17 33,809.18 30,124.51
(1)) Trade PayabIes ..........coceiiurieiireieieees bbb 18 4.88 4.38
(iii) Other FINANCial Liabilities......ccoieieieieieetiee ettt st be st nes 19 1,689.46 1,392.78
L2207 13T T3PS 20 3,785.68 3,507.04
Deferred Tax Liabilities (NET).....ccciceieereieesereee sttt ettt e bbb ebe et se e e ebennenas 1" 1,587.42 1,787.45
Other Non-Current Liabilities .....ccoucueieeeieiieeee ettt 21 2,159.09 1,998.63
43,035.71 38,814.79
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Financial Liabilities
(1) BOTTOWINGS ..ttt ittt bbb bbb bbbttt e 17 11,325.54 10,121.65
(1) Trade Payables .......c.cccucuririiieieieie e 18 18,287.34 14,796.87
(i)  Other Financial Liabilities........ccccceieuiieieieccee s 19 14,208.43 11,775.94
Other CUITENT LIabiliTiES..cueu ittt ettt b e ettt sae e e e besaeseeseebenee 21 3,528.86 1,579.76
L3401V 13T T3PS 20 1,395.26 1,215.91
Current Tax Liabilities (NET) ....ccoieieeee ettt et b et ae e se b e nas 404.11 342.34
49,149.54 39,832.47
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ..ottt s e e en e nnan 1,37,210.91 1,14,742.15
The accompanying notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
| f hed. . .
n terms of our report attached Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman
For BS R & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan
Chartered Accountants R. K. Kulkarni Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director

Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO

Company Secretary

Mumbai, 29* May, 2018
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Consolidated Statement Of PrOfIt and LosS for the year ended 315t March, 2018

Rupees crores

Note 2018 2017
INCOME
REVENUE TrOM OPEIatioNS .....cucueuieirieieieieieieeie e ettt sttt ettt ettt 22 93,264.77 88,983.03
Other Income 23 631.03 730.10
L1 1T 1 1 1= 93,895.80 89,713.13
EXPENSES
Cost Of Materials CONSUMEM......ccuviieeeerireeeresissees s sesses e sessae e s st ssass st sessasessesssnsessenssnsesnenes 24 48,439.86 45,805.38
Purchases of Stock-in-Trade..... 5,017.43 4,849.82
Changes in Inventories of Fini . 25 83.33 (13.83)
EXCISE DIUTY ..ttt E bbb bbb bbbt b bbb bbb renn 1,170.82 5,209.98
EMPIOYEE BENETITS EXPENSE ...vvriereecieieisieieie et esessae ettt n st nsssessensassnens 26 10,004.62 8,910.63
FINANCE COSTS ...vuvuttrieteiieiete ettt ettt sttt 27 3,987.09 3,648.46
Depreciation and AmMOrtisation EXPENSE........ccceureeieerrmricueinereiciei e sseseeneas 4,6 3,279.90 2,812.72
OFNEI EXPENSES..c..vvreueieirestiet ettt bbbttt e s 28 16,820.50 15,019.32
88,803.55 86,242.48
Less : Cost of manufactured/purchased products capitalised .........cocoeervierrnieinnneennesseseseeene 1,497.89 1,533.10
TOLAl EXPENSES.........eeeieiiit ettt bbbttt bbbt b b b 87,305.66 84,709.38
Profit Before Exceptional Items and TaX ........cccccciiiiiiiiiiienesesess s aes 6,590.14 5,003.75
EXCOPTIONAI TEEMS ...ttt bbbttt b bbbttt enetan 29 2,628.12 447.11
Share of Profit/(Loss) of Associates and JOINT VENTUIES........cccceeceieeieeeeeeeecscree s 1,107.26 899.40
PrOfit BEFOI® TAX ......o.cecececicicicie et 10,325.52 6,350.26
Tax Expense........... 1
Current Tax.... 2,563.61 2,059.33
Deferred Tax..... (195.88) 240.40
PrOfit FOr the YK .......oeeee ettt renn 7,957.79 4,050.53
Other Comprehensive Income
A. (i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
(a) Remeasurements of the defined benefit plans ..., 123.80 226.75
(b) Equity instruments through other comprehensive income............c.ccc...... (6.92) (5.38)
(c) Share of other comprehensive income of equity accounted investees... (3.37) (2.42)
(ii) Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss ............... 3.46 419
B. (i) [Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss
(a) Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations 298.19 (40.38)
(b) Debt instruments through other comprehensive income..........ccovvcevcrnnnennas (0.98) (1.20)
(c) Effective portion of gains/(losses) on designated portion of hedging
instruments in cash flow hedge.........coooiiinnnc s (61.30) 41.52
(d) Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of equity accounted investees....... 37.87 (30.64)
(i) Income tax relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or 10ss .........ccceeueunene 7.60 (3.00)
Total Other Comprehensive INCOME ... 398.35 189.44
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year ... 8,356.14 4,239.97
Profit for the year attributable to:
OWNErS Of the COMPANY ....ouveiiieiricrrere e 7,510.39 3,698.04
NON-CONTIOIING INTEIESTS.....cuiuieieiiriri sttt 447.40 352.49
7,957.79 4,050.53
Other Comprehensive Income for the year attributable to:
OWNErS Of The COMPANY ....cuiiiiiiiicceie ettt s et s s e 319.45 127.60
NON-CONTIOIING INTEIESTS.....c.ceceieicirere e 78.90 61.84
398.35 189.44
Total Comprehensive Income for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 7,829.84 3,825.64
Non-controlling interests 526.30 414.33
8,356.14 4,239.97
Earnings per equity share : 30
(Face Value Rs. 5/- per share) (Rupees)
3 T RS 69.20 34.16
DITUTE ...t bbb bbbttt 68.86 33.98
The accompanying notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Int f t attached. . .
n terms ofourreport attache Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman
For BS R & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan
Chartered Accountants R. K. Kulkarni Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director

Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022 .
I J I Anupam Puri Directors

Jamil Khatri Vishakha N. Desai
Partner

Membership No : 102527

TN.M h
Mumbai, 29* May, 2018 anoharan

V. S. Parthasarathy

Vikram Singh Mehta Narayan Shankar

Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO
Company Secretary

Mumbai, 29* May, 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March, 2018 (contd.)

C)  Other Reserves

Rupees crores

Particulars Capital Debenture
Redemption Capital Redemption General Statutory

Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Total
As at 15t April, 2016 ..........cocoevecrniniiiiens 73.69 23.52 150.56 2,981.70 664.12 3,893.59
Transfer from Retained Earnings............c...... - — 71.98 30.82 56.39 159.19
Transfer to Retained Earnings.........ccoocveeunnnee — — (70.24) — — (70.24)
Allotment of shares by M&M ESOP Trust to
EMPIOYEES ...ttt — — — (0.25) — (0.25)
On account of employee stock options lapsed — — — 0.27 — 0.27
As at 31t March, 2017 73.69 23.52 152.30 3,012.54 720.51 3,982.56
As at 1% April, 2017 73.69 23.52 152.30 3,012.54 720.51 3,982.56
Transfer from Retained Earnings.... — — 84.35 45.90 114.78 245.03
Allotment of bonus shares by M&M ESOP
Trust to EMPIOYEES.......covuvecrcrrierieicrreirieinis — — — (0.21) — (0.21)
On account of employee stock options lapsed — — — 0.28 — 0.28
As at 31t March, 2018 73.69 23.52 236.65 3,058.51 835.29 4,227.66
Notes:

a)  The Company has reduced the Share Capital by Rs. 13.27 crores (2017 : Rs. 13.49 crores) and Securities Premium Account by Rs. 254.54 crores (2017 : Rs. 255.58 crores)
for 2,65,47,211 shares of Rs. 5 each (2017 : 2,69,73,260 shares of Rs. 5 each) held by M&M ESOP Trust pending transfer to the eligible employees.

b) The Share Capital of the Company has also been reduced and the General Reserve increased by Rs. 0.04 crores (2017 : Rs. 0.25 crores) for 82,548 bonus shares of

Rs. 5 each (2017 : 5,08,597 bonus shares of Rs. 5 each) issued by the Company in September, 2005 to M&M ESOP Trust.

¢)  The Company has also reduced the Share Capital by Rs. 25.92 crores (2017 : Rs. 25.92 crores) and Retained Earnings by Rs. 1,433.85 crores (2017 : Rs. 1,433.85 crores)
for 5,18,35,214 shares of Rs. 5 each (2017 : 5,18,35,214 shares of Rs. 5 each) held by M&M Benefit Trust.
d)  The Share Capital of the Company has also been reduced and the Securities Premium Account increased by Rs. 39.23 crores (2017 : Rs. Nil) for 2,66,29,759 bonus shares
of Rs. 5 each (2017 : Nil) issued by the Company in December, 2017 to M&M ESOP Trust and for 5,18,35,214 bonus shares of Rs. 5 each (2017 : Nil) issued by the Company

in December, 2017 to M&M Benefit Trust.

The accompanying notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

In terms of our report attached. Nadir B. Godrej

For BSR & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan
Chartered Accountants

. ) . R. K. Kulkarni
Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022 .
Anupam Puri

Jamil Khatri Vishakha N. Desai

Partner
Membership No : 102527

Mumbai, 29t May, 2018

Vikram Singh Mehta
T. N. Manoharan
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Directors

Anand G. Mahindra
Dr. Pawan Goenka
V. S. Parthasarathy
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Executive Chairman
Managing Director
Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO
Company Secretary
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Company Board'’s Management Discussion ~ Corporate Business Responsibility Standalone Consolidated
Overview Report and Analysis Governance Report Accounts Accounts
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31+ March, 2018
Rupees crores
2018 2017
A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES :
Profit before exceptional iteMS @Nd TaX .....ccovvieueerieiirrre e e 6,590.14 5,003.75
Adjustments for :
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses 3,279.90 2,941.51
Loss/(Gain) on foreign exchange fluctuation (NEt).........ccceceeeuerirriiceeeesseseee e 91.76 (55.35)
Dividend and interest income [excluding Rs. 8,353.21 crores (2017 : Rs. 7,319.66 crores) in respect (402.99) (422.81)
OF fINANCIAl SEIVICES DUSINESS].....eveeirieieecteeecte ettt sttt s a b st b e e be e be e ste s snenens
Interest, commitment and finance charges [excluding Rs. 3,409.89 crores (2017 : Rs. 3,186.45 crores) 577.20 462.01
in respect of financial services business]...
Share-based payment expenses...........c.... 112.00 170.70
Net Gain on fiNaNCIal INSTIUMENTS ..ottt b et e e b b aesnenis (99.43) (242.26)
Loss on property, plant and equipment sold/scrapped/written off (Net) .....cccocoeeieerirnncccccinene 10.45 53.90
3,568.89 2,907.70
Operating Profit before Working Capital Changes.........cccovereieiricennrieseeee s 10,159.03 7,911.45
Changes in :
Trade and Other reCeIVADIES. ... (2,065.91) (2,175.10)
Financial SErvices reCIVADIE ... b e e bt s re b n s (9,852.00) (6,434.37)
INVEINTOTIES. ... eeeieieteeseseeessae et e et bttt et s e et e e s e s s s s e e e s s e ettt s e e st bbb et s (256.32) 240.97
Trade and Other PayabIEs. ..o 5,360.93 2,644.95
(6,813.30) (5,723.55)
Cash generated from OPErAtIONS ......ccciuiiecurieieierisesee ettt 3,345.73 2,187.90
Income Taxes pPaid (Net Of refUNS) ......ccccvvriicrrierrsereee et ees (2,663.87) (2,004.81)
Net Cash flow from Operating ACtiVIties............ccvirrinicrncncecee e 681.86 183.09
B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES :
Payment to acquire property, plant & equipment and other intangible assets..........c.ccocoeerrurunne. (5,905.78) (5,026.15)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment and other intangible assets..........ccccoevvuneeee. 114.72 62.63
Payment 10 @CQUIIe iNVESTMENTS .....c.c.cueurureriririceeeie ettt ettt s et nsansnseseses (1,55,158.64) (1,32,172.74)
Proceeds from sale of INVESTMENTS .....c.ccviiiieiciriie e 1,54,630.80 1,30,940.06
INTEIESt FECEIVEM ...t 253.62 345.88
Dividends received from Joint ventures and ASSOCIALES .......ccocrrerrecrreireeneeerreeremneeereeee s 301.52 391.21
Dividends received from Others ... 14.76 17.71
Bank DEPOSITS PIACET ...ttt ettt b bt etes (2,180.56) (2,505.34)
Bank DEPOSItS MAtUIEM .....cueueieeiiiriririeieieeisesi st bbbt b bbbt nantnten 1,932.95 2,722.86
Increase in Earmarked and Margin @CCOUNT ........c.oceureeirereeeiririrercee et eae s sseenes (43.10) (8.17)
Purchase of Investment in Joint ventures and ASSOCIATES........ccciciiieeeeiieeeecee e ene (703.98) (647.36)
Purchase consideration paid on acquisition of Subsidiaries net of cash acquired.........c.ccccceveeueeeee. (400.77) (83.47)
Consideration received on disposal of Joint ventures and AsSOCAtES ........ccoverrereeeireeereneeeereeenenns 1,676.53 87.50
Net cash used in INVEStING ACHVITIES ..........ccccerriiiiirecceee e (5,467.93) (5,875.38)

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited  f=is¥4



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31% March, 2018 (contd.)

Rupees crores

2018 2017
C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES :
Proceeds from Issue of Shares to Employees by ESOP TrUSt......cccovveeiririnerisenieeenineseseseessssenesenenens 4.41 12.19
Proceeds from DOITOWINGS......ccciciieieietetet st b s enes 66,819.38 72,180.59
Repayments of borrowings (60,213.53) (66,024.07)
Net increase in Loans repayable on demand and cash credit........c.ccccoeenmnnnncccennnncccceeens (144.52) 1,101.60
Dividends paid (including dividend distribution tax paid thereon) ........ccocoevoeeeennnnencccenene (845.73) (771.66)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (including dividend distribution tax paid thereon).... (117.63) (164.28)
Proceeds from issue of shares to non-controlling interest (Net)........cccoerurrrrneeeesinsrerereeeenens 1,333.05 244.65
Interest, Commitment and Finance charges paid .........cooceeurrrrnecceiensreseee e (520.93) (471.05)
Net cash from financing aCtiVItIEs.............ccccirrrrrnece e 6,314.50 6,107.97
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents..............cccccvvvnieiiinnnnnnc 1,528.43 415.68
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year ...t 2,937.49 2,521.72
Unrealised gain/(loss) on foreign currency cash and cash equivalents..........c.cooovenncrnecnenseeeneeens 0.71 0.09
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the Year ... 4,466.63 2,937.49
Supplementary information :
Non-Cash transactions
a) Investment in equity aCCOUNTEA ASSOCIATES. .....ccoiuiueueuririrerereceie ettt — 354.60
b) Issue of equity shares as consideration to non-controlling interest in the Scheme of Arrangement
(U LT Lo LI LR 0.25 —

Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statements for the year ended 31t March, 2018

The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the ‘indirect method’ as set out in Ind AS 7 - Statement of Cash Flow.

The accompanying notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In terms of our report attached.

Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra
For BS R & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan
Chartered Accountants R. K. Kulkarni Dr. Pawan Goenka
Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022 /-.\nt;pam Puri Directors
. . V. S. Parthasarath
f:amll Khatri Vishakha N. Desai y
artner Vikram Singh Mehta Narayan Shankar

Membership No : 102527

TN M h
Mumbai, 29*" May, 2018 anoharan
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Executive Chairman
Managing Director
Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO
Company Secretary
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2018

1. General information

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited (‘the Company') is a limited company incorporated in India. The address of its registered office and principal
activities of the Company are disclosed in the introduction to the Annual Report.

The Ordinary (Equity) shares of the Company are listed on the National Stock Exchange (“NSE"), the Bombay Stock Exchange (“BSE") in India.
The Global Depository Receipts (GDRs) (underlying equity shares) of the Company are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and also
admitted for trading on International Order Book (I0B) of London Stock Exchange.

a)

b)

9]

d)

Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation and presentation

These consolidated financial statements of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’ or ‘Mahindra Group’)
have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015
as amended and notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the 'Act') and other relevant provisions of the Act.

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 29t May, 2018.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. Subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis from the date the control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for business combinations by the Group. Changes in the Group's interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Company's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. These financial statements are
prepared by applying uniform accounting policies in use at the Group.

Associates

Associates are the entities over which the Group has significant influence. Investment in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.

Joint Arrangements

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have the rights to the net assets
of the arrangement. The results, assets and liabilities of a joint venture are accounted using the equity method of accounting. Where the
Group's activities are conducted through joint operations (i.e. the parties have rights to the assets and obligation for liabilities relating
to the arrangement), the Group recognises its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses of such joint operations incurred jointly
along with its share of income from the sale of output.

Measurement of fair values

A number of Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial
assets and liabilities. The Group has established policies and procedures with respect to the measurement of fair values.

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:
- Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited  =4sie]



e) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions,
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses at the date of
these financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the years presented. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised and future periods affected.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty at the date of financial statements, which may cause a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, is in respect of useful lives of property, plant and equipment, other
intangible assets, provision for product warranty, fair value of financial assets/liabilities and impairment of investments and goodwill.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets

The Group reviews the useful life of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets at the end of each reporting period.
This re-assessment may result in change in depreciation and amortisation expense in future periods.

Provision for product warranties

The Group recognises provision for warranties in respect of the products that it sells. Provisions are discounted, where necessary, to its
present value based on the best estimate required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date. These are reviewed at each balance
sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities and investments

The Group measures certain financial assets and liabilities on fair value basis at each balance sheet date or at the time they are assessed
for impairment. Fair value measurement that are based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) requires estimates of operating
margin, discount rate, future growth rate, terminal values, etc. based on management's best estimate about future developments.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group estimates the value in use of the cash generating unit (CGU) based on the future cash flows after considering current
economic conditions and trends, estimated future operating results and growth rate and anticipated future economic and regulatory
conditions. The estimated cash flows are developed using internal forecasts. The discount rate used for the CGUs represent the weighted
average cost of capital based on historical market returns of comparable companies.

f)  Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost of acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation less accumulated
impairment, if any.

Cost includes financing cost relating to borrowed funds attributable to the construction or acquisition of qualifying tangible assets upto
the date the assets are ready for use.

Depreciation is provided on straight-line basis for property, plant and equipment so as to expense the depreciable amount, i.e. the cost
less estimated residual value, over its estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and
the effect of any changes in estimate is accounted for on a prospective basis.

When an asset is scrapped or otherwise disposed off, the cost and related depreciation are removed from the books of account and
resultant profit or loss, if any, is reflected in profit or loss.

The management's estimate of useful lives are in accordance with Schedule Il to the Companies Act, 2013, other than the following asset
classes, based on the Group's expected usage pattern supported by technical assessment:

Asset Class Useful lives
i) Plant and equipment 2-25 years
ii)  Buildings, including roads 3-60 years
iii)  Vehicles 2-10 years

Annual Report 2017-18
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9)

h)

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is initially recognised as the excess of consideration paid and acquirer's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable net
assets of acquired business. Subsequent to initial measurement, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment, if any.
Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit which is expected to benefit from the business combination.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost except those acquired in a business combination on or after the transition date in which
case it is recognised at their acquisition date fair value.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets other than goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment, if any. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed
annually to determine whether indefinite-life assessment continues to be supportable. Intangible assets with definite useful lives are
amortised on a straight line basis so as to reflect the pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed.

Intangible assets under development

The Group expenses costs incurred during research phase to profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred. Development phase
expenses are initially recognised as intangible assets under development until the development phase is complete, upon which the
amount is capitalised as intangible asset.

Intangible assets acquired under business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value
on the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Other intangible assets
Technical Knowhow

The expenditure incurred is amortised over the estimated period of benefit, not exceeding six years commencing with the year of
purchase of the technology.

Development Expenditure

The expenditure incurred on technical services and other project/product related expenses are amortised over the estimated period of
benefit, not exceeding five years.

Brand license fee

The expenditure incurred is amortised over the period of relevant licence fee or the estimated period of benefit, whichever is lower.
Software Expenditure

The expenditure incurred is amortised over three financial years equally commencing from the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

Others
The expenditure incurred is amortised over the estimated period of benefit.

The amortisation period for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed annually and changes in expected useful lives are
treated as changes in estimates.

Impairment of Assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of the value in use or fair value less cost to sell, of the asset or cash-generating unit, as the case may be, is estimated and
impairment loss (if any) is recognised and the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or a cash-generating unit is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) earlier. Impairment loss recognised in
profit or loss are presented as part of 'other expenses'.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
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Inventories

Inventories comprise all costs of purchase, conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Raw materials and bought out components are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on the basis of
the weighted average method.

Finished goods produced and purchased for sale, manufactured components and work-in-progress are carried at cost or net realisable
value whichever is lower. Excise duty is included in the value of finished goods inventory.

Stores, spares and tools other than obsolete and slow moving items are carried at cost. Obsolete and slow moving items are valued at
cost or estimated net realisable value, whichever is lower.

Foreign exchange transactions and translation

The functional currency of the Company and its Indian subsidiaries is Indian Rupees whereas the functional currency of foreign subsidiaries
is the currency of their countries of domicile.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency using exchange
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are measured at the
rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise except for exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (refer policy on Derivative
Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting).

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations
are translated into Indian Rupees using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (and attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposal (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences
is reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their
respective classification.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at -

- Amortised cost; or

- Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) — debt investment; or

- Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) - equity investment; or

- Fair Value through Profit or Loss
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The classification of debt instrument as amortised cost or FVTOCI is based on the business model and cash flow chartcteristics of such
instrument.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.

All financial asset not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial
assets unless designated as effective hedge instruments which are accounted as per hedge accounting requirements discussed below.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest method. The amortised cost is
reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain and loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Debt investment at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income under effective interest method, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition,
gains and losses accumulated in OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

For equity investments, the Group makes an election on an instrument-by-instrument basis to designate equity investments as measured
at FVTOCI. These elected investments are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the reserves. The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the investments. These investments in equity are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium or long-term strategic
purpose. Upon the application of Ind AS 109, the Group has chosen to designate these investments as at FVTOCI as the Group believes
that this provides a more meaningful presentation for medium or long-term strategic investments, than reflecting changes in fair value
immediately in profit or loss. Dividend income received on such equity investments are recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments that are not designated as measured at FVTOCI are designated as measured at FVTPL and subsequent changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group is recognised at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as
held-for-trading or it is a derivative (that does not meet hedge accounting requirements) or it is designated as such on initial recognition.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Compound instruments

An issued financial instrument that comprises of both the liability and equity components are accounted as compound financial
instruments. The fair value of the liability component is separated from the compound instrument and the residual value is recognised
as equity component of other financial instrument. The liability component is subsequently measured at amortised cost, whereas the
equity component is not remeasured after initial recognition. The transaction costs related to compound instruments are allocated to
the liability and equity components in the proportion to the allocation of gross proceeds. Transaction costs related to equity component
is recognised directly in equity and the cost related to liability component is included in the carrying amount of the liability component
and amortised using effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the
rights to receive the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for the amount it may have to pay.
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If the Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but retains either all or substantially all
of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not derecognised and the proceeds received are recognised
as a collateralised borrowing.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated
as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

¢ the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109; and

e the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the
principles of Ind AS 18.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments, primarily foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps, to manage
its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks. Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not financial
assets within the scope of Ind AS 109 are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and economic characteristics are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature
of the hedging relationship and the nature of the hedged item.

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives in respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value
hedges or cash flow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged
item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the
inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

Changes in fair value of the designated portion of derivatives that qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in profit or loss immediately,
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated under hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity relating to (effective portion as described
above) are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the statement of profit and loss. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the expected credit loss (ECL) model for recognising impairment loss on financial assets. With respect to trade
receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For all other financial
instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on
the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures
the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition. 12 month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date.
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Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. For debt
securities at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCI.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are inclusive of excise
duty and net of customer returns, trade allowance, rebates, value added taxes and amount collected on behalf of third parties.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when all the following conditions are satisfied:

a) the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

b) the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control
over the goods sold;

¢) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
e) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably

Sale of services

Sale of services are recognised on rendering of such services.

Dividend and interest income

Dividend from investments are recognised in profit or loss when the right to receive payment is established.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.
Income from financing business

Interest income and expense related to financing business of the Group are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest
method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the amortised cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than credit-impaired assets, the Group estimates future cash
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not expected credit losses. For credit-impaired financial assets,
a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including expected credit losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees paid or received that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or
financial liability.

Long term construction contracts and property development activity

Income from real estate sales is recognised on the transfer of all significant risks and rewards of ownership to the buyers and it is not
unreasonable to expect ultimate collection and no significant uncertainty exists regarding the amount of consideration. However if, at
the time of transfer substantial acts are yet to be performed under the contract, revenue is recognised on proportionate basis as the
acts are performed, i.e. on the percentage of completion basis.

When the outcome of the construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting periods, measured based on the proportion of the contract costs incurred
for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage
of completion. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be measured
reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
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When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as
amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as the amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts received
before the related work is performed are included in the balance sheet, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated balance sheet under trade receivables, whereas amount
not billed for work performed are included under other current assets.

Further, in accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Real Estate Transactions (for entities to whom Ind AS is applicable)
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, revenues from real estate projects are recognised only when:

i. all critical approvals necessary for commencement of the project have been obtained,

ii. the actual construction and development cost incurred is at least 25% of the total construction and development cost (without
considering land cost),

iii. when at least 10% of the sales consideration is realised, and

iv. where 25% of the total saleable area of the project is secured by contracts of agreement with buyers.

Revenue from sale of land and other rights are considered upon transfer of all significant risks and rewards of ownership of such real
estate/property as per the terms of the contract entered into with the buyers, which generally with the firmity of the sale contracts/
agreements.

Project management fees receivable on fixed period contracts is accounted over the tenure of the contract/agreement. Where the fee
is linked to the input costs, revenue is recognised as a proportion of the work completed based on progress claims submitted.
Where the management fee is linked to the revenue generation from the project, revenue is recognised on the percentage of
completion basis.

Vacation Ownership

The activity of selling vacation ownership and providing holiday facilities to members is for a specified period each year, over a
number of years, for which membership fee is collected either in full up front, or on a deferred payment basis. Admission fee, which is
non-refundable, is recognized as income on admission of a member to the extent there is no significant uncertainty as to its collectability
at inception. Entitlement fee, which entitles the members the vacation ownership facilities over the agreed membership period, is
recognized as income equally over the tenure of membership (33 years / 25 years / 10 years or any other tenure applicable to the
respective member), commencing from the year of admission of each member. Entitlement fees which will be recognised in future
periods are disclosed under Other Liabilities — Deferred Income.

Annual subscription fee dues from members are recognized as income on accrual basis and fees pertaining to the period beyond the
date of the balance sheet is recognised as Deferred Income. Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time proportionate basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the agreed rates. Income of resorts from room rentals, food and beverages, etc. is
recognized when services are rendered.

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group. Revenue
with respect to instalments/contracts where there is an uncertainty about collectability is deferred (even though the membership is
not cancelled). The estimation of such revenues doubtful of recovery has been made by the Group based on past trends of year-wise
cancellation of memberships and considering factors impacting future trends.

Revenue from sale of vacation ownership weeks is recognised when related right to use the specific property over the specific week(s)
is transferred to the buyer for a consideration, which coincides with transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership.

Income from sale of vacation ownership weeks in villas is recognized when the outcome of a villa project can be estimated reliably.
Project revenue and contract costs associated with the contract are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the
percentage of completion of the project activity at the reporting date.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense in profit
or loss in the period in which such probability occurs.
Government Grants

The Group, directly or indirectly through a consortium of group companies, is entitled to various incentives from government authorities in
respect of manufacturing units located in developing regions. The Group accounts for its entitlement as income on accrual basis.

The benefit of a government loan at a below market-rate of interest is treated as government grant and is measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates at the inception of the loan.
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Employee Benefits
Superannuation Fund, ESIC and Labour Welfare Fund

The Group's contribution paid / payable during the year to Superannuation Fund, ESIC and Labour Welfare Fund are recognised in profit
or loss.

Provident Fund

Contributions to Provident Fund are made to Trusts administered by the Group/Regional Provident Fund Commissioners and are charged
to profit or loss as incurred. The Group is liable for the contribution and any shortfall in interest between the amount of interest
realised by the investments and the interest payable to members at the rate declared by the Government of India in respect of the Trust
administered by the Group companies.

Long term Compensated Absences
The liability towards long term compensated absences are determined by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
Gratuity, post retirement medical benefit and post retirement housing allowance schemes

The liability towards gratuity, post retirement medical benefit and post retirement housing allowance schemes are determined by
independent actuaries, using the projected unit credit method. Past services are recognised at the earlier of the plan amendment/
curtailment and the recognition of related restructuring costs/termination benefits.

The obligation on long term compensated absences and other defined benefit plan are measured at the present value of estimated
future cash flows using a discount rate that is determined by reference to the market yields at the balance sheet date on government
bonds (high quality corporate bonds in case of foreign companies) where the currency and terms of the government bonds are consistent
with the currency and estimated terms of the defined benefit obligation.

Remeasurement gains/losses

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans, comprising of actuarial gains or losses, return on plan assets excluding interest income are
recognised immediately in balance sheet with corresponding debit or credit to other comprehensive income. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent period.

Remeasurement gains or losses on long term compensated absences that are classified as other long term benefits are recognised in
profit or loss.

Share based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity.

Share appreciation rights which are cash settled share-based payments are recognised as employee benefit expense over the relevant
service period. The liabilities are remeasured to fair value at each reporting date.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Interest income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Income taxes

Current tax

Current tax is determined as the amount of tax payable in respect of taxable income for the year. The Group’s current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying values
of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences could be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill. Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid in accordance with the tax laws, which gives future economic
benefits in the form of adjustment to future income tax liability, is considered as an asset if there is convincing evidence that the Group
will pay normal income tax against which the MAT paid will be adjusted. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When provision is measured using the cash flow
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of these cash flows (when the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations are recognised at the time of sale of the relevant products, at the best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the Group's obligation.

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date. At the end of
the subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with Ind AS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities and the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with Ind AS 18 — Revenue.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Certain arrangements convey a right to use an asset in return for a payment or series of payments. At inception of the arrangement,
the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease and separates the consideration into those for the lease and
those for other elements. The lease component is accounted as per Group's accounting policy on leasing transactions.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the leases.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is generally recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Where the
rentals are structured solely to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the Group’s expected inflationary
cost increases, such increases are recognised in the year in which such benefits accrue. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower,
at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated balance
sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group's
general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Rental expense from operating leases is generally recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Where the
rentals are structured solely to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost
increases, such increases are recognised in the year in which such benefits accrue.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for its business combinations under acquisition method of accounting. The acquiree's identifiable assets including
goodwill, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the condition for recognition are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is recognised as goodwill. Any shortfall is treated as a bargain purchase and
recognised as capital reserve.

Before recognising gain in respect thereof, the Group determines whether there exists clear evidence of underlying reasons for classifying
the business combination as a bargain purchase. Thereafter, the Group reassesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets
acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and recognises any additional asset or liabilities that are identified in that reassessment.
The Group then reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts that Ind AS requires for the purposes of calculating the bargain
purchase. If the gain remains after this reassessment and review, the Group recognises it directly in equity as capital reserve.

The interest in non-controlling interest is initially measured at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition by acquisition basis. Subsequent to initial acquisition, the carrying
amount of non-controlling interest is the amount of those interest in initial recognition plus the non-controlling interest's share of
subsequent changes in equity of subsidiaries.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting in a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as a part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments, are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill or capital reserve
as the case may be.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
Group reports provisional amount for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amount are adjusted during
the measurement period (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amount recognised at that date.

In consolidated financial statements, acquisition of non-controlling interest is accounted as equity transaction. The carrying amount of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Business Combination under common control are accounted as per Appendix C in Ind AS 103 - Business combinations, at carrying amount
of assets and liabilities acquired and any excess of consideration issued over the net assets acquired is recognised as capital reserve on
common control business combination.

Acquisition of interest in associate and joint ventures

Acquisition of interest in an associate or a joint venture, is initially recognised at cost. Any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is regarded as goodwill, which is included in the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised in equity as capital reserve in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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3. Recent accounting pronouncements
Standards issued but not yet effective:

In March 2018, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) (Amendments) Rules, 2018, notifying
Ind AS 115 - 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and consequential amendments to various Ind AS standards. The amended Rules also
notified amendments to Ind AS 12 - ‘Income Taxes', Ind AS 21 - ‘The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’, Ind AS 28 - ‘Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures’ and Ind AS 40 - ‘Investment Property’. These amendments are in accordance with the recent amendments
made by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The amendments are effective from accounting periods beginning from
15t April, 2018.

Ind AS 115 - 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers':

This standard establishes a single comprehensive model for accounting of revenue arising from contracts with customers. Ind AS 115 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance under Ind AS 11 Construction Contracts and Ind AS 18 Revenue. The Company is currently
assessing the impact of application of Ind AS 115 on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ind AS 12 - ‘Income Taxes':

The amendments clarify the requirement for recognising deferred tax assets on unrealised losses on debt instruments that are measured at
fair value. The amendments also clarify certain other aspects of accounting for deferred tax assets. The changes will not have any material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

Amendments to Ind AS 21 - ‘The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’:

The amendments clarify translation of advance payments denominated in foreign currency into functional currency at the spot rate on
the day of payment. The guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice. The changes will not have any material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company.

Amendments to Ind AS 28 - ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures':

The amendments clarify accounting options in consolidated financial statements of a venture capital or similar entity and investment entity.
These amendments are not applicable to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ind AS 40 - ‘Investment Property':

The amendments clarify transfers of investment property to or from the portfolio in the case of a change of use. These amendments are not
applicable to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ind AS 112 - ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’:

The amendments clarify that disclosure requirements for interest in other entities also apply to interests that are classified (or included
in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale or as discontinued operations in accordance with Ind AS 105, Non-current Assets held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations. The changes will not have any material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
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The above carrying amounts of Property, Plant and Equipment includes following assets given on operating lease :

Rupees crores

Land - Buildings -
Description of Assets Freehold Freehold Batteries Vehicles Total
As at 31°t March, 2018
COST ettt — 21.99 19.87 0.77 42.63
Accumulated depreciation and impairment............ — (6.33) (7.92) (0.01) (14.26)
Net carrying amount........cocooverveineinnienseneeenne — 15.66 11.95 0.76 28.37
As at 31%t March, 2017
COST ettt 0.44 22.24 19.87 — 42.55
Accumulated depreciation and impairment............ — (5.32) (5.00) — (10.32)
Net carrying amount..........cooeccercennnnercscecneeeens 0.44 16.92 14.87 — 32.23
5.  Goodwill :
Rupees crores
2018 2017
Balance at the beginning of the Year ... s 558.61 542.17
Additions dUMNG the YA c.ccieececr ettt a et b a e nn e 1,593.96 23.76
EXCNANGE IffEIENCES ....vviiceceetetete ettt ettt sn st b s 7.10 (7.32)
Balance at the end of the YEar ... 2,159.67 558.61

Segmentwise allocation of Goodwill

Goodwill is monitored by the management at the level of operating segments as described in Note 37. The carrying amount of goodwill has
been allocated to segments as below.

Rupees crores

2018 2017
AUTOMOTIVE ..ttt b bbbt bbb E b bt e bbbt b bbbttt bt 54.79 77.43
FArM EQUIPIMENT ...ttt s et eaenene 167.67 128.92
FINANCIAT SEIVICES -..eettee ettt a e e st e e bbb et e se e e ae et et esee e enennannas 1.34 1.34
=T 1 13 - OO TSRS 103.59 103.59
Lo ToT o1 114U PSRRI 110.87 81.20
TUWO-WHEEIEIS ...ttt bbb bbbttt st 107.85 103.94
L0 0 T=T OO OSSOSO T OSSR PEPTPTPTTTPRTTN 1,613.56 62.19
Lo OO 2,159.67 558.61

'Others' segment include goodwill of Rs. 1,526.78 crores recognised during the year on gain of control in Mahindra Logistics Limited
(Refer note 34).
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6. Other Intangible assets :
Rupees crores
Development Computer | Brand License

Expenditure Software | & Trademarks Others Total
CcosT
Balance as at 15t APril, 2016.......ccoeerereeercrcerrrererereseseeesnseseseenss 2,723.87 490.47 31.61 138.34 3,384.29
Additions 525.01 83.37 132.83 4.10 745.31
Acquisitions through business combinations ..........cc.ccceeeeeeeunne 4.72 14.93 — 42.62 62.27
Foreign exchange translation differences.......c.ccccovniecurenninenes (3.60) (2.82) (1.05) (3.55) (11.02)
Deductions (57.33) (23.81) — (5.07) (86.21)
Balance as at 315t March, 2017........ccovenennnnnnesnenssssssnssseseenes 3,192.67 562.14 163.39 176.44 4,094.64
Balance as at 1t April, 2017 3,192.67 562.14 163.39 176.44 4,094.64
Additions 1,643.47 82.54 2.51 59.28 1,787.80
Acquisitions through business combinations ...........c.ccceeeeveeunne 12.33 2.93 — 183.96 199.22
Foreign exchange translation differences.......c.c.cccocovieerucinnenenee 48.23 12.54 3.01 4.73 68.51
Deductions (9.19) (9.34) — (3.62) (22.15)
Other Adjustments - - - (27.08) (27.08)
Balance as at 315t March, 2018 .............ocoeirinnnnnccceeeerenes 4,887.51 650.81 168.91 393.71 6,100.94
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
Balance as at 15t April, 2016..........c.ccovrneeeicenrreceeee e 852.08 370.33 9.20 114.90 1,346.51
Amortisation expense for the Year........ccoveveenncenienneens 563.74 86.17 8.29 8.70 666.90
Foreign exchange translation differences.......c.c.cccocoevieerurennenenes (2.66) (1.96) (0.16) (0.43) (5.21)
Deductions (57.33) (22.93) — (4.56) (84.82)
Impairment losses recognised in profit or l0ss.......c.cccccoeueurerenenee 47.83 — — — 47.83
Balance as at 315t March, 2017..........ccoovniinnnrnnceeeeerene 1,403.66 431.61 17.33 118.61 1,971.21
Balance as at 15t April, 2017 ........ccooeevevivrreeeer s 1,403.66 431.61 17.33 118.61 1,971.21
Amortisation expense for the year.........ccoveeveienssiseneseenenns 778.80 76.13 9.26 19.05 883.24
Foreign exchange translation differences 35.90 25.21 1.1 0.73 62.95
Deductions (8.86) (9.32) — (0.02) (18.20)
Balance as at 315t March, 2018 ...........cccovvernnennceneeeeenees 2,209.50 523.63 27.70 138.37 2,899.20
NET CARRYING AMOUNT
Net carrying amount as at 315t March, 2017 ........ccooveerurirnnenee 1,789.01 130.53 146.06 57.83 2,123.43
Net carrying amount as at 315t March, 2018...............cccccoeuvrnenee 2,678.01 127.18 141.21 255.34 3,201.74
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7.

Investments

A. Non-Current Investments

Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
a) Measured as per equity accounting method
Quoted
Investments in Equity Instruments
oY B X3 Yo e I= | (=L J TSR 6,878.46 6,496.26
TORAL ettt b et b R b b e s eRe et Re et e e b e ae et eReebeRe et ebe e ae e re e teneane 6,878.46 6,496.26
Unquoted
Investments in EQUity INSTrUMENTS........c.cu i
- of Associates * ....... 1,403.89 1,163.13
- of Joint ventures *. 1,139.10 1,136.15
TORAL ettt b e bt e e be et Ae e b e e b e ae et e ReebeRe et ebe e ae e be e teneaee 2,542.99 2,299.28
Investments measured as per equity accounting method (@) .........ccccoeoeevenicenencnnccneieneenenns 9,421.45 8,795.54
b) Measured at Amortised Cost
Quoted
Investments in Non-Convertible debentures or bonds ... 62.00 89.75
Investments in GOVErNMENT SECUNTIES ....cvviiuieieecee et 709.45 708.90
Lo | TSR TRPRS 771.45 798.65
Unquoted
Investments in Preference Shares
— OF ASSOCIATES™ ...ttt sttt ettt et ebe e be et e e b e ne et e et ebe e ebe e ae e be e teneane 2.61 0.68
- of Joint ventures*.. 8.08 5.00
— Of Other @NLIIES ... s 10.15 10.13
Investments in Non Convertible Debentures/Bonds
— OF JOINT VENTUIES™ ...ttt b e bbbt be bt se et e e be et eneebeneane 367.82 282.86
- of Other entities.... 0.04 0.41
TORAL e b e e a R e A et e e b e et e e b eRe e e b e s ae e re e teneaee 388.70 299.08
Total Investments measured at Amortised Cost (b) ..........ccooeveveiviiirccse e 1,160.15 1,097.73
¢) Measured at FVTOCI
Quoted
Investments in EQUItY INStrUMENTS........c.cuiiirriicceii e 6.89 5.38
o] OO STRPRS 6.89 5.38
Unquoted
Investments in EQUity INStrUMENTS........coiiiiiicreee e 63.10 48.62
<] 7 OO 63.10 48.62
Total Investments measured at FYTOC (€) ......cccoeiiiiieiiiiecee et s st snssens 69.99 54.00
d) Measured at FVTPL
Quoted
INVESTMENTS IN MUTUAT FUNDS ..ottt be b ne 5.01 4.00
TORAL o b e a Rt oA et e e be et e e b eRe e e b e e ae e re e teneaee 5.01 4.00
Unquoted
Investments in Alternate INVeStMeNnt FUNd............ceoeueeiiieieicecceceeee et 2.31 2.21
Investments in Others :
Investments in EQUItY INSTIUMENTS........cciiiiriieieece e 8.63 8.29
TOTAD ettt ettt et ae e e he e aeebeebe et et e benee e et et eaeeaeeaeebeeteetesteetetentan 10.94 10.50
Total Investments measured at FVTPL (d)........cccccooiiiiiiiiiiiciceseeeeceeeereee ettt s 15.95 14.50
Total Investments measured at Fair Value (C+d)........cccoovviiiiiiececeeceeeeeeeeee e 85.94 68.50
Total carrying amount of investments (a)+(b)+(C)+(d)......cccovrrriinerrrrceee e 10,667.54 9,961.77
The above Non-Current investments have been presented in the Balance Sheet as below:
Investments accounted using Equity Method.........ccoviiiiininnccce e 9,421.45 8,795.54
FiNancial ASSETSs — INVESTMENTS........ciiiiriiieececeee ettt ettt ebeebe b etesbesbenennan 1,246.09 1,166.23
Other disclosures :
(i) Aggregate amount of quoted iNvestments (Gross)..........coururerereresssssssssseresesessssssssssseseseseas 7,661.81 7,304.29
Market Value of quoted iNVESTMENT .........ccccceeerirrnsiccseresnrss s e seesnean 21,635.36 16,612.84
(ii) Aggregate amount of unquoted INVEStMENTS (GrOSS).......cverererercceresrmrerereseseessssssseseseseas 3,005.73 2,657.48

* Refer Note 36
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B. Current Investments :
Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
(a) Measured at Amortised Cost
Quoted
Investments in Non Convertible Debentures or BONAS .........cccvvvrieniieninninisseecsesessses e seseseesens 102.75 77.75
Total 102.75 7175
Unquoted
Investments in Certificate Of DEPOSILS ....cvvirreiueirieeiree bbb 0.32 1.20
Investments in COrporate FiXed DEPOSItS.....cvvrreerirriririnieeererese s sse s ss st sasansns 400.00 200.00
Investments in COMMEICIAl PAPEN.......ccuirieerereeteee ettt s e et a e e e ennns 300.51 208.58
TORAL. . R b ettt 700.83 409.78
Total Investments measured at Amortised COSt (@).......cccvururririirerininririneneee s 803.58 487.53
(b) Measured at FVTOCI
Quoted
Investments in EQUItY INSTIUMENTS........ciiiiiiicc e 0.01 0.01
INVestMeENts iN DEDENTUIES / BONGS .......oiuieeeeiicece ettt b s s b st st sbe et et s e s 147.13 20.25
Investments in GOVErNMENT SECUITIES ....cvvvreeeeeeeere e nannens — 1.93
o | TSRS 14714 22.19
Unquoted
Investments in EQUItY INStrUMENTS........coiiiriiicce e 0.09 —
Investments in DEDENTUIEs / BONGS ......c.ccciiiiirieieeiierirse st — 210.83
Investments in Certificate Of DEPOSITS ...iviirrireeeeererir ettt nns 641.24 698.21
Investments in Commercial paper 93.99 199.74
Lo OO 735.32 1,108.78
Total Investments measured at FVTOCI (D) ......c.oooiiiiiiiiiee e 882.46 1,130.97
(c) Measured at FVTPL
Quoted
Investments in debentures or BONAS..........ccv e 105.67 —
INVeStMENtS iN MUTUGI FUNGAS ........oouieeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt e ae bbbt n s 3,558.36 3,082.17
Total Investments measured at FUTPL (€) ......c.coeiiiiiiiiiiecececeete et sttt 3,664.03 3,082.17
Total Investments measured at Fair Value (D+)........cocoeieiiiiieiceeceeeee e 4,546.49 4,213.14
Total carrying amount of investments (2)+(D)+(C) ...covrururrrniiireee e 5,350.07 4,700.67
Other disclosures :
Aggregate amount of quOted INVESTMENTS............c.cocccuriieeiniencee s 3,913.92 3,182.11
Market value of quoted INVESTMENTS..............ccoueriircr e 3,913.92 3,182.11
Aggregate amount of UNqUOted INVESTMENTS ............ccoceuriiiririieire s 1,436.15 1,518.56
8. Trade Receivables :
Rupees crores
Particulars Non-Current Current
2018 2017 2018 2017
Secured, considered good........coccrrrrrnierurierenreseee e 10.16 10.79 641.18 515.06
Unsecured, considered good........ocucueirrnnensneneninesessessesenees 503.68 565.80 7,848.64 6,684.20
DOUDTTUL ..t 1.42 0.91 182.00 204.14
515.26 577.50 8,671.82 7,403.40
Less: Allowance for Expected Credit LOSSES.......cccuvvererreeeeierinenns 1.42 0.91 182.00 204.14
TORAL ... 513.84 576.59 8,489.82 7,199.26

Refer Note 33 for disclosures related to credit risk, impairment of trade receivables under expected credit loss model and related disclosures.
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10.

Loans
Rupees crores
Non-Current Current
Particulars
2018 2017 2018 2017
a) Security Deposits
- Unsecured, considered good..........covrirriiinnnininieceeneresesee e 275.55 219.05 110.73 131.98
R 2 1o 1V o) {1 TR 0.53 0.54 0.26 0.04
276.08 219.59 110.99 132.02
Less: Allowance for doubtful Security Deposits........cccovereeeeueurerererenenennns 0.53 0.54 0.26 0.04
L1 1 1 ) TR 275.55 219.05 110.73 131.98
b) Loans to related parties
Unsecured, considered good.........cccoeererrrneceeneneresesesee e seseeenenas 46.32 32.96 76.44 16.25
[ Lo TV 1 & (V| O 10.00 10.00 — —
56.32 42.96 76.44 16.25
Less: Allowance for doubtful 10ans.......cccecveviieecceceece e 10.00 10.00 — —
TOUAL (D) v 46.32 32.96 76.44 16.25
c¢) Other Loans
Secured, conSidered goOod.......ccoireeiirnirinee et 1.98 — 21.36 16.35
Unsecured, considered good ... seseenenenas 197.58 179.10 455.56 193.96
D ToTU] o1 & (U OO 71.54 6.16 15.14 19.63
207.10 185.26 492.06 229.94
Less: Allowance for doubtful [0ans........cccccvveieeicccccece e 7.54 6.16 15.14 19.63
TORAL (€) v bbb e 199.56 179.10 476.92 210.31
d) Financial Services receivable #
Secured, considered good.. ... s 31,190.56 25,360.32 20,618.12 17,534.33
Unsecured, considered good.........c.occeeurrrnenenreeeene s 28.64 0.16 1,748.04 1,286.32
DOUDBTTUL ettt bbb enis 1,412.97 1,030.53 3,278.75 2,958.67
32,632.17 26,391.01 25,644.91 21,779.32
Less: Allowance for doubtful 10aNs .........cccceeueveieeeciccerecccece s 1,739.17 1,628.58 1,583.54 1,439.38
] 1 (¢ ) TR 30,893.00 24,762.43 24,061.37 20,339.94
Total (a)+(b)+(c)+(d) 31,414.43 25,193.54 24,725.46 20,698.48

# Refer Note 33 for disclosures related to credit risk, impairment of trade receivables under expected credit loss model and related disclosures.

Other Financial Assets

Rupees crores

. Non-Current Current
Particulars
2018 2017 2018 2017

Financial assets at amortised cost :
BaNK DEPOSIT......cecereicieretieiereccicie sttt 86.04 168.06 = —
SECUNTY DEPOSIT....eiueitieereiccieie ettt 35.29 39.19 26.73 —
Interest accrued on investment, other loans... — — 245.49 218.43
Government grant receivable ... 153.57 102.38 587.29 515.55
OIS ettt e b e bbbt e bbb e eaeebeeaenreate e — — 383.90 297.59
Financial Assets at Fair value:
Derivative fiNAaNCial @SSELS .......covvveeveereeieeieeeeeee ettt nes 237.53 134.28 12.37 64.37

512.43 443.91 1,255.78 1,095.94
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11. Current Tax and Deferred Tax :
a) Income Tax recognised in profit or loss
Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Current Tax
IN rESPECE OF CUMMENT VAN ...ttt 2,576.38 2,080.79
IN FESPECE OF PriOF YEAIS ....vueveieeeteieiriricce ettt bt s bt s s e seee (12.77) (21.46)
TOTAl CUITENT TAX....cui vttt ettt ettt et s bbb e st e b e e ese e e ebeeaeebeebeebesbesbesbebensensenseneessesesseesenns 2,563.61 2,059.33
Deferred Tax
In respect of current year origination and reversal of temporary differences..........ccccovvvnenennnee 784.92 271.08
Unrecognised tax loss used to reduce deferred taxX EXPENSE ......cccvvvrririrerieeerinernisenee e sesesesieeeeas (980.80) (30.68)
TOTAl DEFEITEA TaAX ...oviiviiiiciicictc ettt bbbt e e b e b e e b e e b e s besbe st et et et et esseneeseesesbeebans (195.88) 240.40
Total INCOME TaX EXPEINSE.......cooiiierieeeieeiirisisie e st e e ss st se e e e se s e e e e e aesesane e e ssnsnsnsan 2,367.73 2,299.73
b) Income Tax recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Current Tax
Remeasurement of defined benefit Plans.........ccieceiiinicccce e — 0.04
Deferred Tax related to items recognised in other comprehensive income during the year:
Effective portion of gains and loss on designated portion of hedging instruments in a cash flow
L9 T=Te o T OO OO SO ST OP PR TTPRPTOTPOTN 7.26 (3.42)
Net change in fair value of investments in debt instruments at FVTOCI.......cccocovevirerrrrrenencnnnnns 0.34 0.42
Net change in fair value of investments in equity shares at FVTOCI .......ccccoevvnnenccrcnnneneneenns 0.73 (0.37)
Remeasurement of defined benefit Plans..........ceencin e 2.73 4.52
TOTAL bbb b b e e bbbt bn 11.06 1.19
Classification of income tax recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
Income taxes related to items that will not be reclassified to profit or 10ss.......cccccevevevverrserrennne 3.46 4.19
Income taxes related to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss 7.60 (3.00)
TOTAL bbb bt f bbb e ettt ae s 11.06 1.19
¢) The reconciliation of estimated income tax expense at tax rate to income tax expense reported in profit or loss is as follows :

Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
PrOFit BEFOI® TaX ....ocuiiuiiiiieiitiiiecti ettt sttt e s esbe b e b s b e ebe s b et a b et e st e s essesesssenesbeareas 10,325.52 6,350.26
ApPlicable INCOME TaX FAte...iiviiriiiirrr e et be e 34.61% 34.61%
EXPECted INCOME TAX EXPENSE c..vuvurereerriseeeeaessesese s sesessssese s sss st sees 3,573.46 2,197.70
Tax effect of adjustments to reconcile expected income tax expense to reported income tax
expense:
Effect of different tax rates in local and foreign tax jurisdictions ........ccccoeerrrerenccscnnseseseeens (49.82) 34.67
Effect of change in tax rates.......... 13.88 4.38
Effect of income exempt from tax (713.71) (38.58)
Effect of expenses/provisions that is non-deductible in determining taxable profit..........c.c........ 198.15 163.22
Effect of concessions (R&D and other alloWanCes)........cccueveeieeeiriceiceeecec e (74.23) (277.02)
Effect of unused tax losses & tax offsets for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised........ 444.40 341.86
Recognition of deferred tax asset on previous year tax l0SSES ........cweeeerrerrereseesennesesesesseens (980.80) (30.68)
Write dOWN Of Deferred taX @SSETS ... ..ottt sbe b e s bt s e s s e s s ssesresra e (5.71) (16.79)
Others (includes current tax pertaining to Prior YEars) ...c.cccvrvreneieninnesisseesesesesesesssssesesesses (37.89) (79.03)
Income tax expense recognised In Profit or 10Ss............coccineninnieince e 2,367.73 2,299.73
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d) Amounts on which deferred tax asset has not been created and related expiry period
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of following items, because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the Company can use the benefit therefrom.
Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
Deductible Temporary differences (N0 eXpiry date).....ccccvvreeeiinrnirneiscre s 485.95 798.86
Unused Tax 10SSeS (FEVENUE IN NATUIE) .....ccveeeeeeieieeeeeereeeeteee et seese e e sesse e ssesesaebesesbeessensesenens 11,110.60 12,177.72
Unused Tax 10sses (Capital iN NATUME).....ccvceeiireririeeeecres sttt ae e snens 739.72 730.20
Unused tax credits 145.54 134.85
TOTAL Rt b e e bt R e et bt e e e et g nne 12,481.81 13,841.63

e) Unused Tax losses - Revenue in nature

Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
Expiry period

UPTO FIVE YIS . euiuiiiirteeeieiee sttt ettt b et £ b e et e e bbb et ee e e bt ene e e e e 7,407.01 7,627.28
MOTE than FIVE YEAIS ...vcvcieuiiiririeie ettt a e bbb et se bbbt nn e a e se e nnnnns 2,274.44 3,627.43
No Expiry Date 1,429.15 923.00
L« <= OO RTTEPRR 11,110.60 12,177.71

f)  Unused Tax losses - Capital in nature

Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
Expiry period

UPTO FIVE YEAIS.......ouiieiiiiieieeicterete ettt e et esesene 729.17 719.06
INO EXPITY DATE... ettt bbbt h et s ke s et m e n e s an e 10.55 11.14
o] | OO OO OO TSRO 739.72 730.20

g) Unused tax credits

Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
Expiry period

LU oo T S YT €T PSR 115.19 108.19
More than Five Years 30.35 26.66
TORAL e b R a oA e e he e h e e b eae b eRe e R eReeaeae st et e e eae e eaeneareneas 145.54 134.85

h) Aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investment in subsidiaries for which deferred tax liability has not been

recognised

Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
UNQISTIDUTEA BAIMINGS ....eeeecieeeieieieee ettt b ettt s e e nnnnenas 5,009.37 6,137.84
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(i) Movement in deferred tax balances
Rupees crores
Year ended 31t March, 2018
Recognised Foreign Acquired
Particulars Opening | in Profit or | Recognised | exchange | in Business Closing
Balance Loss in OCI | translation | Combination Balance
Tax effect of items resulting in taxable temporary differences
Fiscal allowances on property, plant and equipment and
INtaNgible @SSETS......ccoiririrrieceree s 2,023.73 265.65 — 1.37 52.33 2,343.08
Undistributed profit of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 982.84 141.25 — — — 1,124.09
OIS . 35.24 130.50 — (0.83) 36.49 201.40
3,041.81 537.40 — 0.54 88.82 3,668.57
Tax effect of items resulting in deductible temporary
differences
Provision for Employee Benefits........c.cooeerirrnnencncccicinnenenenes 244.06 21.80 2.73 0.58 6.28 275.45
Allowances for Expected Credit LOSS .......coverrereremreeeerereeneneecens 882.40 96.30 — — 5.11 983.81
Carried fOrward TaX LOSSES .......covueirereereierrerereresnnaseeesesesesessssenes 105.14 75.89 — 0.48 2.80 184.31
MAT Credit....ccoveeecerinrerenennns 750.97 594.27 — — 0.34 1,345.58
Unrealised gain on Inter-company transactions (net). 164.92 (16.44) — — — 148.48
(043 T U PRRRRT 13.54 (38.54) 8.33 1.29 0.50 (14.88)
2,161.03 733.28 11.06 2.35 15.03 2,922.75
Net Deferred Tax Asset / (Liabilities) ..........ccoceoveeecerircicirnnnne (880.78) 195.88 11.06 1.81 (73.79) (745.82)
Rupees crores
For the Year ended 31t March, 2017
Recognised Foreign Acquired
Particulars Opening | in Profit or | Recognised exchange | in Business Closing
Balance Loss in OCI | translation | Combination Balance
Tax effect of items resulting in taxable temporary
differences
Fiscal allowances on property, plant and equipment and
INtANGIDIE ASSETS....cuiuiuririririceree s 1,770.64 249.56 — — 3.53 2,023.73
Undistributed profit of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 827.27 155.57 — — — 982.84
(O 14 V=T &R 7.79 23.79 (0.05) 1.81 1.90 35.24
2,605.70 428.92 (0.05) 1.81 5.43 3,041.81
Tax effect of items resulting in deductible temporary
differences
Provision for Employee Benefits..........coconenierrirnnnncnesncienns 244.96 (8.42) 4.52 — 3.00 244.06
Allowances for Expected Credit LOSS .......cocoereeerereeeereceeeneaennens 744.85 136.28 — — 1.27 882.40
Carried forward TaX LOSSES .......oourururerererereneseneeeneseseseseessanaeens 53.74 51.40 — — — 105.14
MAT Credit. .o 725.84 25.13 — — — 750.97
Unrealised gain on Inter-company transactions...........c.cceneee. 117.72 47.20 — — — 164.92
OIS o 65.65 (63.07) (3.42) — 14.38 13.54
1,952.76 188.52 1.10 — 18.65 2,161.03
Net Deferred Tax Asset / (Liabilities) ........c..ccoeveeiecvcvceenenee. (652.94) (240.40) 1.15 (1.81) 13.22 (880.78)
Balances of Deferred Tax Assets/Deferred Tax Liabilities presented in Balance sheet as below :
Rupees crores
2018 2017
DL L= =T Y XY=L K (1= RS 841.60 906.67
Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) 1,587.42 1,787.45
Net Deferred Tax AsSEt/(LIaDilItIES)......ccciievieeiieeiieeiceei sttt a ettt st e st ae s ebe st ebe e te e ebessereneaes (745.82) (880.78)
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12. Other Assets (Non-Financial)

Rupees crores

Particulars Non-Current Current

2018 2017 2018 2017
CaPital ADVANCES ......ceericeeiererererececie e 695.60 594.47 = —
Balances with government authorities (other than income taxes).. 1,177.66 1,523.96 2,038.51 422.46
OTNEIS ettt b et s be et et e et e e et e se et ene st ebe e be e beneebenn 609.40 498.51 1,269.60 1,130.91
TORAL et b et a e b re e ne et bennetenees 2,482.66 2,616.94 3,308.11 1,553.37

Others include advances to suppliers, prepaid expenses.

13. Inventories

Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
Raw materials and bought-out components

[includes in-transit Rs. 839.73 crores (2017 : RS. 671.69 CrOreS)]......ccveuereeerreieereierieeseeseesese e sessesessesssessens 3,432.83 3,003.85
VVOTK-IN-PIrOGIESS .....eeeececeeueeeererereeeeeee et essae b se e et e s ee e snaeaesesens 569.92 372.39
Work-in-progress-Property development activity and long term contracts .... 1,331.52 1,407.23
Finished products produced..........cccceiirrnnneeinnss s esens 2,627.75 2,782.07
Stock-in-trade [includes in transit Rs. 93.37 crores (2017 : Rs. 60.68 Crores)] ........cccoveeemrereerenneeesesssenesernens 1,014.62 1,025.33
MaNUTACtUrEd COMPONENTS......cviviveieeciririristeeteiee et sttt e seses s s e s e e e s e sesese e e se e et et esese e e sessesenesene e sensnsennsan 159.15 107.84
Y (T LTI TaTo By o XTSRS 130.75 125.51
LOOSE TOOIS....eueeieuieniirisie ettt bbb bbb b b £ bbb e bbbt e b bbb e ettt benan 55.43 50.12
Food, beverages, smokes and Operating SUPPIIES ......ccucurururerirerecurureeireresereseeisiet st nsseaeseea 13.60 11.67
Lo OO 9,335.57 8,886.01

(@) The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was Rs. 75,734.18 crores (2017 : Rs. 72,411.02 crores)

(b) The cost of inventories recognised as an expense include Rs. 86.46 crores (2017 : Rs. 129.70 crores) in respect of write-down of inventory to net
realisable value, and has been reduced by Rs. 22.17 crores (2017 : Rs. 32.13 crores) in respect of the reversal of such write downs.

(c) Certain companies in the Group have availed working capital facilities and other non-fund based facilities viz. bank guarantees and letters of

credit, which are secured by hypothecation of inventories.
(d) Mode of valuation of inventories is stated in Note 2 (i)

14. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Bank Balance
a) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
Balances with banks
O L Tl U T (=1 0} A= Tl e YU € 3,473.79 2,243.35
— ON SAVING @CCOUNTS ..t 0.08 0.06
- Fixed deposits with original maturity less than 3 months.. 763.32 320.65
Cheques, drafts on hand.........ccooeieeninccceseeese 200.81 354.50
(@7 1 1 1o o TN o= o T TR 28.63 27.23
TORAI bR R R R et 4,466.63 2,945.79
b) Bank balances other than Cash and Cash Equivalents

Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Earmarked balances With DaNKS ...t 43.67 23.70
Balances with banks on margin accounts.. 55.89 32.76
Fixed deposits........ccccevurenenee 1,981.41 1,651.78
Total Other Bank DalanCes..............ooee ittt s be b sba b e aersnnans 2,080.97 1,708.24
Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents as per Balance Sheet ... 4,466.63 2,945.79
Less: BANk OVEIAraft ...ttt - 8.30
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents as per Statement of Cashflow ............cccooviniincncnncccecne 4,466.63 2,937.49
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15. Equity Share Capital
Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Authorised :
8,10,00,00,000 (2017 : 1,20,00,00,000) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 €ach ......ccccooeueururnrncncccecirinenenes 4,050.00 600.00
25,00,000 Unclassified Shares of RS. 100 @aCH .......ccccuiiiiiieiieeeesecceeeee st st n e 25.00 25.00
4,075.00 625.00
Issued,Subscribed and Paid-up :
1,24,31,92,544 (2017 : 62,10,92,384) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each fully paid up.......ccccceeeerueuucne 621.60 310.55
Less:
5,32,59,518 (2017 : 2,74,81,857) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each fully paid up issued to
ESOP Trust but not yet allotted t0 @MPIOYEES ..o 26.63 13.74
Less:-
10,36,70,428 (2017 : 5,18,35,214) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each fully paid up issued to M&M
BENETIT TIUST ...ttt ettt b bbb a et et s Rt s s st e s s bt es s e bt an s antesananaas 51.84 25.92
Adjusted Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Share Capital ............ccccovrriiiinnnnner e 543.13 270.89
(a) Reconciliation of number of Ordinary (Equity) Shares and amount outstanding :
Particulars 2018 2017
No. of Shares | Rupees crores |No. of Shares | Rupees crores
Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up :
Balance as at the beginning of the year ... 62,10,92,384 310.55 || 62,10,92,384 310.55
Add :
Shares issued under Schemes of Arrangement..........cocverneeenecenenieeenenns 5,03,888 0.25 — —
Issue of Bonus Shares 62,15,96,272 310.80 — —
Balance as at the end of the year.......ceiviincsnecec e 1,24,31,92,544 621.60 || 62,10,92,384 310.55
Less:
Shares issued to M&M ESOP Trust but not allotted to Employees............ 5,32,59,518 26.63 2,84,58,577 13.74
Shares issued to M&M Benefit TruSt.....c.ccceeeeeeeceeceeecereee e 10,36,70,428 51.84 5,18,35,214 25.92
Adjusted Issued and Subscribed Share Capital..........cccoeerrrniiscscsenenernnns 1,08,62,62,598 543.13 || 54,07,98,593 270.89

(b) The Ordinary (Equity) Shares of the Company rank pari-passu in all respects including voting rights and entitlement to dividend.

% Shareholding

11.38
8.72
8.34

(c) Details of Ordinary (Equity) Shares held by shareholders holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company :
Name of the Shareholder 2018
No. of Shares
Prudential Management and Services Pvt. Ltd.......c.cceoerrnnnncncccecenenenes 14,15,21,940
Life Insurance Corporation of INdia ......cccccceveeveivvininecceneseeseseee s 10,83,68,931
ME&M BENETit TrUST....cveveveererericcecieieirisisese sttt es 10,36,70,428
J. P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (for GDR holders) 7,21,86,492

5.81

2017
No. of Shares |% Shareholding
7,07,60,970 11.39
6,80,51,139 10.96
5,18,35,214 8.35
3,28,79,851 5.29

(d)

For the period of preceding five years as on the balance sheet date, Issued and Subscribed Share Capital includes:

i) Aggregate of 5,03,888 (2017 : 5,917) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each allotted as fully paid-up pursuant to Schemes of

Arrangement without payment having been received in cash.

ii) Aggregate of 62,15,96,272 (2017 : Nil ) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each allotted as fully paid-up by way of bonus shares.

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited
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16. Other Equity
a)

b)

Description of the nature and purpose of Reserves

Capital Reserve
Capital Reserve represents receipt of Government Grants from a package of incentive given by Maharashtra Government for setting up/
extension of Plants in specified areas.

Capital Reserve on Consolidation
Gain on bargain purchase, i.e., excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the fair value of consideration in a business combination
or on acquisition of interest in associate is recognised as Capital Reserve on Consolidation.

Securities Premium Account
The Securities Premium is created on issue of shares

General reserve
The general reserve comprises of transfer of profits from retained earnings for appropriation purposes. The reserve can be distributed/
utilised by the Company in accordance with the Companies Act, 2013.

Debenture Redemption Reserve

Debenture Redemption Reserve is a Statutory Reserve (as per Companies Act, 2013) created out of profits of the Company available for
payment of dividend for the purpose of redemption of Debentures issued by the Company. On completion of redemption, the reserve
is transferred to Retained Earnings.

Employee Stock Options Outstanding Account
The Employee Stock Options Outstanding represents reserve in respect of equity settled share options granted to the Company's
employees in pursuance of the Employee Stock Option Plan.

Statutory reserve
Statutory reserve has been created pursuant to section 45- IC of the RBI Act, 1934 and section 29C of the National Housing Act, 1987.

Details of Dividends proposed

Particulars 2018 2017
Authorised :
Proposed Dividend per eqUIity SHAre (RS.)..iireeerererereeeerereesesesssssesssssesessssssssssssssessssssessssssssssssssesesssssnssens 7.50 13.00

The proposed dividend is subject to applicable Dividend Distribution Tax as per Income Tax Act, 1961.

17. Borrowings

282

A)

Long Term Borrowings

a) Non-Current Borrowings
Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
Secured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :
DEDENTUIES & BONMS ...ttt ettt et be st et et e e e e e eseebeeaeeseeaeeaenseseensennan 12,667.14 12,880.93
Term Loan
L) AT e T T2 FT 01T 13,620.34 9,168.76
LD T 4T 4T gl =TT 73.67 129.49
(014 (=T G oY T T3 UT 80.13 66.82
Unsecured (Carried at Amortised Cost) : A 22,246.00
DEDENTUIES & BONMS ....ocveeeviicteieetee ettt sttt sttt se s be s ebe st eba e ebensebensenenees 4,426.56 3,216.98
Term Loan
(1) FPOM BANKS .ottt ettt sttt se st esessebe st ete s sbe e et ensetenessenessesensnnis 419.32 1,477.76
(1) FrOmM Other PartiEs. ..ot 81.68 78.83
1= oo 1 1 43PPSR 1,600.86 2,173.67
OTNEE LOGNS.....ecviitieieteeeteeetete ettt ettt et e et e s st ebe e e be e s b eseebese s esestebe s ebe st ebensnbeneebensateneeseseesesensnnin 839.48 931.27
7,367.90 7,878.51
33,809.18 30,124.51

Other loans primarily comprise of deferred sales tax loans which are interest free and repayable in five equal installments after ten
years from the year of availment of respective loan.

The borrowings carry varying rate of interest ranging from 0% to 11.75% p.a. and have maturities starting from 2018 and ending
with 2063.

b) Current maturities of Long Term borrowing - Refer Note 19.
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B) Short Term Borrowings
Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Secured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :
(01 LT G (oY= o 1,151.67 1,339.57
Loans repayable on demand
(i)  From Banks and Cash credit @CCOUNT........ccieiiciiicc ettt s n s 2,310.55 2,379.95
(1) FrOmM OthEr PartiEs. . o ettt et e ne e — 5.00
TErmM LOAN FrOM BanKS.....cvcveveieeiiiiesecte sttt b bbb bbb e e bt nne 899.13 2777
4,361.35 3,752.29
Unsecured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :
D =T o To L1 OO TSSO 261.73 250.54
(0143 TY g o - TR 433.85 279.81
Loans repayable on demand
(i) From Banks and Cash credit @CCOUNT........cciiciciicceciee ettt st s e 786.74 505.33
(1) FrOmM Other PArtiEs. .. o e bbb et — 33.10
LOAN TrOM related PArti€S ...coviiierueeereeiieiisirieiete sttt e e s s s se e ae e se e e e e seseseneennens 132.97 442.76
COMMEICIAL PAPEIS ..vviuiiiiiririeieteieisese sttt et ettt e bbb et e bbb e e e e 4,573.09 4,270.75
TErm LOAN FromM BanKS.......cucucieiiiciieicecetsi st ettt a et e e s s penns 775.81 587.07
6,964.19 6,369.36
<< TSR 11,325.54 10,121.65

Secured borrowings are secured by a pari-passu charge on immovable properties of certain entities both present and future, subject to
certain exclusions and are also secured by pari-passu charge on the movable properties of certain entities including inventories, movable
machinery, machinery spares, tools and accessories, both present and future, subject to certain exclusions.

Trade Payables

Rupees crores

Particulars Non-Current Current

2018 2017 2018 2017
X alal=Y o1 = Lol T3S — — 3,998.12 3,361.87
Trade payable - Micro and small enterprises ..........cccoevvrerereeerernrrneseseeenns — — 313.50 221.21
Trade payable - Other than micro and small enterprises ........c.cccoevverereruceene 4.88 4.38 13,975.72 11,213.79
Lo | ORI 4.88 4.38 18,287.34 14,796.87
Other Financial Liabilities

Rupees crores

Particulars Non-Current Current

2018 2017 2018 2017
Carried at Amortised Cost
Current maturities of long-term debt - — 10,763.20 8,515.75
Unclaimed dividends........ccocvieiericireserrecs e — — 19.72 17.48
Unclaimed matured deposits and interest accrued thereon........cccccovevevnneeeee. — — 0.50 0.84
Interest accrued.. 380.05 337.35 1,315.81 1,041.01
L0 43T TR 419.69 411.14 2,042.73 2,123.60
Carried at Fair value
Derivative financial liabilities and gross obligation to acquire non-controlling
1 =T =T OSSO 889.72 644.29 66.47 77.26
<€ R 1,689.46 1,392.78 14,208.43 11,775.94
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20. Provisions

21.

22,

Rupees crores

Particulars Non-Current Current

2018 2017 2018 2017
Provision for employee benefits.........cccovincinirnicnceeree s 2,864.42 2,697.21 491.11 434.15
Provision fOr Warranty ........cccencreenieeseneesessessse s sessesssans 876.55 781.17 672.71 594.02
Provision for service coupon. 39.49 21.57 151.22 113.16
Provision fOr OThErS........cvcnce s 5.22 7.09 80.22 74.58
TOtal ... ———————————— 3,785.68 3,507.04 1,395.26 1,215.91

Provision for warranty relates to warranty provision made in respect of sale of certain products, the estimated cost of which is accrued at the time

of sale.

The products are generally covered under a free warranty period ranging from 6 months to 5 years.

The movement in provision for warranty and service coupon is as follows :

Rupees crores

Particulars Provision for warranty Provision for service coupon

2018 2017 2018 2017
OPENING BalaNCe ......oeiecicicrirr s 1,375.19 1,304.11 134.73 133.46
Additional provisions reCogNised ........cocvveeererireriseneeeenersee s 649.29 590.62 150.61 91.52
Adjustment due to acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries ... 18.14 0.75 — —
AMOUNTS ULITSE ..eeveeieeceie ettt (579.30) (537.59) (98.80) (93.80)
UnNWinding Of diSCOUNT ....c.cviieriieiriei e 23.42 22.19 417 3.55
Foreign exchange translation differences.........cccoovvveeevvsiceccceeeesssesesenns 62.52 (4.89) — —
CloSING BAlANCE ... s 1,549.26 1,375.19 190.71 134.73
B o] B U =T o TSP 876.55 781.17 39.49 21.57
— CUITENTL ettt sttt a e aenae b e s renbeeen 672.71 594.02 151.22 113.16
Other Non-Financial Liabilities

Rupees crores

Particulars Non-Current Current

2018 2017 2018 2017
Advances received from CUSTOMETS .........ccurureririrerecieieieere et seeneaenas 51.44 71.50 844.22 515.48
Deferred INCOME.......ooieeeieeceiee ettt 2,092.67 1,924.98 295.82 250.19
Statutory dues (other than iNCOmMe taXes) ......ccocvvvreiininnnnseesrr s — — 2,143.62 607.59
DTS ot 14.98 2.15 245.20 206.50
Lo R 2,159.09 1,998.63 3,528.86 1,579.76
There are no amounts due and outstanding to be credited to the Investor Education and Protection Fund.
Revenue from Operations

Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
YL e o L1 et 3OO TSP 78,005.02 75,347.51
L 1ET L Y= VAT = TR 5,047.88 3,862.24
Interest income of financial SErvices DUSINESS ........ccccucururrririeceee s 8,353.21 7,319.66
INCOMeE From 10NG TEIM CONTIACTS ....euieieierieiririerer ettt bbbt 535.09 749.43
Lease and rental inCOME .......ccccueurererncnccecninreseee 0.30 0.51
Gross Revenue from sale of products and services 91,941.50 87,279.35
Other operating revenue
— Government grant and INCENTIVES........c.cururrrieeeiet ettt s s bt eees 348.15 622.39
= 5SCrap Sales .....cveereenecrreeereereeeenes 211.03 171.94
- Others......... 764.09 909.35
o] OSSP T O TSTTTRO 93,264.77 88,983.03

The Government of India introduced the Goods and Services Tax (GST) with effect from 1t July 2017. GST is collected on behalf of the
Government and no economic benefit flows to the entity and hence Revenue from Operations under GST regime is presented excluding
GST as per Ind AS 18 ‘Revenue’. However, Revenue from Operations under pre-GST regime included Excise Duty which is now subsumed
in GST. Consequently, the figures for the year ended 31t March 2018 are not comparable with the previous year presented in the above table.
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23. Other Income
Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Interest Income
— On financial assets carried at @mMOrtiSEd COSt.......uruimriiriirreererer e 282.20 298.33
— On financial assets carried at FVTOC ...t eees 50.20 44.91
Dividend Income
— On financial instruments classified @s @QUILY ......ccvirricrnenreeee s — 0.90
— IMIUBUAE FUNGS .ttt 70.59 78.67
Net gains on financial INSTIUMENTS ... 99.43 242.26
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets..........ccoovvreneerrnnnnenccccenenes 11.84 3.52
Other non-operating income (net of directly attributable eXpenses).........coeveeerrecinineeeneenneereeenenee 116.77 61.51
o] - | OO SO oSSR 631.03 730.10
24. Cost of materials consumed
Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
OPENING INVENTOTY ..ttt ettt se bbbt e e b b e e e s b e b e b e e e se e e e e e b b e b e et eeeb e bt ane e e e e 3,003.85 3,174.21
A PUICNASES......eiviceiitiitecte ettt ettt et b st e b st e st et e e eseeseebeebeebesbesbeabesbessansessensesseseeseaseebesbestesbestantens 48,735.83 45,644.53
51,739.68 48,818.74
Add: INVENTOTrY ON @CQUISTTION w.euvuieiriceetrie st 104.10 26.55
51,843.78 48,845.29
LESS: ClOSING INVENTOTY ...ttt sttt bbbttt 3,432.83 3,003.85
Foreign currency translation diffErenCe ..ot 28.91 (36.06)
o] - | OSSOSO OO ST OT TP POTRPPRON 48,439.86 45,805.38
25. Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in-trade
Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Inventories at the beginning of the year:
Finished goods PrOQUCEA ........cccvieiriiiciricirecs et 2,782.07 2,590.83
Lo B o oo T =T3RS 372.39 407.28
Y e Ta T (T 1 Lo =TT 1,025.33 1,145.97
MaNUTACtUred COMPONENTS ......cuvuiirercieiriseieeseiee ettt bbbt 107.84 118.75
4,287.63 4,262.83
Add: Stock on Acquisition / (disposal)
[STaTE gT=Ye e TeToTe L3 o oY [U] ol Yo IO OO 17.85 18.50
Work-in-progress 53.59 11.70
Y eTe T a1 - Yo OO TSRS TRRRROTTTPON — 5.35
71.44 35.55
Less: Inventories at the end of the year:
Finished goods ProdUCET .........ccciiiiceie e 2,627.75 2,782.07
AL o7 G a e o] oo -1 OOV 569.92 372.39
SEOCK-TN-ETAAE. ...t b bbbt 1,014.62 1,025.33
MaNUTACtUred COMPONENTS ......cuiuiiriiieiriseieeseeeires s b ettt 159.15 107.84
4,371.44 4,287.63
Foreign currency translation diffErenCe ... 95.70 (24.58)
Net (increase) / decrease in INVENTOIY ........ ..ot 83.33 (13.83)
Mahindra & Mahindra Limited ~ [2is}s]



26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

Employee Benefits Expense

Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
Salaries and wages, INCIUAING DONUS ...t 8,229.92 7,175.61
Contribution to provident and other funds. 681.99 680.65
Share based payment expenses..........c.cccce... 112.00 170.70
STATT WEITAIrE EXPENSES. ..ottt 980.71 883.67
o] OSSR TTRR 10,004.62 8,910.63
Finance Cost

Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Interest expense on Financial liabilities at amortised COSt.........cuvuvrnrriiiiinnr e 3,879.04 3,555.26
Other borrowing cost 108.05 93.20
o - R 3,987.09 3,648.46
Other borrowing costs mainly include discounting charges and unwinding of discount.
Other Expenses

Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
R (0T =T (o 0 Y [ o T=To TSRS 308.39 288.80
Tools consumed ... 57.09 49.69
o1 G R (U T TR 733.90 657.06
ReNt INCIUAING 1888 TENTAIS ..ottt 672.72 593.51
INSUFaNCe ...oocvvveeverieeeeseeeee 144.55 126.54
Repairs and maintenance...... 792.67 724.93
Advertisement .......ccoovveeeieienerriseeenns 905.06 723.40
Commission ON SAIES / CONTIACES (NE)...covieereeereiiete ettt ettt ee et sebe e b st e e aesesaesessesessese e sreneene 1,783.87 1,614.89
Freight OUTWAIT. ....coiee bbbt b ettt 2,252.22 1,510.36
Sales promotion expenses 1,249.02 1,162.06
Travelling and CONVEYANCE EXPENSES .......cucuevrureririeueieteteteesereseeaese et se et sese s bt s se et ses bbb es s se e seaeseseses 583.71 522.88
L@ Ty o} 0T [T ot OO 648.08 876.81
Subcontracting, hire and service charges...........ccccccveeennns 1,784.03 1,315.07
Provision for expected credit losses including write offs.... 899.16 1,236.90
Donations and contributions ..........ccevvvvveeencnnniseenenn 128.32 137.91
MiSCEIIANEOUS EXPENSES ....vcureerieieeeresesesesesteeeseseesesessssesesesesesessssesesessnssessssesesassnsssssssssesessnsssnsssssesasensssssssnsesanens 3,877.71 3,478.51
(o] - OO ST TOTTSTTTRO 16,820.50 15,019.32

Exceptional Items

Exceptional items of Rs. 2,628.12 crores (2017 : Rs. 447.11 crores) comprise of:

a) Profit on sale of franchise business - Nil (2017 : Rs. 198.83 crores)

b)  Profit on disposal of associates and joint venture Rs. 1,113.45 crores (2017 : Rs. 36.95 crores)

¢)  Profit on change in ownership interest/relationships of subsidiaries, associates & joint venture Rs. 1,514.67 crores (2017 : Rs. 211.33 crores)

Earning Per Share (EPS)

Particulars 2018 2017
Profit for the year for basic and diluted EPS (RUPEES CrOres) .......ccvrerereeucurueenininineeeieiee e 7,510.39 3,698.04
Weighted average number of Ordinary (Equity) Shares used in computing basic EPS.. 1,08,52,46,206 1,08,24,14,159
Effect of dilutive potential Ordinary (EQUItY) SRAres ........oooreernrrrecese e 53,70,700 59,83,232
Weighted average number of Ordinary (Equity) Shares used in computing diluted EPS..........c..ccoeuneeee. 1,09,06,16,906 1,08,83,97,391
Basic Earnings per share (Rs.) (Face value of Rs. 5 Per Share) ........ccoocvreeeureeennnneneeeeeeesereseceeneeeees 69.20 34.16
Diluted EQrnings Per SHAre (RS.) ... ettt s et s 68.86 33.98

On 26" December, 2017, the Company allotted 62,15,96,272 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each as fully paid-up Bonus (Equity) Shares in the
ratio of 1:1 [i.e. 1 (One) fully paid-up Bonus Ordinary (Equity) Share of Rs. 5 each for every 1 (One) fully paid-up Ordinary (Equity) Share of
Rs. 5 each held] to all registered shareholders as on the record date. Consequently, in accordance with Ind AS 33 “Earnings per Share”, the basic
and diluted earnings per share for all the periods presented above have been adjusted to give effect to the aforesaid issue of Bonus Shares.
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31.

Employee Benefits
General description of defined benefit plans:
Gratuity

Some of the group entities operate a gratuity plan covering qualifying employees. The benefit payable is the greater of the amount calculated
as per the Payment of Gratuity Act or the Company scheme applicable to the employee. The benefit vests upon completion of five years of
continuous service and once vested it is payable to employees on retirement or on termination of employment. In case of death while in
service, the gratuity is payable irrespective of vesting. Some entities makes annual contribution to the group gratuity scheme administered
by the Life Insurance Corporation of India through its Gratuity Trust Fund.

A Group company provides certain severance benefit to employees on leaving service. The benefit is payable after one year of service and is
one months salary for every completed year of service. Additionally based on number of years of service an additional benefit is provided on
normal retirement.

Post retirement medical

Few entities provide post retirement medical cover to select grade of employees to cover the retiring employee and their spouse upto a
specified age through mediclaim policy on which the premiums are paid by the Company. The eligibility of the employee for the benefit as
well as the amount of medical cover purchased is determined by the grade of the employee at the time of retirement.

Post retirement housing allowance

The Company operates a post retirement benefit scheme for a certain grade of employees in which a monthly allowance determined on the
basis of the last drawn basic salary at the time of retirement, is paid to the retiring employee in lieu of housing.

Risk exposure

Through its defined benefit plans the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

Asset volatility

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with references to government bond yields; if plan assets underperform compared
to this yield, this will create or increase a deficit. The defined benefit plans may hold equity type assets, which may carry volatility and
associated risk.

Changes in bond yields

A decrease in government bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this is expected to be partially offset by an increase in the value
of the plans’ investment in debt instruments.

Inflation risk

The present value of some of the defined benefit plan obligations are calculated with reference to the future salaries of plan participants.
As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability. The post retirement medical benefit obligation is
sensitive to medical inflation and accordingly, an increase in medical inflation rate would increase the plan’s liability.

Life expectancy

The present value of defined benefit plan obligation is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants, both
during and after the employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

Defined benefit plans - Actuarial valuation as on 31t March, 2018 Rupees crores
Funded Plan Unfunded Plans
Particulars Gratuity Gratuity Post retil:emept medical || Post retirement housing
enefits allowance
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
1 Amounts recognised in profit or loss
CUITENt SErVICe COSt...iimimmmiriiirinirieereet et 84.82 84.92 238.40 269.27 2.22 1.47 2.50 2.22
Past SEIVICE COST ...ttt — — — — 4.49 — — —
Effect of the limit in Para 64 (b) of the Ind AS 19.......... (3.84) (1.57) — — — — — —
Net interest eXPense........coovvcrnnrenieeereenns 18.26 15.99 52.04 52.14 2.40 1.97 3.83 3.49
Total amount included in employee benefits expense . 99.24 99.34 290.44 321.41 9.11 3.44 6.33 5.71
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Defined benefit plans - Actuarial valuation as on 31t March, 2018 (contd.) Rupees crores

Funded Plan Unfunded Plans
Particulars Gratuity Gratuity Post retil:emept medical || Post retirement housing
enefits allowance
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
2 Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
Remeasurement (gains) / losses:
a) Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in —
— demographic assumptions.........c.coceeeerrrererereseenns 2.37 (0.95) 1.06 1.12 — — — —
— financial assuMPLions.........ccoveereeerenieneneeeeneeenenns (16.00) 21.63 (46.73) (200.74) (1.20) 0.97 (1.23) 1.18
— experience adjustments........cocvvrereerenrreneninennnns 17.54 (11.16) (79.21) (34.76) 4.84 3.35 1.01 0.86
b) Return on plan assets, excluding amount included
in net interest expense / (iNCOME)....cccccvvereererererennnnnns (6.25) (8.24) — — — — — —
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive
INCOME ... (2.34) 1.28 (124.88) (234.38) 3.64 4.32 (0.22) 2.04
3 Changes in the defined benefit obligation
Opening defined benefit obligation ..........ccoccovncnninenee 995.86 949.97 1,836.31 1,894.76 32.35 25.45 51.32 45.44
Add / (less) on account of business combination /
R0 1011 (=] (PR 21.76 (0.43) 18.36 13.46 — — — —
CUITENt SEIVICE COST...oimimiiiiiriririreeirieie e 84.82 84.92 238.40 269.27 2.22 1.47 2.50 2.22
Past SErViCe COST......ccurmmmmmriiierererreeseee e — — — — 4.49 — — —
Interest eXPense. ... 56.69 55.27 52.04 52.14 2.40 1.97 3.83 3.49
Remeasurements (gains) / 10SSES........cvuerreerrencrrereuerneenne 3.91 9.52 (124.88) (234.38) 3.64 4.32 (0.22) 2.04
BENefits Paid.....cocrureiereiineeieieieiees ettt (95.32) (84.53) (142.27) (129.79) (1.22) (0.72) (1.87) (1.87)
Foreign exchange translation difference 5.58 (18.86) 99.42 (29.15) 0.22 (0.14) — —
Closing defined benefit obligation .............cccccccconiunirninnee. 1,073.30 995.86 1,977.38 1,836.31 44.10 32.35 55.56 51.32
4 Changes in fair value of plan assets
Opening fair value of plan assets.........ccoornrenirerinens 686.37 669.94 — — — — — —
Add / (less) on account of business combination /
EFANSTEN oo 18.65 0.14 — — — — — —
INterest INCOME......cccremirrccee e 38.43 39.28 — — — — — —
Return on plan assets excluding interest income............. 6.25 8.24 — — — — — —
Contributions by employer ... 136.03 55.42 — — 1.22 0.72 1.87 1.87
BENETitS PAId.....crcurereucirencireeirieieieee et (95.32) (84.53) — — (1.22) (0.72) (1.87) (1.87)
Foreign exchange translation difference 4,01 (2.12) — — — —
Closing fair value of plan assets............cccococovenerininenenenae 794.42 686.37 — — — — — —
5 Net defined benefit obligation
Defined benefit obligation .........cccceeeureeenecinencinncsnene 1,073.30 995.86 1,977.38 1,836.31 44.10 32.35 55.56 51.32
Fair value of plan assets ..........cocoeeerneerneccrncrnnceneenne 794.42 686.37 — — — — — —
Surplus / (Deficit)......ccoccuveruricircrresree e (278.88) (309.49)| (1,977.38)| (1,836.31) (44.10) (32.35) (55.56) (51.32)
Current portion of the above.........cccceveevecericcrirerirenenns (132.36) (122.24) (9.94) (3.25) (1.51) (1.03) (1.87) (1.87)
Non current portion of the above.......cccooevvecccvririennnns (146.52) (187.25)|| (1,967.44)| (1,833.06) (42.59) (31.32) (53.69) (49.45)
6  Actuarial Assumptions and sensitivity:
a  Actuarial assumptions Rupees crores
Assumptions 2018 2017
DISCOUNT FATE (20) 1euvevereuieteiiteiste st e e seeteste e st e e st et st e e st e e sbeseebessesesaesesbese st eneabeneebessesessesesbesesbese st ene et ensebensebessesesbenesbenestensntenensesans 0.43 - 8.10 0.52 - 8.00
ATEITEION TATE (90) cvveviieiitereteteeee st e et st sttt a et et e b s e et eaebeaeaese s et ebebess s e et ebebesessse st ebebessse st ebebesesesene b esebess st et ebebenensanes 1.00 - 48.91 1.00 - 48.91
COSES INTIATION (20) cuevieierieeieiiece et sttt et e et ete st e ae st e st e st e e e be e ebessebessebesbese st ese et eneebe e ebessese st eae st eneabensabensesesesessesesteneseenssreneas 3.00 - 10.00 3.00 - 10.00

The estimate of future costs including medical considered in actuarial valuation takes account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other
relevant factors.
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Defined benefit plans - Actuarial valuation as on 31t March, 2018 (contd.)

32.

Business Responsibility Standalone

Accounts

b  Quantitative sensitivity analysis for impact of significant assumptions on defined benefit obligation are as below:

Consolidated
Accounts

Rupees crores

Assumptions 2018 2017
One percentage point increase in diSCOUNT FALE ......ovvevreiurenieeirierece e (315.81) (297.93)
One percentage point decrease in diSCOUNT FAte ......oviicieiriririrerereerieeir et 350.22 335.18
One percentage point increase in salary growth rate.........ccoorcieennnseseceee e 313.35 296.54
One percentage point decrease in salary growth rate......cccinnnnrcreeee e (278.69) (262.24)
One percentage point increase in attrition rate ... e (49.78) (26.06)
One percentage point decrease in attrition rate ... ..o 46.98 15.81
One percentage point increase in medical inflation rate 5.91 4.45
One percentage point decrease in medical inflation rate (4.98) (3.75)
Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation : Rupees crores
Time periods 2018 2017
WWITRIN T YA .ttt bRt 201.42 161.73
2 = 5 YRS et 749.07 622.99
BEIWEEN 6 @NA 9 YRAIS ...t 990.37 842.40
10 YEAIS AN @DOVE ...ttt etk e bbbt e e bbbt e e b bRt e 3,209.54 3,068.06
Trust-managed Provident fund Rupees crores
2018 2017

I Net defined benefit obligation

Defined benefit 0DlGatioN .......cci i nnenas 2,220.30 2,024.80

Fair Value OF Plan @SSETS.....ciiieiiiiiieiieietee ettt sttt s s s st 2,220.30 2,024.80

SUPIUS/(DETICIT) wuvveiereieiseseeisietete ettt ae bt se ettt s ettt et s e — —
Il Actuarial assumptions

DISCOUNT FAEE ...ttt b ettt enenan 7.85% 7.60%

Average remaining tenure of investment portfolio (YEars) .......ccoueverrenieniennieereeseseeeseeseeneens 5.95 6.12

GUArANtEEA rate Of METUIM ...ttt ettt esen 8.55% 8.65%

Group's contribution (in respect of companies where applicable) for Provident Fund and Superannuation Fund aggregating Rs. 292.31 crores
(2017 : Rs. 260.25 crores) has been recognised in the Profit or Loss under the head ‘Employee Benefits Expense’.

Capital Management:

The Group’s capital management strategy is to effectively determine, raise and deploy capital so as to create value for its shareholders. The
same is done through a mix of either equity and / or preference and / or convertible and / or combination of short term / long term debt as
may be appropriate.

The Group determines the amount of capital required on the basis of its product, capital expenditure, operations and strategic investment plans.
The capital structure is monitored on the basis of equity, net debt and maturity profile of overall debt portfolio of the Group.

The retail loan finance business of the companies in financial service business is subject to the capital adequacy requirements of the Reserve
Bank of India (RBI) and National Housing Bank (NHB). Under capital adequacy guidelines, these companies are required to maintain a capital
adequacy ratio consisting of Tier | and Tier Il Capital. The total of Tier Il Capital at any point of time, shall not exceed 100 percent of Tier |
Capital. The Group companies in the financial services business have complied with all regulatory requirements related to regulatory capital
and capital adequacy ratios as prescribed by RBI and NHB.
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Net Debt and Equity other than financial services segment is given in the table below :
Rupees crores

2018 2017
TOTAI EQUITY ...ttt sttt 36,237.85 28,895.52
Net Debt
Y (oY A (=T e [=] o OO 5,099.73 4,036.22
Long term debt (including current portion of long term debt) ... 6,262.34 6,192.61
GEOSS D@D ... et a st et en 11,362.07 10,228.83
Less :
CUITENT INVESTMENTS ...ttt b bbb bbb sttt b et s et st sttt st st n b s s st s 4,937.51 4,123.31
CaSh AN BANK BAIANCES........oueeeeeeeceeeecteeete et es s ssstssas s ssas s ssa s s e s s s st st es s st esssssessssssesssnssnsssesssnsasaneas 6,069.71 4,057.64
INETE D@DRL.............ooeoeeeee ettt et a e ettt R ettt aeen 354.85 2,047.88
Total Capital dEPIOYEM ...t 36,592.70 30,943.40

33. Financial instruments
Financial Risk Management Framework

In the course of its business, the Group is exposed to a certain financial risks namely credit risk, interest risk, currency risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's primary focus is to achieve better predictability of financial markets and seek to minimize potential adverse effects on its
financial performance.

The financial risks are managed in accordance with the risk management policy which has been approved by Board of Directors of the
respective Group companies.

Board of Directors of financial services businesses have established Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO), which is responsible
for developing and monitoring risk management policies for their businesses. The financial services businesses are exposed to high credit
risk given the unbanked rural customer base and diminishing value of collateral. The credit risk is managed through credit norms established
based on historical experience.

1. Market Risk Management

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates etc. could affect the Group’s income
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments including cash flow. The objective of market risk management is to manage and
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while maximising the return.

(a) Currency Risk

The Group's exposure to currency risk relates primarily to the Group's operating activities including anticipated sales and purchase
and borrowings where the transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group's foreign currency exposures are managed within approved parameters. The Group hedges its foreign currency risk
mainly by way of Forward Covers. Other derivative instruments may also be used if deemed appropriate.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period are as follows :
Rupees crores

Us Dollar Euro JPY Others Total
As at 31t March, 2018
Financial Assets .... 1,579.66 366.33 5.59 615.01 2,566.59
Financial Liabilities...........c.cooriiiinniccec e 2,676.83 787.77 504.25 374.32 4,343.17
As at 31t March, 2017
FINANCIAl ASSETS....cvvveveeeieiririsietes ettt e e 1,310.97 444,99 15.90 240.17 2,012.03
Financial Liabilities ......ccovevrreereeeierirsieesesesese s 2,192.32 879.53 636.91 135.62 3,844.38

Hedge Accounting - Forwards

Contracts that meet the requirements for hedge accounting are accounted as per the hedge accounting requirements of Ind AS 109 -Financial
Instruments, while other contracts are accounted as derivatives measured through profit or loss.
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Details of Forward Foreign Currency Contracts outstanding at the end of reporting period
Rupees crores
Outstanding Contracts Average | Notional Hedge | Carrying amount of Change in Change in the
exchange rate | value (#) ratio | hedging instrument the fair value | value of hedged
included in Other of hedging item used to
Financial Assets / instrument | determine hedge
(Liabilities) | during the year effectiveness -
- gain / (loss) (gain) / loss
31t March, 2018
Cash Flow Hedges
Buy currency
Maturing less than 1 year
— USD / EUR...ooveerierecreeiis 1.19 2114 1:1 (0.01) (0.01) 0.01
Maturing in 1 + years
— EUR/INR.coooocrrceirecerieens 75.49 404.08 1:1 3.87 35.61 (35.61)
Sell currency
Maturing less than 1 year
— USD / INR...oosvereeeeeeneieseeiies 64.55 408.39 1:1 2.00 2.00 (2.00)
— EUR/ KRW. ...oovverrrieireceriees 1,346.58 0.13 1:1 63.62 62.51 (62.51)
— ZAR/INR .o 5.02 215.57 1:1 (12.21) (12.21) 12.21
— EUR/INR oo 75.49 37.23 1:1 (0.59) (0.59) 0.59
— AUD / INR..coooietirinneeseeiis 49.95 39.60 1:1 1.15 1.15 (1.15)
— GBP/KRW.....coooooorevrrrrrrerrins 1,511.52 0.07 1:1 15.97 24.45 (24.45)
31¢t March, 2017
Cash Flow Hedges
Buy currency
Maturing less than 1 year
— USD 7 INR.cooeeceeierceiieeerinenens 68.64 268.50 1:1 (12.88) (12.88) 12.88
— USD / EUR .o 1.07 10.39 1:1 0.07 0.07 (0.07)
— CNY /EUR oo 7.51 10.04 11 (0.20) (0.20) 0.20
Maturing in 1 + years
— EUR/INR e 100.82 346.48 1:1 (31.74) (31.74) 31.74
Sell currency
Maturing less than 1 year
— USD / KRW..oomveterirererrecerireeens 1,190.67 0.37 1:1 27.51 27.98 (27.98)
— USD / INR .o 69.71 368.53 1:1 18.79 18.79 (18.79)
— EUR/ KRW ..o 1,287.21 0.08 1:1 7.45 7.06 (7.06)
— ZAR/INR .o 4.87 86.95 1:1 1.13 1.13 (1.13)
— GBP / KRW. .....ovvererceerrrcrireee 1,480.80 0.09 1:1 7.26 7.20 (7.20)

# Notional value of respective currency pair have been converted into presentation currency i.e.

Details of hedge ineffectiveness

INR using year end closing exchange rate

Rupees crores

Ineffectiveness Effective
Recognised in portion
Profit or Loss Recognised in
odl
Year Ended 31t March, 2018
CaSN FIOW HEOGES ...ttt bbbttt sttt — 18.45
Year Ended 31t March, 2017
CaSH FIOW HEAGES .....ecuieiiiieieieee ettt ettt bbbkttt bbbttt b et e (0.01) 82.67
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(b) Interest Rate Risk
The Group uses a mix of cash and borrowings to manage the liquidity and fund requirements of its day-to-day operations. Further,
certain interest bearing liabilities carry variable interest rates.
Interest Rate risk on variable rate borrowings is managed by way of interest rate swaps.
Hedge Accounting : Interest Rate Swaps

Interest Rate swaps entered into by the Group meet the requirements for hedge accounting under Ind AS 109 - Financial Instruments,
and thus are accounted as such.
Details of Interest Rate Swaps outstanding at the end of reporting period
Rupees crores

Outstanding Contracts Average Notional Hedge | Carrying amount of Change in Change in the
interest value ratio | hedging instrument the fair value | value of hedged
rate included in Other of hedging item used to
Financial Assets / | instrument for | determine hedge
(Liabilities) | the year - gain/ effectiveness
(loss)

31t March, 2018
Cash Flow Hedges
Floating to fixed Interest Rate

Swaps

EUR
Maturing in 1 + years......c.......... 0.74% 404.08 1:1 3.58 (0.04) 0.04
TOtal ..o 3.58 (0.04) 0.04

31t March, 2017
Cash Flow Hedges
Floating to fixed Interest Rate

Swaps

EUR
Maturing in 1 + years.......ccoc..... 0.74% 346.48 1:1 3.54 3.54 (3.54)
Total ..o 3.54 3.54 (3.54)

Details of hedge ineffectiveness
Rupees crores

Ineffectiveness Effective
Recognised in portion
Profit or Loss Recognised in
odi
Year Ended 31t March, 2018
CaSh FIOW HEOGES .....cueueuceciciiiei ettt — 0.04
Year Ended 31 March, 2017
CASH FIOW HEAGES ...ttt — 3.54

The movements in Cash Flow Hedge Reserve for instruments designated in a cash flow hedge are as follows :
Rupees crores

2018 2017
Exchange | Interest Rate Total Exchange | Interest Rate Total
Rate Risk | Risk hedges Rate Risk Risk hedges
hedges hedges

Balance at the beginning of the year....... 93.10 2.30 95.40 (6.71) (2.42) (9.13)
(Gains) / Losses transferred to Profit
or Loss on occurrence of the forecast
transaction ......c.coeeeeeeveeeeeceeeeeee e (79.82) — (79.82) (45.71) 3.68 (42.03)
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Rupees crores
2018 2017
Exchange | Interest Rate Total Exchange | Interest Rate Total
Rate Risk Risk hedges Rate Risk Risk hedges
hedges hedges
(Gains) / Losses transferred to Profit
or Loss due to cash flows no longer
expected t0 OCCUT ..ot 0.03 — 0.03 (2.66) — (2.66)
Change in Fair Value of Effective Portion
of cash flow hedges............ 18.45 0.04 18.49 82.67 3.54 86.21
Deferred Tax on the above 7.29 (0.03) 7.26 (0.92) (2.50) (3.42)
Balance at the end of the year.................. 39.05 2.31 41.36 26.67 2.30 28.97
Add / (Less) : Non Controlling interest..... 11.27 — 11.27 (9.47) — (9.47)
Add: Share of Associate / Joint Venture... (138.78) — (138.78) 75.90 — 75.90
Total ... (88.46) 2.31 (86.15) 93.10 2.30 95.40
Of the above :
Balance relating to continuing hedges..... (88.46) 2.31 (86.15) 93.10 2.30 95.40
Balance relating to hedges for which
hedge accounting is no longer applied.... — — — — — —
(88.46) 2.31 (86.15) 93.10 2.30 95.40

2. Credit Risk Management

Credit Risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group usually deals with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating
the risk of financial loss from defaults. The exposure is continuously monitored.

(a) Financial Guarantees

In addition, the Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to financial guarantees given to banks provided by the Group. The
Group’s maximum exposure in this respect is the maximum amount the Group could have to pay if the guarantee is called on. The
accounting of financial guarantees is as explained in Note 2(k). Accordingly, the amount recognised in Balance Sheet as liabilities is

as below :

Rupees crores

Particulars

2018

2017

Financial GUArant@e Liabilities ..ottt sae st sse s s s s

39.25

43.79

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of Financial Guarantee contracts is Rs. 847.96 crores and Rs. 792.70 crores as at

31t March, 2018 and 2017 respectively.
(b) Trade Receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by Ind AS 109, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. The Group has computed expected credit losses based on a
provision matrix which uses historical credit loss experience of the Group. Forward-looking information (including macroeconomic
information) has been incorporated into the determination of expected credit losses.

The loss allowance for trade receivables using expected credit losses for different ageing periods are as follows:

Other than related to hospitality segment

Rupees crores

Particulars Not due Less than More than Total
6 months 6 months
past due past due
As at 31t March, 2018
GrosSS Carrying @MOUNT......ccouiueieuiiiriierieeeieseetse st se et 3,499.25 3,687.84 420.60 7,607.69
LOSS QllOWANCE PrOVISION ....ecueueeeeeeieecieieeise sttt s sa s e e se e e aessnenenens — (8.36) (141.86) (150.22)
AL SRRSO 3,499.25 3,679.48 278.74 7,457.47
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Rupees crores

Particulars Not due Less than More than Total
6 months 6 months
past due past due

As at 31%t March, 2017
Gross carrying amount....... 2,352.86 3,627.77 398.92 6,379.55
Loss allowance provision — (2.41) (124.46) (126.87)
1 = R PR P PP TURPRPPRRN 2,352.86 3,625.36 274.46 6,252.68
Related to hospitality segment

Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
GrOSS CAITYING @MOUNT....uiutiiiieicaeeeteteese s bbb et a bbb se e bbb et b bbb ne et b b b en et aeseaenas 1,579.39 1,601.35
LOSS AllOWANCE PrOVISION ...cucuieceeiictetieeeeeee ettt ettt s be bbbt ss s et eb et s s s s s e s aebebebes s e snsnansenas (33.20) (78.18)
1V L= PSP 1,546.19 1,523.17
Reconciliation of loss allowance for Trade Receivables:
Other than related to hospitality segment

Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Balance as at beginning of the Year ... 126.87 123.44
Additions dUMNG the YA c.c.cieeececr ettt bt e e nn e 59.79 35.14
Amounts written off dUrNG the YEaT ... (9.30) (8.44)
Amount recovered during the year .............. (7.53) (2.65)
Impairment losses reversed / written back... (23.06) (19.02)
Foreign exchange translation diffEreNCe.......ccvviicccin e 3.45 (1.60)
Balance at @nd Of The YR ..ot 150.22 126.87
Related to hospitality segment

Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Balance as at beginning of the YEar ... ses st ssse s 78.18 147.58
AddItioNs AUIMNG The YA ...ttt ees bbbttt 1.21 2118
Amounts Written off dUMNG The YEAT ...ttt es st (46.19) —
Impairment losses reversed / WIHttEN DACK ..ot — (90.58)
Balance at @Nd Of The YEAI ..........ccreiicrc bbb 33.20 78.18

In respect of other financial assets, the maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each

class of financial assets.
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(c) Credit risk related to financial services business:
The following table sets out information about credit quality of retail loan assets measured at amortised cost based on months past due
information. The amount represents gross carrying amount.
Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
Gross carrying value of loan assets
Neither Past dUe NOT IMPAITEd .......cceieiriririrceee st e e b e e e s s s besese e nnens 40,205.27 30,996.60
Past due but not impaired
1 MONTN PAST AUE ettt s e e ea et e s e e e e s enns 5,587.67 5,494.94
2-3 MONENS PAST AUttt ettt b ettt b ettt b 7,015.92 5,159.23
IMpaired (ADOVE 3 MONTNS) .....cciiiccccei et et e e e s senene e e e 5,468.22 6,519.56
Total Gross carrying value as at reporting date............ccocuueiriiriiniuriireieie e 58,277.08 48,170.33

Credit Quality of Financial Loans

Financial services business has a comprehensive framework for monitoring credit quality of its retail and other loans based on Days past due
monitoring. Repayment by individual customers and portfolio is tracked regularly and required steps for recovery is taken through follow ups
and legal recourse.

Inputs considered in the ECL model

In assessing the impairment of loans assets under Expected Credit Loss (ECL) Model, the loan assets have been segmented into three stages.
The three stages reflect the general pattern of credit deterioration of a financial instrument. The differences in accounting between stages,
relate to the recognition of expected credit losses and the calculation and presentation of interest revenue.

The company categorises loan assets into stages based on the Months Past Due status:
— Stage 1: 0-1 month Past Due

— Stage 2: 2-3 months Past Due

— Stage 3: More than 3 months Past Due

Assumptions considered in the ECL model
The financial services business has made the following assumptions in the ECL Model:

— "Loss given default” (LGD) is common for all three stages and is based on loss in past portfolio. Actual cashflows are discounted with
average rate for arriving loss rate. Effective interest rate (EIR) has been taken as discount rate for all retails loans.

— "Probability of default” (PD) is applied on Stage 1 and Stage 2 on portfolio basis and for Stage 3 PD is 100%.

Estimation Technique
The financial services business has applied the following estimation technique in its ECL model:

—  Probability of default for Stage 1 loan assets is calculated as average of 5 years of movement of cases from Stage 1 to Stage 3 in next 12
months. Probability of default of Stage 2 is calculated based on lifetime ageing of 4 years completed portfolio moving to stage 3. In case
of housing loan probability of default of Stage 2 is calculated based on outstanding loan portfolio till March 2017 moving to stage 3.

— Loss given default is calculated based on discounted actual cash flow on past portfolio in default along with reversals.
There is no change in estimation techniques or significant assumptions during the reporting year.
Forward Looking Information

In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the financial services business considers historical loss rates on portfolio over a period which
covers most external factors like drought, government and policy changes etc and analysis of data has not shown any correlation directly
with external events on repayment by retail loan customers.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default has increased significantly since initial recognition, the financial services business considers both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the business’s historical experience, including forward-looking information.
The financial services business considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost and effort.
The financial services business uses the number of days past due to classify a financial instrument in low credit risk category and to determine
significant increase in credit risk in retail. As a backstop, the financial services business considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs
no later than when an asset is more than 30 days past due.

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited



Definition of default

The definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes is based on RBI Guidelines and in case of housing loan based on
NHB Guidelines . Under Ind AS, the financial services business considers a financial asset to be in default when it is more than 90 days past
due. The financial services business considers a financial asset under default as ‘credit impaired'.

Policy for write off of Loan Assets
The financial services business writes off all loans on half yearly basis which has been past due by 6 months from date of maturity and in case

of housing loan when there is no collection from last 3 years.

Impairment loss
The expected credit loss allowance provision is determined as follows:
Rupees crores

Performing Under performing Impaired loans - Total
Loans - 12 loans - ‘lifetime ECL 'lifetime ECL
month ECL  not credit impaired’  credit impaired’
Gross Balance as at 315t March, 2018... 45,792.94 7,015.92 5,468.22 58,277.08
Expected credit [0S rate ......cccccevvverirsenieenienenisireeseeens 1.22% 11.94% 35.35% —
Carrying amount as at 31t March, 2018
(net of impairment provision) .........cccoceeveeeeierereresereenenas 45,232.41 6,178.29 3,543.67 54,954.37
Gross Balance as at 315t March, 2017.....cccocovevecerincrnnnne 36,491.54 5,159.23 6,519.56 48,170.33
Expected credit 10SS rate .......coeeveereenecrneeereeneseeesees 1.18% 6.61% 35.33% —
Carrying amount as at 31t March, 2017
(net of impairment provision) ........ccccevvveeercrerresenenenas 36,060.74 4,817.96 4,223.67 45,102.37

Level of Assessment - Aggregation Criteria
The financial services business recognises the expected credit losses on a collective basis that takes into account comprehensive credit risk
information and considers the economic and risk characteristics, pricing range and sector concentration.
Reconciliation of loss allowance provision for loans
Rupees crores

Particulars 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL not Lifetime ECL Total
credit impaired credit impaired
Balance as at 15t April, 2017.........c.cccooevevveereceeeeeee e 430.80 341.27 2,295.89 3,067.96
- Transferred to / from 12 months ECL........ccccccevvveveervereennene. 27117 (70.48) (200.69) —
- Transferred to / from lifetime ECL not credit impaired....... (41.58) 275.60 (234.02) —
- Transferred to / from lifetime ECL credit impaired.............. (16.36) (60.48) 76.84 —
- Loans that have been derecognised during the year.......... (46.29) (42.83) (532.43) (621.55)
New loans originated during the year........cccoooevvnneieeninens 333.09 136.44 93.05 562.58
Write-0ffs....ccooveevrececerrre e (0.03) (0.49) (270.45) (270.97)
Net remeasurement of loss allowance. (370.27) 258.60 696.36 584.69
Balance as at 31t March, 2018 ............cccoovveieiennnrieseieens 560.53 837.63 1,924.55 3,322.71
Balance as at 15t April, 2016 ....c.cocucurueirererreeceeeere e 298.60 269.53 1,658.15 2,226.28
- Transferred to / from 12 months ECL.........cccevveevveevecviereennne 174.95 (49.47) (125.48) —
- Transferred to / from lifetime ECL not credit impaired....... (35.86) 108.55 (72.69) —
- Transferred to / from lifetime ECL credit impaired.............. (21.26) (100.57) 121.83 —
- Loans that have been derecognised during the year.......... (30.94) (34.19) (330.99) (396.12)
New loans originated during the year........ccccccoovvvnrevccennnns 262.61 79.02 98.73 440.36
Write-0ffS .o (0.02) (0.39) (143.38) (143.79)
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (217.28) 68.79 1,089.72 941.23
Balance as at 31t March, 2017 ..o.ccoooeeeoooceessereeesseeesssresssse 430.80 341.27 2,295.89 3,067.96

12 months ECL' and ‘lifetime ECL not credit impaired’ are collectively assessed. ‘Lifetime ECL credit impaired’ are individually assessed.

Loan which are written off continue to be subject of enforcement activity.
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Significant changes in the gross carrying value that contributed to change in loss allowance

The financial services business mostly provides loans to retail individual customers in Rural and Semi urban area which are of small ticket size.
Change in any single customer repayment will not impact significantly to Company's provisioning. All customers are being monitored based
on past due status of outstanding loan and corrective actions are taken accordingly to limit the financial services businesses risk.
Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial services business’s loan portfolio is predominantly to finance retail automobile and allied equipment loans, housing loans and other
business loans. The financial services business manages concentration of risk primarily by geographical region in India. The following tables
show the geographical concentrations of financial loans as at year end:

Rupees crores

Particulars 2018 2017
CAITYING VAIUE ..ottt eSSt 58,277.08 48,170.33
Concentration by Geographical region in India:

INOTER oottt s8££t 19,414.20 12,400.58
o 1) OO PPV ST PP PTRTTTPN 6,923.92 5,244.54
WVEST .ottt ceeses e eeessss s8R AR 19,813.90 19,940.68
SOULN L.ttt es s8££ R8RSR 12,125.06 10,584.53
Total Loans as at reporting PEriOM ...........coriiiecieiniireeceie et 58,277.08 48,170.33

Maximum Exposure to credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk of loans is their carrying amount. The maximum exposure is before considering both the effect of
mitigation through collateral.

Narrative Description of Collateral
The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the financial services business upon extension of credit, is based on management’s
credit evaluation of the counterparty. Collateral primarily include vehicles and residential units purchased by retail loan customers.

Quantitative Information of Collateral - Credit Impaired assets

(Collateral Coverage - Value of collateral available to mitigate the credit exposure)
Rupees crores

Loan To Value (LTV) range Gross Value of loans in stage 3
2018 2017
UDLO 5090 COVEIAGE .....uucumirieeeriisetsesiseetsesssessse st sessssesse bbb bbb 2,776.13 1,022.12
51 - 70% coverage . 1,405.01 1,146.12
7T = 10090 COVEIAGE -..ourvumeereetreersetseeeseeteessse st s seess e sssess b s s es bR E 48 E R E bR R bbbt 856.71 1,620.86
ADOVE 1000 COVEIAGE ....ovummrerimmeeriesmeessseesssssssssssassssssesassss s asss s s s 430.37 2,730.46
N ettt b bR R AR AR 5,468.22 6,519.56

Quantitative Information of Collateral - Repossessed Assets
Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Carrying Value of repossessed COllateral.........couiiiirierreeee e 379.65 380.00
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3.

Liquidity risk management
(a) Maturity profile of financial liabilities

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed
repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows

Rupees crores

Particulars Less than 1-3 Years 3 Years to 5 Years
1 Year 5 Years | and above
As at 315t March, 2018
Short term borrowings - PrinCipal........c.cccccoeeemnnnnccceeenrseeeceeeeeene 11,325.54 — — —
Short term borrowings - INterest .........cooceeeeerirrnsereeeeeee e 165.44 — — —
Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long term debt) -
PIINCIPA ..ot 10,763.20 22,525.88 5,006.67 6,342.65
Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long term debt) -
INTEIEST ..ot s 3,291.23 4,381.59 1,599.00 3,974.37
Trade PAYADIES ... 18,287.34 4.88 — —
FiNANCial GUArANTEE .....c.eieriririeiceceriririe ettt 847.96 — — —
Other Financial Liabilities .........cccoerurrririniieeeerss e 2,062.95 246.49 7.28 133.11
TOtAl . 46,743.66 27,158.84 6,612.95 10,450.13
As at 315t March, 2017
Short term borrowings - Principal........c.ococerernnnncncceesrrseseeeeeeiseene 10,270.56 — — —
Short term borrowings - INtErest .........cooveeeerrrrscreceeee e 61.62 — — —
Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long term debt) -
PrINCIPAL ..t 8,515.75 20,113.73 4,583.50 5,552.65
Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long term debt) -
T =T = TP 3,324.29 3,885.31 1,239.30 4,158.03
Trade payables... 14,796.87 4.38 — —
Financial Guarantee............. 792.70 — — —
Other Financial Liabilities... 2,087.69 310.55 — 64.69
TOtAl . 39,849.48 24,313.97 5,822.80 9,775.37

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could be forced to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that such an amount will not be payable under the
arrangement.

The following table details the Group’s liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments. When the amount payable or receivable
is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves at
the end of the reporting period.

(b) Derivative financial instruments - Receivable / (Payables), net

Rupees crores

Particulars Less than 1-3 Years | 3 Years to
1 Year 5 Years
As at 315t March, 2018
Net settled
INterest rate SWapPS ..o (24.50) (12.35) (2.16)
COMMOMILY TULUIES.......vieceieiciriei ettt — — —
Foreign exchange forward CoNtracts..........cccoccrurirninenccceisinrseseeee s 0.02 (6.15) 3.87
Gross settled
Foreign exchange forward contracts / Options.........cococoeeueurinirinincnecsesese e (10.08) — —
Lo OO (34.56) (18.50) 1.7
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Rupees crores

Particulars Less than 1-3 Years 3 Years to
1 Year 5 Years
As at 315t March, 2017
Net settled
INTEIEST FALE SWAPS c.vvveeieeierisiris ettt b e s e st b et ne e st nnns 2.33 (29.38) (5.66)
COMMOMILY TULUIES.....evicericietri e 1.62 — —
Foreign exchange forward CONtracts.........occccerrrncnencceeenrseresees e (22.32) — —
Gross settled
Foreign exchange forward contracts / Options.........cocococerurernirerenenenseseesese e 40.10 — (31.74)
Lo OO 21.73 (29.38) (37.40)

4, Sensitivity Analysis
(a) Foreign Currency Sensitivity
The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in major exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant.
Rupees crores

Particulars Currency |Change in rate | Effect on Profit Effect on
Before Tax | pre-tax equity

Year ended 315t March, 2018..............cccooiinneniiicreeeeeeene KRW / USD +10% 13.38 —
KRW / JPY +10% (49.44) —

INR / EUR +10% (2.94) —

Year ended 315t March, 2017 ...ttt KRW / USD +10% 26.22 —
KRW / JPY +10% (62.27) —

INR/EUR +10% 47.28 —

If the change in rates decline by a similar percentage, there will be opposite impact of similar amount on Profit Before Tax and
Pre-tax Equity.

The sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the reporting period
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(b) Interest Rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on exposure to interest rate for both derivative and non-
derivative instruments at the end of reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and
borrowings affected, after the impact of hedge accounting. With all other variables held constant, the Group's profit before tax is
affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

Rupees crores

Particulars Currency Increase / | Effect on profit Effect on
decrease in before tax | pre-tax equity
basis points

Year ended 315t March, 2018..............ccooeeieereeereeeceee e INR +50 bps (56.66) —

EUR +25 bps (2.47) 3.56

Year ended 315t March, 2017 ... sesees INR +50 bps (50.82) —

EUR +25 bps (0.63) 3.91

If the change in rates decline by a similar percentage, there will be opposite impact of similar amount on Profit Before Tax and
Pre-tax Equity.

5. Offsetting of balances:
The Company has not offset financial assets and financial liabilities.
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Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial instruments measured at fair value
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Rupees crores

Particulars Unquoted Equity | Derivatives on interest Total
investment over Subsidiaries,
associates and joint
ventures (Net)
Year Ended 31t March, 2018
0pening balance ... e 56.91 185.22 242.13
Total gains or losses recognised:
E ) T o o} o A (o3 TR 0.03 (8.53) (8.50)
b) in other comprehensive iNCOME ... (6.84) — (6.84)
Acquisitions during the year.. 30.28 (0.83) 29.45
Transfers ouUt OF LEVEI 3 ...ttt (8.56) — (8.56)
Closing balance.............o.oiiiii e 71.82 175.86 247.68
Year Ended 31t March, 2017
0pening balance ... e 43.10 36.73 79.83
Total gains or losses recognised:
@) N Profit / (IOSS) eeveueereeeicereeteiri sttt 2.98 171.50 174.48
b) in other comprehensive iNCOME ......cccocviivvrccrcerr e (5.55) — (5.55)
Acquisitions during the Year ... 16.42 (23.01) (6.59)
Sale made during the Year...... e (0.04) — (0.04)
Closing Balance ... 56.91 185.22 24213
Equity Investments designated at FVTOCI
Rupees crores
Particulars 2018 2017
Investment in quoted and unquoted equity instruments:
Fair Value OF INVESTMENTS ...ttt ettt nnnneas 70.09 54.01
Dividend income on inVesStMENts Neld ..o — —

There were no disposal of investment during the year ended 31t March, 2018 and 2017 respectively.

b) Financial Instruments measured at amortised cost

Rupees crores

Particulars Carrying Fair value Fair value

Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
As at 31t March, 2018
Financial assets
A) INVESTMENTS ....veeiiceieceeceeeeeee e nas 1,963.73 2,025.80 910.64 1,112.53 2.63
b) Trade Receivables 9,003.66 9,003.66 — 9,003.66 —
¢) Financial Services Receivables..........c.cooooirurrnnincnciinnnne 54,954.37 55,338.12 — — 55,338.12
d) SECUritY DEPOSITS.....cvereeeueueuriririeirerereeeieieeee e ieaeaeeen 448.30 448.30 — 448.30 —
€) Other LOANS.....cceieeieecieeeeeesesereetee et sa s sesenenens 2,169.49 2,152.46 — 2,004.61 147.85
) FiXed DEPOSILS ..cvoveveeeirereeeriereieerise st saenenas 86.04 86.04 — 86.04 —
TORAN s 68,625.59 69,054.38 910.64 12,655.14 55,488.60

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited
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Rupees crores

Particulars Carrying Fair value Fair value

Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial liabilities
a) NOoN-cUrrent BOITOWINGS .....c.ovcureeerereseerereeeesesssesesessesesneeens 33,809.18 34,505.72 15,320.55 19,185.17 —
b) Trade Payables........ccooeuriririniieen e 18,292.22 18,292.22 — 18,292.22 —
¢) Short Term Borrowings 11,325.54 11,325.54 — 11,325.54 —
d) Other Financial Liabilities .........ccccoevvrereeereecieeicseeseeceeene 14,941.70 14,927.53 5,029.07 9,833.12 65.34
TOTAL ettt 78,368.64 79,051.01 20,349.62 58,636.05 65.34
As at 315t March, 2017
Financial assets
Q) INVESTMENTS ..ovecece e 1,585.26 1,634.68 907.40 727.28 —
b) Trade Receivables.......coooovieeeieiiiiiececesese e 7,775.85 7,775.85 — 7,775.85 —
¢) Financial Services Receivables.........ccoveviiveieircieeiieiieenens 45,102.37 44,413.20 — 167.50 44,245.70
d) SECUritY DEPOSITS...ccrvivrerririreririririeieee s 390.22 390.22 — 390.22 —
€) OThEr LOANS ...ttt 1,572.57 1,657.23 — 1,462.30 194.93
) FiXEd DEPOSITS .veeeceeeceeieieire et 168.06 168.97 — 168.97 —
TOTAl e 56,594.33 56,040.15 907.40 10,692.12 44,440.63
Financial liabilities
a) Non-current BOIrrOWINGS ......coceururererercceeueeserereseseseeeieneneens 30,124.51 31,049.62 14,919.75 16,129.87 —
b) Trade Payables.........ccceirnniieerecee e 14,801.25 14,801.25 — 14,801.25 —
C) Short Term BOITOWINGS ......couvurerueieinerineririeieseesesesesseeesenenens 10,121.65 10,121.65 — 10,121.65 —
d) Other Financial Liabilities ........cccovevveeecececeeeceeeceene 12,447.17 12,447.17 2,433.80 9,881.50 131.87
o] - ISR 67,494.58 68,419.69 17,353.55 50,934.27 131.87

Except for the above, carrying value of Other financial assets/liabilities represent reasonable estimate of fair value.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

Significant acquisitions and changes in ownership:

a)

Acquisition of Subsidiaries

Mahindra Logistics Limited

On 10t November, 2017, Mahindra & Mahindra Limited sold 13.59% stake in Mahindra Logistics Limited through Initial Public Offer (IPO)
in which the other private equity shareholder also sold an equivalent stake. Consequent to the IPO, due to changes in the rights of the
private equity shareholder, the status of Mahindra Logistics Limited has changed from joint venture to subsidiary. Further, in accordance
with IndAS 110 - ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’, the retained interest has been re-measured at fair value. The gain on sale of stake and
the re-measurement gain on retained interest have been recognised as exceptional items in the Consolidated Statement of Profit & Loss.
Consequent to gaining of control, the results of Mahindra Logistics operations have been consolidated by the Group from 10* November,
2017 on a line-by-line basis.

Rupees crores

Fair Value OF FETAINEA INTEIEST .....viuieieiceceiecteeee ettt ettt e et be st be e e be e et e s sbese st ess st ebestebessebesebessatensstenestessasesens 1,793.75
NON-CONTIOIING TNTEIEST ...ttt bbb bbb bbb bttt bbbt et en 187.30
Less: Fair value of net asset and liabilities @CQUITE .......ccvuveieiirieieierr sttt es (454.27)
LCTo oo V1| IR oY g T= Yo U1 o o TR STEPT 1,526.78
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The Non-controlling interest on acquisition date has been measured at proportionate share of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.
The resultant goodwill has been allocated to ‘Others’ segment.

The fair values of assets and liabilities acquired in respect of the above business combinations are as under:

Rupees crores

Property, Plant and EQUIPMENT ...ttt sa et s e b b f £ sttt s e e aeae st et e s 70.37
Intangible Assets - acQUIred 0N ACQUISTTION ....c.iiiiiriiirieieiierir bbb bbb neas 107.70
INTANGIDIE ASSETS = OtNEIS......oeieieci bbb 1.18
Cash aNd CaSh EQUIVAIENTS .......cuiiiiirieiceice e et e bbb e e e e bbb e s e et et et e sese e e e s 50.78
Other current and non-current assets / (HabIlItIES), NET ..o s enen 283.17
BOTTOWINGS ...ttt ettt bbb bbb R bbb £ £ e £ £t R bbb e £ £ e AR b e bbb e £ e s et b b e b b et e e bbbt et e s (36.06)
Deferred tax assets / (liabilities), net.... (22.87)
Fair value of net asset / (liabilities) QCQUITEA ......ccuvviueueeeiiie sttt a et se e e e e 454.27

Erkunt Traktor Sanayii A.S. and Erkunt Sanayi A.S.

On 1t December, 2017, the Group acquired 100.00% share capital of Erkunt Traktor Sanayi A.S. and 98.69%, share capital of Erkunt
Sanayi A.S., Turkey. Erkunt Traktor Sanayii A.S. (‘Erkunt Traktor’) is the fourth largest player in the Turkish tractor industry with wide
product portfolio for diverse farming needs catering to local and export market. The acquisition would provide the Group access to
Turkish agricultural machinery market which is the fourth largest tractor market globally. Erkunt Sanayi A.S. ("Erkunt Foundry’) is one
of the leading producer and suppliers of iron castings and machined parts for farm equipment, automotive, construction equipment
industry segments in the Turkish and global markets.

The results of Erkunt Traktor and Erkunt Foundary operations have been consolidated by the Group from the consummation date of
1t December, 2017 on a line-by-line basis. The purchase consideration for this acquisition amounted to Rs. 278.79 crores for Erkunt
Traktor and Rs. 197.29 crores for Erkunt Foundry, entire amount comprising of initial cash consideration.

Rupees crores

Purchase coNSIAEration Paid .........corrirceieieiire et e s 476.08
NON-CONTIOIING TNTEIEST ...ttt bbb bbb bbbttt en 5.32
Less: Fair value of net asset and liabilities @CQUITE ........covreiirieeirrrcce et es (445.34)
LCTo o Yo V1| IR o Y g T= Yo V£ 1o o TR 36.06

On acquisition date, the non-controlling interest has been measured at its proportionate share of identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired. The goodwill has been allocated to 'Farm Equipment’ segment.

The fair values of assets and liabilities acquired in respect of the above business combination are as under:

Rupees crores

Property, Plant and EQUIPMENT ...ttt 460.00
Intangible Assets - aCqUIred 0N @CQUISTTION .......ocriiiiuiureeirieirer ettt b bbbt s e s s e e s 7.15
INtANGIDIE ASSETS - OTNEIS ... bt bbb bRt e bbb ne s 71.25
LAY =T 1 (=T 0 OO 7.85
Cash aNd CaSh EQUIVAIENTS .......cuiiicirireee ettt b e e et b et e s e et e s besesene e e 26.01
Other current and non-current assets (net)... 230.50
BOTTOWINGS ...ttt ettt b bbb bbb £ £ e £ xR bbb e £ £ e AR E b b e b e £ £ s et A bbb b e b et ne bbbt et e s (294.15)
Deferred tax assets/(lHabilities), MOt ... ..ottt s e et e st st e s s s ebe st e be s ebe s eb et ebessstenesteneaserens (63.27)
Fair value of net asset/(liabilities) aCQUITEA .......couvviieieeiiiir et s e a et se e e 445.34

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Group

Revenue and Profit for the year ended 315t March, 2018 includes Rs. 1,179.65 crores and profit of Rs. 26.44 crores respectively pertaining
to acquisitions made during the year. If the acquisitions had happened at the beginning of the year, management estimates that the
reported Revenue for the year ended 315t March, 2018 would have been higher by Rs. 2,946.17 crores and Profit for the year higher by
Rs. 39.00 crores.

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited  fe{8}&]



b) Acquisition of Associates and Joint ventures
Zoomcar India Private Limited

On 16t February, 2018, the Group subscribed to 3,63,752 Series P1 Preference Shares of Zoomcar India Private Limited ('Zoomcar India’)
for a consideration of Rs. 129.13 crores. The arrangement provides that subject to regulatory approvals, Series P1 Preference Shares of
Zoomcar India would be exchanged for Series C Preferred Stock of Zoomcar Inc. at a future date. Based on the investment made in Series
P1 Preference Shares of Zoomcar India, the arrangement provides Mahindra & Mahindra Limited with voting rights amounting to 11.76%
of the voting power on an if-converted basis and right to appoint a Preferred Director on the board of Zoomcar Inc.

c¢) Disposal of investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
CIE Automotive S.A.

In December 2017, Mahindra Overseas Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Mahindra & Mahindra
Limited, sold 64,50,000 shares representing 5.0% of share capital of CIE Automotive S.A., Spain for an aggregate consideration amounting
to Rs. 1,160.60 crores (Euro 151.58 million). Following the sale, the Group's shareholding in CIE Automotive S.A. has reduced to 7.435%
of its Share Capital.

Annual Report 2017-18
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35. Disclosure of interest in Subsidiaries and interest of Non Controlling Interest :
(a) Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest * power where different
and Place of

Operation 2018 2017 2018 2017

Mahindra Vehicle Manufacturers Limited.........ccooveeerniencnicnieniinienns India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Heavy Engines Limited...........ccoocovveinininininsisiscnicnscccas India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Electric Mobility Limited...........cccccvnenrneenneeereeeeereeeens India 99.13% 98.87%

Mahindra Trucks and Buses Limited ........cccoceuune. India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Automobile Distributor Private Limited .........ccccoeoeecrncinnnnne India 100.00% 95.00%

NBS International LiImited .......cccocveenirieernienerniesiseecieenseeeesesssssaennas India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Automotive Australia Pty. Limited.........ccccoviriveniccniiniciinicins Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Ssangyong Motor COMPANY .....cccoeeerereerererrerere e South Korea 72.46% 72.46%

Ssangyong Motor (Shanghai) Company Limited..........cccccconvniiriccrniennnns China 72.46% 72.46% 100.00% 100.00%

Ssangyong European Parts Center B.V......ooovvrnnennnennsssessesisieiens Netherlands 72.46% 72.46% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra BUFOPE S.r.l. . es Italy 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra and Mahindra South Africa (Proprietary) Limited ...........cc...... South Africa 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Graphic Research Design S.r.l......ccovernenrnneenneneeeereneenns Italy 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra West Africa Limited........cccovcervirivcnieninssiseesesseens Nigeria 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra International UK Limited........cccccererrnnininncneeeeee e U.K. 100.00% 100.00%

Gromax Agri Equipment Limited (formerly known as Mahindra Gujarat

Tractor LIMIted) .vceeecceeecees ettt r e e India 60.00% 60.00%

Auto Digitech Private Limited ........ccccceiiiiiiniiicecceeeseeeseseeeens India 100.00% 100.00%

Kota Farm Services Limited.......cocoueviererniiieinnieiesesceiesesesie e India 47.81% 47.81% 51.02% 51.02%

Trringo.com Limited . India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra USA INC. ..ecviicierccereeerrereese e sneeans U.S.A. 100.00% 100.00%

Mitsubishi Mahindra Agricultural Machinery Co., Ltd **.......ccccconnrnnne. Japan 66.67% 66.67% 33.33% 33.33%

Mitsubishi Noki Hanbai co., Ltd. ......ccccoeueiiriiiiicee Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%

Ryono Factory €o., Ltd. ... Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%

Ryono Engineering 0., Ltd. ... Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%

Daiya Computer Services 0., Ltd. .....cccovirrninnnninnineneeseneee s Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%

Daiya Kikou co., Ltd. (Liquidated w.e.f. 27t" October, 2017).....ccccecruee... Japan 66.67% 100.00%

Ryono Asset Management co., Ltd. ... Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Mexico S. de. R. L. sesesenes Mexico 100.00% 99.00%

Mahindra do Brasil Industrial Ltda........ccceerrerreenieeeeeeeee e Brazil 100.00% 100.00%

Hisarlar Makina Sanayi ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi.........ccccoveninicriniininas Turkey 77.18% 75.07%

Hisarlar ithalat fhracat Pazarlama Anonim Sirketi.......c..cccooeeveerrrerunnnes Turkey 77.18% 75.07% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited .. India 51.46% 51.54%

Mahindra Insurance Brokers Limited ........cccooerrnennncenneneenenecnens India 41.17% 43.81% 80.00% 85.00%

Mahindra Rural Housing Finance Limited .........cccovcrninicininniinicisinnnnas India 45.80% 45.10% 89.00% 87.50%

Mahindra Asset Management Company Private Limited...........ccccceueueeee. India 51.46% 51.54% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Trustee Company Private Limited..........cocoeovreneennennenerensnnnnes India 51.46% 51.54% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Lifespace Developers Limited..........cccoorneennencennensenenecnenns India 51.51% 50.78%

Mahindra Infrastructure Developers Limited.........cccoovrriernenrerenecnenns India 51.51% 50.78% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra World City (Maharashtra) Limited.........ccoceovrrrnnnrcnnnnn India 51.51% 50.78% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Integrated Township Limited India 37.79% 37.25% 73.36% 73.36%

Knowledge Township Limited ..o India 51.51% 50.78% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Residential Developers Limited ........cccccoemnrerenncenenccnenns India 37.79% 37.25% 100.00% 100.00%

Industrial Township (Maharashtra) Limited..........ccoceveeeeeereeeeeenennns India 51.51% 50.78% 100.00% 100.00%

Raigad Industrial & Business Park Limited #..........cccccovnnerennccenneccnnnnes India - 50.78% — 100.00%

Anthurium Developers LIMited ........ccvveerrerierneseseeeseseseeseseseeerenens India 51.51% 50.78% 100.00% 100.00%

Industrial Cluster Private Limited (Upto 17t September, 2017)............... India — 50.78% — 100.00%

Mahindra Water Utilities Limited ...... India 51.00% 50.27% 99.00% 99.00%

Kismat Developers Private Limited # India — 50.72% — 99.90%

Topical Builders Private LImited # ........coceevreeeenecenenceieneeereesesieneees India = 50.75% — 99.95%
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Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest * power where different
and Place of

Operation 2018 2017 2018 2017

Rathna Bhoomi Enterprises Private Limited.........ccccoeeerrenincccncnne India 51.51% 50.76% 99.97% 99.97%

Deep Mangal Developers Private Limited.........ccovvernenesnnenscrenensenns India 51.51% 50.78% 100.00% 100.00%

Moonshine Construction Private Limited..........cccovermnnernnenscnncncenns India 51.51% 50.62% 99.69% 99.69%

Mahindra Consulting Engineers Limited .........cccovvrrnnennnensersrennnenns India 84.78% 84.93%

Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India Limited.... India 67.71% 67.93%

Mahindra Hotels and Residences India Limited.........cccooeevrnrcnrennecnne India 67.71% 67.93% 100.00% 100.00%

Gables Promoters Private LImited ........cocovenrncnicncnenesseeceens India 67.71% 67.93% 100.00% 100.00%

Heritage Bird (M) Sdn. Bhd. ... Malaysia 67.71% 67.93% 100.00% 100.00%

Infinity Hospitality Group Company Limited .........c.cccoueneneemneeneneeneennas Thailand 50.09% 50.25% 100.00% 100.00%

MH Boutique Hospitality Limited @... Thailand 33.18% 33.28% 49.00% 49.00%

MHR Holdings (Mauritius) Limited..........ccccoerrurirnnneeeeeeee e Mauritius 67.71% 67.93% 100.00% 100.00%

COVINGLON S.ALELL et Luxembourg 67.71% 67.93% 100.00% 100.00%

HCR Management Oy ... Finland 67.71% 67.93% 100.00% 100.00%

Holiday Club RESOIT OV .....ccuierereeriieeeireeiseeseetnei s sesessssenaas Finland 64.43% 62.45% 95.16% 91.93%

Kiinteistd Oy HIMOS Gardens .........ccuiuviernieniernieenniinissssssesssessssessssssnas Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Suomen Vapaa-aikakiinteistot Oy LKV ........ccooveevennecrnncceneneeeereeens Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy Himoksen Tahti 2.......ccccvviirrnininnnerreneeseseee s Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy Vanha YKKOStii .......coccueruvicincinicinisincccisisissssisessis Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy KatinnUIKKa..........cccveeeemrnccrereceereeeneseeseseseese e Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy Tenetinlahti..........ccoccniriiinieicnce s Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy MallOSNIEMI ......c.cuevrveeieeirieicierece e Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd6 Oy Rauhan Ranta 1.. Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy Rauhan Ranta 2.........c.ccvviicinicinisissisccsissssissiins Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy TiUrUNNIEMI ......ccuevreeecrerreeecrrereeree e seesereenes Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy Rauhan Liikekiinteistot 1 .....c.cccvivvecrrnirivcnicnisisisieenens Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

SUPErMArket Capri OY ..c.cccevereererreriereereeserse e sennes Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteisté Oy Kylpyléantorni 1... Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy Spa LOTLS 2. Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy SPa LOTLS 3.ttt ssessssennees Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteistd Oy Kuusamon PUIKKaJArvi 1.......ccoeivvieinirnicniniisecseisienens Finland 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Ownership Services SWeden AD ... Sweden 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

AT VIlIas 1 AB ...ttt Sweden 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

AT Villas 2 AB....corieeiteeetnieet ettt Sweden 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Are Villas 3 AB (w.e.f. 26™ January, 2018).......ccccvierrniceeenenicirereneeireens Sweden 64.43% 100.00%

Holiday Club SWeden Ab Are ......o...ooevveeosereeiseereeeseeeeeseesseessssssssesssnes Sweden 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Holiday Club Sport and Spahotels AB ...........ccccernrnnneenreeeeereeens Sweden 32.86% 31.85% 51.00% 51.00%

Holiday Club Resourts Rus LLC ............... Russia 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Holiday Club Canarias Investments S.L.U. ..o Spain 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Holiday Club Canarias Sales & Marketing S.L.U. ......cccceiriininininiiniciniinias Spain 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Holiday Club Canarias Resort Management S.L.U. .....ccccoouennencrcrnerecncnnes Spain 64.43% 62.45% 100.00% 100.00%

Arabian Dreams Hotel Apartments LLC @ ..........cocccevnieeerenenieeenerenseeirenens U.A.E 33.18% 33.28% 49.00% 49.00%

Mahindra Two Wheelers Limited ..........coccvrnienenincernenenerenenesreneseenenes India 92.25% 92.25%

Mahindra Two Wheelers Europe Holdings S.a.r.l......cccccovccninniiniciniinieas Luxembourg 100.00% 100.00%

PeUgeOt MOtOCYCIES S.A.S. .o ees France 51.00% 51.00%

Peugeot Motocycles Deutschland GMbH ... Germany 51.00% 51.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Peugeot Motocycles Italia S.p.A. ... Italy 51.00% 51.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Tractor Assembly INC. ......ooioireririeircice s US.A. 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Agri Solutions Limited .........cccoucreninniineencrnieeiseeenieas India 98.40% 98.40%

EPC Industrie Limited......ccooieiriicccrreeeseseee e India 54.65% 54.73%

Mahindra HZPC Private Limited........cccueueerieereeneneenieeneenieeneeeesesesesnensenas India 58.99% 59.95%

Mahindra Greenyard Private Limited..........cccconiiiinicininiicnicsccicis India 59.04% 59.04% 60.00% 60.00%

OFD HoldING B.V. et Netherlands 83.09% 60.00%
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Company Board'’s Management Discussion ~ Corporate Business Responsibility Standalone Consolidated

Overview Report and Analysis Governance Report Accounts Accounts
Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest * power where different
and Place of

Operation 2018 2017 2018 2017
Origin Direct Asia Ltd. ... Hong Kong 83.09% 60.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Origin Fruit DIreCt B.V. ..o nes Netherlands 83.09% 60.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Origin Fruit Services South America SPA ......ococevvrreennenssneneeereseees Chile 83.09% 60.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Origin Direct Asia (Shanghai) Trading Co. Limited .........ccoocovuerinicincininae China 83.09% 60.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone Limited.........coociiiinic s Cayman Islands 75.29% 75.35%
Bristlecone Consulting Limited .........ccvveeeeernienrnnceeneeeseneee s Canada 75.29% 75.35% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone (Malaysia) SANn. BNd. ........cocvieerrninnirnirrneneeseseese s Malaysia 75.29% 75.35% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone International AG. Switzerland 75.29% 75.35% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone UK LimMited .......cooeerrrreceerrnccierreceeesseeeesse e sesessnenes U.K. 75.29% 75.35% 100.00% 100.00%
BriSTIECONE INC. oot US.A. 75.29% 75.35% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone Middle East DMCC .......cceuveeieninenieeinenieieeseseesesnesesese s U.AE. 75.29% 75.35% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone India Limited........cccccvreiecrrinicerrcenreceee e India 75.29% 75.35% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecon@ GMBH.......c.ovciiree s Germany 75.29% 75.35% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone (Singapore) Pte. Limited .........ccoveeerniceneneeeneneeeneseceens Singapore 75.29% 75.35% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Intertrade Limited ..........ccooveernncenneeneseeeseseere s India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Steel Service Centre Limited .... India 61.00% 61.00%
Mahindra Electrical Steel Private Limited........ccccovemrncrnnncrnerenccrennes India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Auto Steel Private Limited........ccocvierriennenisnnenesereneeiens India 51.00% 51.00%
Mahindra MiddleEast Electrical Steel Service Centre (FZC) ......cccovuuneee U.A.E. 90.00% 90.00%
Mahindra Holdings Limited ... India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Overseas Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited................ Mauritius 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Racing S.p.A. ..o s Italy 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Racing UK Limited........ccocerrircrnicmniinisnceenieee s U.K. 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Susten Private Limited ....... India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Renewables Private Limited .........c.ccovrrrinirnnienieisseeeees India 100.00% 100.00%
Cleansolar Renewable Energy Private Limited .........ccccouvnivicininincinienn India 100.00% 100.00%
MachinePulse Tech Private Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
Divine Solren Private Limited.........cocoirrrrririrnnieeisissesis s India 100.00% 100.00%
Neo Solren Private Limited ... India 100.00% 100.00%
Marvel Solren Private LIMited ........cccevieirninieineniceseneee e India 100.00% 100.00%
Astra Solren Private Limited ........cocevrecrrnenecnccer e India 100.00% 100.00%
Mega Suryaurja Private Limited (formerly known as Mahindra
Suryaurja Private Limited) ... India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Engineering and Chemical Products Limited.........cccceovrernnnne. India 100.00% 100.00%
Retail Initiative Holdings Limited..........cccoocniciniiiiinicccsicnsscccias India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Retail Limited.........cccoerreiecrnnicecesesceeneseee e India 100.00% 100.00%
Defence Land Systems India Limited #..........ccoovninicncnicninniinienins India = 100.00%
Mahindra Defence Naval Systems Limited (formerly known as
Mahindra Defence Naval Systems Private Limited)........cccccovnenrcnrcnnucnne India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Defence Systems Limited .......cccoevrunene. India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra First Choice Wheels Limited @ India 51.06% 48.68%
Mahindra First Choice Services Limited ..........ccccovnermnereenneneenrenceenes India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Namaste LIMited ..........ccueunirriernienernienseeceeesseessesesessseennes India 84.78% 84.93% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Integrated Business Solutions Private Limited.........cccccveevueene. India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Telecommunications Investment Private Limited ###............. India — 100.00%
Mahindra ‘Electoral Trust’ COMPaNY.......cccocrrerrrrmneeremneseserseressereesessenes India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra eMarket Limited .........cooeirricemnienicnienesceeneeseseeenns India 83.47% 83.47% 100.00% 100.00%
Gateway Housing Company Limited ### ..........cccccovrinicnnninicicins India = 100.00%
Orizonte Business Solutions Limited .........ccccevreeurrnieeineniesneneeeereeens India 92.25% 98.14% 98.66 %
Mahindra Construction Company Limited ........ccccovvrnneennensenrennenns India 65.40% 64.99% 91.66% 91.66%
Officemartindia.com Limited .......coooeerreiennicesceseeeeseee s India 50.00% 50.00%
Mahindra & Mahindra Contech Limited @.........c.c.cooervmrncnnenscnerencnennes India 46.66% 46.66%
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Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest * power where different
and Place of

Operation 2018 2017 2018 2017

Mumbai Mantra Media LIimited ..........ccccveeeirirenireieceeeeeeeeeeeeiee India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Airways LIimited ... India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Marine Private Limited ... India 81.58% 81.58%

Mahindra MSTC Recycling Private Limited........ccoovvvrnennneneenrcnnenns India 50.00% 50.00%

Classic Legends Private Limited (upto 30" June, 2017) ... India — 60.00%

BSA Company Limited (Upto 30t June, 2017) ..c.ccovvvererencecerineeeirereeienns India — 60.00% 100.00%

Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited ESOP Trust ................. India 51.46% 51.54% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India Limited ESOP Trust India 67.71% 67.93% 100.00% 100.00%

M&M BENETIt TIUST ....evieicieeceeetee ettt India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra & Mahindra ESOP TrUSt.........ccceurururirurininisinisisisisie e iseseees India 100.00% 100.00%

ST-42-Jupiter Trust A Jan 13-Axis/ITSL (Upto 26% May, 2017) ......ccccevurcerenee India — 51.54%

ST-43-MM TRUST MAR 13 I-IDBI/ITSL (Upto 29* May, 2017)....cccccrurnecne. India — 51.54%

ST-44-MM TRUST MAR 13 II-Citi/ITSL (Upto 29*" May, 2017).....ccccrerruuvne India — 51.54%

ST-46-MM TRUST MAR 13 IV-HDFC/ITSL (Upto 29t* May, 2017).............. India — 51.54%

ST-47-MM TRUST MARCH 14 I-IDBI/ITSL (Upto 29t May, 2017) .............. India — 51.54%

ST-48-MM TRUST MARCH 14 II-YES/ITSL (Upto 26" May, 2017).............. India — 51.54%

ST-49-MM TRUST MARCH 14 llI-HDFC/ITSL (Upto 29 May, 2017) ......... India — 51.54%

ST-51-MM TRUST SEPTEMBER 14 -YES/ITSL ...ccooireeereeerenreeereeeeereneeieens India 51.46% 51.54%

ST-52-MM TRUST NOVEMBER 14 I-ICICI/ITSL c.cvereierieereereeereeeeese s India 51.46% 51.54%

ST-53-MM TRUST Feb 15-ICICI/ITSL ..cvveeireriirerenirereseresesesesese s India 51.46% 51.54%

ST-54-MM TRUST Mar 15 I-ICICH/ITSL covuieieieereeeeeee e India 51.46% 51.54%

ST-55-MM TRUST Mar 15 1I-HDFC/ITSL .. India 51.46% 51.54%

Sunrise INItIatives TrUST ... s India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra First Choice Wheels Limited ESOP Trust .......c.ccceceeueereneerennnnns India 51.06% 48.68% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Consulting Engineers Limited ESOP Trust ........c.ccoccvvueeenes India 84.78% 84.93% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Waste To Energy Solutions Limited (w.e.f. 25% June, 2017) India 100.00%

Mahindra Telecom Energy Management Services Limited

(W..F. 251 JUNE, 2017) ettt sttt sssss s sssssessssans India 100.00%

Mabhindra Fresh Fruits Distribution Holding Company (Europe) B.V.

(w.e.f. 17t November, 2017) ...ttt Netherlands 98.40% 100.00%

Mahindra Automotive North America Inc. (w.e.f. 25" April, 2017) USA 100.00%

Mahindra Vehicle Sales and Service Inc. (w.e.f. 6t June, 2017)......... USA 100.00%

Mahindra North American Technical Center, Inc. .......ccccvvunnnee USA 100.00% 100.00%

Erkunt Traktor Sanayii A.S. (w.e.f. 1t December, 2017) ......ccccoovuneenee Turkey 100.00%

Erkunt Sanayi A.S. (w.e.f. 1t December, 2017).....ccccoereverernenrnenienee Turkey 98.69%

Mabhindra Logistics Limited (w.e.f. 10" November, 2017) .......ccc.cc..... India 58.77%

Lords Freight (India) Private Limited (w.e.f.10®" November, 2017)..... India 35.26% 60.00%

2 x 2 Logistics Private Limited (w.e.f. 10" November, 2017) .............. India 32.33% 55.00%

Mahindra Emirates Vehicle Armouring FZ-LLC (w.e.f. 15" October, 2017) U.A.E. 88.00%

308

*  excluding shares issued to ESOP Trusts of the respective entities/their holding companies but not allotted to employees.

1t April, 2016 and 28" December, 2017.
##
1t January, 2017 and 18 October, 2017.
#i##
15t April, 2016 and 27* February, 2018.

the investees due to other factors that give power like control over composition of board, management control etc.
**  |n addition to JPY750million Common Stock (which represents 33.33% of the Common stock),the Company owns the entire JPY2250million “Class A"
shares (shares with no voting rights); “Class A" shares have rights over dividend and liquidation on an equal basis with Common Stock.
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(b) Details of Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiaries that have material Non Controlling Interest

Accounts

Consolidated
Accounts

Rupees crores

Sr. | Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of Profit / (Loss) Accumulated
No. Incorporation Ownership allocated to Non-controlling
and Place of || Interest and voting Non-controlling interest
Operation rights held by Non- interest
controlling interests
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
1 Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited........ India 48.54% 48.46% 526.35 236.66 | 4,681.61 3,211.16
2 Ssangyong Motor COmMPany......ccevernerensesieesesseeninnns South Korea 27.54% 27.54% || (144.93) 62.61 || 1,243.23 | 1,307.74
3 Individually Immaterial Non Controlling interest......... 65.99 53.22 | 2,325.63 | 1,838.00
TORAl . 447.40 352.49 | 8,250.47 | 6,356.90

Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited's Principal Activity - Financing of Automotive vehicles.

Ssangyong Motor Company's Principal Activity - Manufacturing & selling of vehicles & automotive parts

(c) Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations and are based on their
standalone financial statements.

Rupees crores

Particulars Mahindra & Mahindra Ssangyong Motor
Financial Services Limited Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
CUITENT ASSEES....vuieeierririeeeseeet ettt 23,902.08 20,700.62 3,704.02 3,759.43
NON CUITENT ASSETS ... 28,941.40 23,576.82 9,664.30 8,626.64
CUITENt Liabilities ...c.cuevreiereeceeieicesre et 18,238.24 15,243.85 6,004.40 5,306.74
Non CUrrent Liabilities......cceeeeeeeeicicececec ettt 24,960.39 22,407.16 2,849.65 2,330.85
Equity Interest attributable to the owners.........cocoeernnnnnccceeee 4,963.24 3,415.26 3,271.03 3,440.76
NON-coONtrolling INtErest......oveueeeeirrr s 4,681.61 3,211.16 1,243.23 1,307.74
REVENUE ... 7,177.96 6,644.67 20,410.44 21,153.12
EXPENSES ..ttt ettt ne e 6,157.92 6,143.59 20,908.87 20,919.94
Profit / (LOSS) fOr the YEar ...t 1,020.04 501.08 (498.43) 233.18
Profit / (Loss) attributable to the owners of the company..........ccccerrnnee. 493.70 264.42 (353.50) 170.57
Profit / (Loss) attributable to the Non-controlling interest ........ccccccvvurereenee 526.35 236.66 (144.93) 62.61
Dividends paid to Non-controlling interest...........cccovoerrrnnnncnccsinnsereneens 65.73 132.38 — —
Opening Cash & Cash EQUIVAIENTS........cccccerriiirnceee e 411.45 218.77 1,057.41 266.26
Closing Cash & Cash EQUIVAIENTS........ccciurueiririrrcreerisieie e 271.9 411.45 1,134.69 1,057.41
Net Cash iNFlOW / (OULFIOW) ..veevceiieceicecceeeeceeee e (139.55) 192.68 77.28 791.15
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36. Investment in Joint Arrangements and Associates :

Interests in Joint Ventures :

The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities of the Group are :

Name of the Entity Place of Proportion of ownership

Incorporation interest

and Place of

Operation 2018 2017
Mahindra World City (Jaipur) Limited # India 74.00% 74.00%
Mahindra Bebanco Developers Limited # India 70.00% 70.00%
Mahindra World City Developers Limited # India 89.00% 89.00%
Mahindra Homes Private Limited # India 74.98% 74.98%
Mahindra Inframan Water Utilities Private Limited India 50.00% 50.00%
Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private Limited # India 51.00% 51.00%
Mahindra Aerospace Private Limited # India 86.27% 66.67%
Mahindra Solar One Private Ltd. (upto 26" February, 2018) India — 26.00%
Mahindra Tsubaki Conveyor Systems Private Limited India 49.00% 49.00%
Mahindra Telephonics Integrated Systems Limited # India 51.00% 51.00%
Mabhindra Logistics Limited (Upto 9th Nov, 2018) India — 74.12%
Brightsolar Renewable Energy Private Limited # India 51.00% 51.00%
Mahindra Yueda (Yancheng) Tractor Company Limited (upto 24% August, 2018) China — 51.00%
Jinan Qingqi Peugeot Motocycles Co Ltd. China 50.00% 50.00%
Mahindra-BT Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited # Mauritius 57.00% 57.00%
SY Auto Capital Co., LTD # South Korea 51.00% 51.00%
Mahindra Emirates Vehicle Armouring FZ-LLC # (upto 14* October, 2017) UAE = 51.00%
Industrial Cluster Private Limited (w.e.f. 18" September, 2018)* India 100.00%
Classic Legend Private Limited (w.e.f. 15t July, 2018) # India 60.00%
Mahindra Happinest Developers Limited (w.e.f. 6t September, 2018) # India 51.00%
M.I.T.R.A Agro Equipments Private Limited (w.e.f. 15" February, 2018) India 27.06%
Resfeber Labs Private Limited (w.e.f. 28% March, 2018) India 23.47%
Tropiikin Rantasauna Oy Finland 47.58% 45.97%
Zoomcar India Private Limited (w.e.f. 16™ February, 2018)** India —

#  Entities have been treated as Joint Ventures even though the Group holds more than half of the voting power in these entities as it does
not have unilateral control over the investee, primarily due to existence of agreements that give the substantive rights to other investors.

*  As per agreement with other shareholders, the economic interest of Mahindra Lifespace Developers Limited is 50%.
**  Refer Note 34(b).

Interests in Associates :
The Group's interests in associates of the Group are :

Name of the Entity Place of Proportion of ownership

Incorporation and interest

Place of Operation 2018 2017
SWaraj ENgines LIMITed ..ot India 33.31% 33.22%
Tech Mahindra LIMiIted ........cceuiiinriririceenrss e et India 26.19% 26.33%
Mahindra Finance USA LLC USA 49.00% 49.00%
Mahindra CIE Automotive Limited #........ccccorrriiiinreeererre e India 17.25% 17.26%
CIE AUTOMOTIVE S.A. #eeeeeee ettt bbb Spain 7.44% 12.44%
PSL Media & Communications LIMIted .......c.ccceeueurrrniniicieieieserereecieies e India 40.00% 40.00%
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Company Board'’s Management Discussion ~ Corporate Business Responsibility Standalone Consolidated

Overview Report and Analysis Governance Report Accounts Accounts

Name of the Entity Place of Proportion of ownership

Incorporation and interest

Place of Operation 2018 2017
The East India Company Spirits Pte. Ltd. SINGAPOIe .....ccovveereeererrerreerereer s Singapore 20.00% 20.00%
The East India Company Group Ltd # ..o esesees UK 18.62% 18.62%
Kiinteistd Oy Sallan KyIPYI&.......ccoeririerecrcseereee e Finland 46.63% 49.00%
Kiinteistd Oy SENIOri-S@IMaa .........ccrureriucicirrirrecc e Finland 29.50% 31.15%
Shiga Mitsubishi €O, Ltd. .......ccciiirirrrecceeerrr s Japan 22.40% 22.40%
Kagawa Mitsubishi €O, Ltd. ... e Japan 33.33% 33.33%
Okanetsu KOGYO €O, Ltd.....cuirrriririeeinirisisiee sttt sessssesssenens Japan 33.77% 33.77%
Kita-lwate RYON0 €O, LEA. ..ccouiuiiieririicicieiein ettt e Japan 25.00% 25.00%
AJZU RYONO €O, LEO. . ettt Japan 21.25% 21.25%
Jyoban Ryon0 €0, Ltd. ..o e Japan 20.00% 20.00%
Fukuryo Kiki Hanbai €0, L. ... nenenene Japan 20.00% 20.00%
Ibaraki RYON0 €O, LEA. ..ottt nn Japan 21.64% 21.64%
KOtODUKI NOKI €0, LEG. ..eceveeiiieieieicetecere ettt st e b b bans Japan 33.33% 33.33%
Honda SeisakuSNo €O, LEA. ....cceeeeieeeeeeeceeceeteeete ettt be et se s b e b e b renes Japan 25.00% 25.00%
Yamaichi Honten KK Co, LEA. ..ottt sttt Japan 42.90% 42.86%
Hokkaido Mitsubishi Noki Partnership ... Japan 27.90% 27.90%
Tohoku Mitsubishi Noki Partnership ... sssesesesseseses Japan 28.28% 28.28%
Tobu Mitsubishi NOKi Partnership ...........ccocerrreirnieenrseccee s esees Japan 41.15% 40.90%
Chubu Mitsubishi NOKi Partnership...........ccoocerucrnrnineneeeis st sesssssseenens Japan 55.59% 49.88%
Seibu Mitsubishi NOKi Partnership ... Japan 37.47% 36.11%
Kyushu Mitsubishi Noki PartNership .........cccocerreeeennneecee s Japan 24.84% 24.84%
[ o Vo] o o Yo T 2 JA AT Netherland 40.00% 40.00%
Merakisan Private LIMited........ccoocriericrienieneccre e esenes India 33.17% 33.17%
SAMPO ROSENIEW O....cuerriereirereeereeere s ssssesssesnsseses Finland 35.00% 35.00%
Brainbees Solutions Private Limited.........cccouriceeeincece s India 26.76% 26.76%
Medwell Ventures Private LImited # ...t India 0.06% 0.06%
HDG-ASIA Lt oo Netherland 50.00% 50.00%
SCOOT NETWOTKS INC. vt USA 49.14% 12.96%
Carnot Technologies Private Limited (w.e.f. 9t March, 2018)*.........ccceeerrrineneeeeerinnnne India 23.66% —

* including participating preference shares.

The financial statements of the Associates are drawn upto 315t March, 2018, other than for CIE Automotive, S.A, Mahindra CIE Automotive
Limited and The East India Company Group Ltd where it is upto 315t December, 2017.

#  entities have been treated as Associate even though the Group holds less than 20% of the voting power in these entities as it has
influence over the entity due to the board representation.

All of the above associates/Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements.
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Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material associate is set out below:

Rupees crores

Particulars Tech Mahindra Limited -
Consolidated
2018 2017
Current assets
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS ... ettt bbbt 1,966.06 2,001.27
Other assets............ 16,140.94 14,325.27
Total current assests 18,107.00 16,326.54
TOTAI NON-CUITENT @SSESTS .....vieeieeieciececti ettt ettt e st et e et e e st et e e ebesbeebesbesbesbeebasbe st e e esessseseeseeaeebeabesbesbasbesbasbeseetaneas 12,330.24 9,740.00
Current liabilities
FINANCIAT TTADTITTIES «...veveeveceietecee ettt ettt e beeae e b e sbe st e s besba s e s ensensenseseessereebeetesreetessesbensanes 4,868.54 3,568.87
OtNET LIADITITES. .. vttt et et s b et et e e st e e bt e b e ebeebe et e ebe st e b e sbesansesseneeasebeeaeebeebesaeabesbebannan 4,278.53 4,054.44
TOTAl CUITENT [IADITITIES ..ttt et e b e et e s be st e sbe b eseeseeseeseesseseeseetesbesbestesbentannan 9,147.06 7,623.31
TOtal NON-CUITENT HADIIITIES ...eeveeeereeeeeeietce ettt sttt r s eebese b e s sbe s et eseetenessesessesennnis 1,938.25 1,541.92
NON-CONTIOIING INTEIEST ...ttt bbbt b et f et bbb e s e et en 509.05 464.12

Revenue from Operations 30,772.93 29,140.84

INEEIEST INCOMIE ...ttt bbb bbb e e bbbt d bbbttt en e 145.50 124.84
Depreciation and @mMOrtiSatioN .. ...t eas 1,084.98 978.06
INTEIEST COST ... ittt b e b e bt e £ e e R e e st e A e R e b s b e e e R et e R e e ne et ne e b e e R e Rt e b e e b e e s 162.38 128.59
INCOME TAX EXPENSE ..ttt ettt et a b e s e e R e £ e e e R s R s e e e e R e e R e s e b e e e R e e R e e e Rt ne e s e neene e e b e e ere e ns 1,092.64 1,002.13
Profit / (LOSS) TOI TN@ YEAT ...ttt b ettt bbbt et en 3,786.22 2,850.87
Other Comprehensive INCOME TOr The YEAT.......o et (218.99) 83.34
Total Other Comprehensive INCOME fOr the YEAT ... e 3,567.24 2,934.21

Tech Mahindra Limited’s Principal Activity - Information Technology (IT) and IT Enabled Services

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Rupees crores

Particulars Tech Mahindra Limited -

Consolidated

2018 2017
Closing Net assets 18,842.82 16,437.19
Group share in % 26.19% 26.33%
LT U oI - T OO OO TORSRSRTTN 4,934.93 4,327.91
GOOAWIll & OTher AQJUSTMENTS .....oiecccicret et r et nene 496.31 496.31
CAITYING @MOUNT c..cettteieccecece et R R e et E R et e R e R s e e et ren s en et eierene 5,431.24 4,779.92
IMATKET VAIUE ...eesiteieeec st et R et 16,356.35 11,786.47
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38. Related Party Disclosures :

Business Responsibility Standalone
Report

Consolidated

Accounts Accounts

(a) Names of related parties where transactions have taken place during the year:

(i) Direct & Indirect Associates :
Sl. No. | Name of the Company Sl. No. | Name of the Company
1 Mahindra CIE Automotive Limited 1 Brainbees Solutions Private Limited
2 Tech Mahindra Limited 12 The East India Company Group Ltd.
3 CIE Automotive, S.A. 13 HDG-Asia Ltd
4 Swaraj Engines Limited 14 Mahindra Gears Transmission Private Limited
5 Mahindra Finance USA, LLC (upto 315t December, 2017)
6 Pininfarina S.p.A. 15 PSL Media & Communications Limited
7 PF Holdings B.V. 16 Kumsan Dokum Mazelmeri A.S.
8 Satyam Venture Engineering Services Private Limited 17 Sampo-Rosenlew Oy, Finland
9 Tech Mahindra (Shanghai) Co. Limited 18 Scoot Networks Inc.
10 Merakisan Private Limited
(ii) Joint Ventures :
Sl. No. | Name of the Company Sl. No. | Name of the Company
1 Mahindra Solar One Private Limited 15 Mahindra Aerospace Private Limited
(upto 26t February, 2018)
2 Mahindra Tsubaki Conveyor Systems Private Limited 16 Mahindra-BT Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited
3 Mahindra Logistics Limited (upto 9t" November, 2018) | 17 Jinan Qingqi Peugeot Motocycles Co. Ltd.
4 Mahindra Homes Private Limited 18 | 2 x 2 Logistics Private Limited (Upto 9" November, 2017)
5 Mahindra Bebanco Developers Limited 19 Gipps Aero Pty Limited
6 Mahindra Telephonics Integrated Systems Limited 20 Lords Freight (India) Private Limited (Upto 9th
November, 2017)
7 Mahindra Industrial Park Chennai Limited 21 Mahindra Suryaprakash Private Limited
8 Brightsolar Renewable Energy Private Limited 22 Mahindra Emirates Vehicle Armouring FZ - LLC
9 Mahindra Yueda (Yancheng) Tractor Company Limited 23 Mahindra Happinest Developers Limited
(upto 24* August, 2017) (w.e.f. 24* October, 2017)
10 Mahindra Aerostructures Private Limited 24 Classic Legends Private Limited (w.e.f. 01t July, 2017)
" Mahindra World City (Jaipur) Limited 25 M.IL.T.R.A Agro Equipments Private Limited
(w.e.f. 15* February, 2018)
12 Mahindra World City Developers Limited 26 Mabhindra Inframan Water Utilities Pvt Ltd
13 Mahindra Sona Limited (upto 16" December, 2016) 27 SY Auto Capital Co., LTD
14 Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private Limited
(iii) Key Management Personnel (KMP) :
Sl. No. | Designation Name of KMP
1 Executive Chairman Mr. Anand G. Mahindra
2 Managing Director Dr. Pawan Goenka

(iv) Enterpris

e over which KMP is able to exercise significant influence :

Sl. No.

Name of the Company

1

Prudential Management & Services Pvt Ltd

(v) Welfare Funds :

Sl. No.

Name of the Funds

1

2
3
4

M&M Employees' Welfare Fund No. 1
M&M Employees' Welfare Fund No. 2
M&M Employees' Welfare Fund No. 3
Mahindra World School Education Trust

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited



(b) The related party transactions are as under :

Rupees crores

Sl. | Nature of Transactions For the Year Associates / Joint KMP / KMP Welfare
No. Ended Associates of Ventures / Exercising Funds
315t March Subsidiaries/ || Joint Ventures Significant
Subsidiaries of ||of Subsidiaries Influence /
Associate close member
of KMP
1 Purchases :
GOOMS....ecvrieeeereeeeae et s b ennaenes 2018 2,332.75 131.78 - -
2017 1,883.85 384.49 - -
Property, Plant and Equipment .......c.cccccvunenee. 2018 13.61 0.04 - -
2017 6.36 0.46 - -
SEIVICES ittt 2018 202.23 1,002.54 0.18 -
2017 189.16 1,397.25 - -
2 Sales :
(€T Yo Yo 3TN 2018 127.27 55.50 - -
2017 164.94 7.42 4.25 -
Property, Plant and Equipment...........ccccceueuueee. 2018 0.23 - - -
2017 - - - -
SBIVICES cuvvrrereerererereee e ererseeeseereesesesseesesenssesseennens 2018 46.78 45.26 0.42 0.05
2017 8.22 24.64 - -
LASE et e 2018 - - - -
2017 - 1.52 - -
3 Investments :
Purchases / Subscribed / Conversion ................. 2018 173.40 501.06 - -
2017 253.40 213.46 - -
Sales / Redemption / Conversion ... 2018 20.93 32.08 0.01 -
2017 - - 0.02 -
4 Management contracts including Deputation of
personnel :
From Parti€s......coecevevreeneninencneseeneseeesesieees 2018 0.59 - - -
2017 0.04 0.04 - -
TO Parties....ccvvcvcices 2018 3.83 2.09 - -
2017 3.93 0.98 - -
5 Managerial Remuneration ........c.cccoevnecrrenenee 2018 - - 16.73 -
2017 - - 15.06 -
6 Stock Options given by the Company ............. 2018 - - 3.51 -
2017 - - - -
7 Commission and other benefits to Non-
executive / independent directors (including
NOMINEE dir€CLOrS)....cvuveeeereceeerereereererennererenens 2018 - - 3.73 -
2017 - - 2.76 -
8 Write back of provision for doubtful debts /
AAVANCES ..o 2018 - - - -
2017 - 1.80 - -
9 Finance :
Inter Corporate deposits given.........ccoeceerenenee. 2018 28.79 178.65 - -
2017 8.02 20.94 - -
Inter Corporate Deposits Refunded by parties.... 2018 - 130.65 - -
2017 - 14.29 - -
Loan giveN.....ccccvicircc s 2018 - - 4.50 -
2017 - - - -
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Rupees crores
SI. | Nature of Transactions For the Year Associates / Joint KMP / KMP Welfare
No. Ended Associates of Ventures / Exercising Funds
31tMarch Subsidiaries/ || Joint Ventures Significant
Subsidiaries of || of Subsidiaries Influence /
Associate close member
of KMP
Inter Corporate deposits taken ........c.cccceevurenee 2018 180.00 7.7 - -
2017 417.00 - - -
Inter Corporate deposits refunded................... 2018 505.00 - - -
2017 - - 4.50 -
Interest Income........ccoovviviiicicce 2018 - 59.27 0.44 -
2017 - 50.57 0.26 -
Interest EXPENSE ......ccvveecerevececrneneereereeereenenes 2018 8.62 1.39 - -
2017 2.09 2.47 - -
Dividend received.........cococvvvccrnnicemnenecrennenes 2018 294.86 6.66 - -
2017 364.34 32.54 - -
Dividend distributed........c.cccvemerierenrinecincnnnns 2018 - - 94.62 2.64
2017 - - 87.29 2.44
10 | Other Transactions :
Other INCOME.....vccceee e 2018 5.22 3.24 - -
2017 2.34 3.49 0.35 -
Other EXPENSES.....c.cuiieeeeericieireneeieereseeseesesienns 2018 193.33 81.54 - 2.00
2017 160.57 99.21 0.95 -
Reimbursements received from parties............ 2018 6.29 18.98 - 1.50
2017 12.30 13.83 - 0.80
Reimbursements made to parties........cccconene.. 2018 4.26 2.19 - -
2017 4.19 2.14 - 0.08
GUAraNtee given .....cocceeereeeeereneereeseneeseenesaenns 2018 - - - -
2017 792.70 - - -
11 | Outstandings :
PaYabIe ... 2018 358.62 6.38 412 -
2017 267.95 105.26 3.81 -
RECEIVADIE ..o 2018 91.70 182.98 12.51 17.00
2017 113.08 176.52 5.91 17.00
Debenture / Bonds issued by parties................ 2018 - 394.87 - -
2017 - 320.17 - -
Inter Corporate Deposits given .........ccccoeueueunee. 2018 29.14 771 - -
2017 - 27.65 - -
Inter Corporate Deposits taken.........c.cocccvunenee. 2018 125.00 7.7 - -
2017 417.00 25.00 - -
12 | Provision for Doubtful debts / advances.......... 2018 - - 1.90 10.00
2017 - 1.74 - 10.00
13 | Security Deposit paid.........cocoevvereerreneererreneenns 2018 0.02 0.32 - -
2017 0.02 1.04 - -
14 | AdVaNCeS GIVEN ..ot 2018 - - - -
2017 26.68 - 0.02 -
15 | Advances refunded........ccocovennncenicennsenennenns 2018 - - - -
2017 24.24 0.44 - -
16 | Guarantees given outstanding .......c.ccccccerennenne 2018 847.96 - - -
2017 792.70 - - -

Mahindra & Mahindra Limited



39. Employees Stock Option Plan :

The Company has allotted 55,24,219 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 10 each, 10,00,000 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 10 each, 1,73,53,034
Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each, 19,11,628 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each and 52,00,000 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each
in the years ended 315t March, 2002, 315t March, 2010, 31t March, 2011, 315t March 2014 and 31t March, 2015 respectively to the Mahindra &
Mahindra Employees’ Stock Option Trust set up by the Company. The trust holds these shares for the benefit of the employees and issues
them to the eligible employees as per the recommendation of the Compensation Committee.

Options granted under Mahindra & Mahindra Limited Employees Stock Option Scheme - 2000 (2000 Scheme") vest in 4 equal instalments
on the expiry of 12 Months, 24 Months, 36 Months and 48 Months from the date of grant. The options may be exercised on any day over
a period of five years from the date of vesting. Number of vested options exercisable is subject to a minimum of 50 or number of options
vested whichever is lower.

Options granted under Mahindra & Mahindra Limited Employees Stock Option Scheme - 2010 (“2010 Scheme”) vest in :
i) 5 equal instalments on the expiry of 12 Months, 24 Months, 36 Months, 48 Months and 60 Months from the date of grant, OR

ii) 4 instalments bifurcated as 20% on the expiry of 18 months, 20% on the expiry of 30 months, 30% on the expiry of 42 months and 30%
on the expiry of 54 months

The options may be exercised on any day over a period of 5 years from the date of vesting. Number of vested options exercisable is subject
to a minimum of 50 or number of options vested whichever is lower.

Summary of stock options

Nature of Transactions No. of s?ock Weighted

options average

exercise price

(Rs.)

Options outstanding on 1t April, 2017 (including 52,76,838 options outstanding from 4 years vesting grants)* ..... 77,48,104 14.57

Options granted during the year (including 112,996 options with 4 years vesting grant)*..........cccceoereinnninieniennnns 415,454 2.50
Options forfeited/lapsed during the year (including 143,840 options forfeited from 4 years vesting grants)

oL (=T oo 41U 3OS 4,47,084 80.75
Options forfeited/lapsed during the year (including 39,312 options forfeited from 4 years vesting grants)

POSE DONUS ..t h et h bR R R e R R E oA E R e R e eh R e R e R e R e R e R e R e R e e e e e e e e ne et eneeae e 49,588 2.50

Options exercised during the year (including 490,998 options exercised from 4 years vesting grants) pre bonus*... 12,28,102 34.08

Options exercised during the year (including 342,866 options exercised from 4 years vesting grants) post bonus... 4,76,094 4.7

Options outstanding on 315t March, 2018 (including 43,72,818 options outstanding from 4 years vesting grants).... 59,62,690 5.63

Options vested but not exercised on 315t March, 2018 (including 851,613 options vested from 4 years vesting grants) 16,06,472 28.24

*  The above mentioned no of shares and weighted average price have been adjusted for bonus declared by the Company on
215t December, 2017.

Average share price on the date of exercise of the options are as under (adjusted for bonus shares)

Date of exercise Weighted
average share

price (Rs.)

24 April, 2017 10 237 MArCh, 2018.....cuecerveeireeereeereeeeseseeseseeeseese e e seeseseesesessesessesessesesaeseseeseseesansssenessensssesessesensnsens 704.16

Information in respect of options outstanding as at 31°t March, 2018 (adjusted for bonus shares)

Range of exercise price Number of Weighted
options average
remaining life

RS, 2,50 ettt h et A h £ e R e £ e e oA e Re R e eReeheeReeRe SR e A e Ee A e £ e aEenE e At eReeReeReeReeReeEeeRenReneeneteneenean 58,74,938 5.98 years
LT L0 SRRSO PPN 67,752 0.59 Years
L2 ETC 1 2 0L PSSR 20,000 2.98 Years
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The fair values of options granted during the year are as follows (adjusted for bonus shares) :

Grant Date No of years vesting Fair value per options
29t IMAY, 2017 ..ttt bbbt bbb nenas 5 years Rs. 633.89
9t November, 2017 ... 5 years Rs. 646.99
9t NOVEMDET, 20717 ..ttt s e ettt s et s s ene b senes 4 years Rs. 645.81
The fair value has been calculated using the Black Scholes Options Pricing Model and the significant assumptions made in this regard are
as follows :
Grant dated
9*" November, 2017 9*" November, 2017 29* May, 2017
(5 years vesting) (4 years vesting) (5 years vesting)
Risk free interest rate ......cocvveeeeninnnseeecsesse s 6.82% 6.85% 6.86%
EXPECEA [IfE .evveeieeeerie s 5.51 years 5.70 years 5.51 years
Expected VOlatility........cccovererreerrenreereeenee e 26.38% 26.47% 27.27%
Expected dividend yield ... 0.95% 0.95% 0.97%
Exercise Price (Rs.) (adjusted for bonus shares)................... 2.50 2.50 2.50
Stock Price (Rs.) (adjusted for bonus shares) .........ccccceueunne 683.50 683.50 670.43

40. Contingent Liability & Commitments :

A. Contingent Liability

(a)

(b)

()

Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts comprise of :

(i) Excise Duty, Sales Tax and Service Tax claims disputed by the Group relating to issues of applicability and classification
aggregating Rs. 2,420.33 crores before tax (2017 : Rs. 3,700.07 crores before tax).

(ii) Other matters (excluding claims where amounts are not ascertainable) : Rs. 151.13 crores before tax (2017 : Rs. 277.37 crores
before tax)

Taxation matters :

(i) Demands against the Group not acknowledged as debts and not provided for, relating to issues of deductibility and taxability
in respect of which the Group is in appeal and exclusive of the effect of similar matters in respect of assessments remaining
to be completed :

- Income-tax : Rs. 1,467.03 crores (2017 : Rs. 1069.96 crores)

(ii) Items in respect of which the Group has succeeded in appeal, but the Income-tax Department is pursuing / likely to pursue in
appeal / reference and exclusive of the effect of similar matters in respect of assessments remaining to be completed :

- Income-tax matters : Rs. 335.58 crores (2017 : Rs. 382.18 crores)

The Customs, Excise and Service Tax Appellate Tribunal (CESTAT) by its order dated 7t" December, 2009 has rejected the Company’s
appeal against the order dated 30 March, 2005 passed by the Commissioner of Central Excise (Adjudication), Navi Mumbai
confirming the demand made on the Company for payment of differential excise duty (including penalty) of Rs. 304.10 crores in
connection with the classification of Company’s Commander range of vehicles, during the years 1991 to 1996. Whilst the Company
had classified the Commander range of vehicles as 10-seater attracting a lower rate of excise duty, the Commissioner of Central
Excise (Adjudication), Navi Mumbai, has held that these vehicles could not be classified as 10-seater as they did not fulfil the
requirement of 10-seater vehicles, as provided under the Motor Vehicles Act, 1988 (MVA) read with Maharashtra Motor Vehicles
Rules, 1989 (MMVR) and as such attracted a higher rate of excise duty. The Company has challenged the CESTAT order in the
Supreme Court.

In earlier collateral proceedings on this issue, the CESTAT had, by an order dated 19* July, 2005 settled the controversy in the
Company's favour. The CESTAT had accepted the Company’s submission that MVA and MMVR could not be referred to for
determining the classification for the purpose of levy of excise duty and rejected the Department’s appeal against the order of
the Collector, Central Excise classifying the Commander range of vehicles as 10-seater. The Department had challenged the CESTAT
order in the Supreme Court.
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Without prejudice to the grounds raised in this appeal, the Company has paid an amount of Rs. 40.00 crores in January, 2010. The
Supreme Court has admitted the Company’s appeal and has stayed the recovery of the balance amount till further orders.

Both these orders of the Tribunals were heard and disposed off by the Honorable Supreme Court, in August 2014. Since contrary
views were expressed by the Tribunals in two parallel proceedings, the Honorable Supreme Court directed that a larger bench of
the Tribunal be constituted to hear the appeals without expressing any opinion on the issues.

The Larger Bench of the CESTAT heard the matter in February, 2015 and by an order dated 27" February, 2015, remanded the matter
to the Commissioner of Central Excise for consideration of the case afresh keeping all issues open.The matter is presently pending
before the Honorable Commissioner. The company strongly believes, based on legal advice it has received, that it has a good case
on merits and would eventually succeed in the matter. As regards Commander case the matter is still pending adjudication before
the Commissioner. However, pending the final outcome, basis the earlier adjudication order, the Company has reflected the above
amount aggregating Rs. 304.10 crores (including penalty) and the interest of Rs. 390.72 crores accrued on the same upto 31t March,
2018, under Note (a)(i) above.
In another case relating to Armada range of vehicles manufactured during the years 1992 to 1996, by the Company at its Nashik
facility, the Commissioner of Central Excise, Nashik passed an order dated 20* March, 2006 confirming a demand of Rs. 24.75 crores,
on the same grounds as adopted for Commander range of vehicles. This matter was heard by the Honorable Tribunal at Mumbai,
which was pleased to allow the Company's appeal.

(d) In respect of (a) & (b) above, it is not practicable for the Company to estimate the closure of these issues and the consequential
timings of cash flows, if any.

B. Commitments:

The estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for as at 31 March, 2018 is
Rs. 1,032.41 crores (2017 : Rs.1,151.48 crores) and other commitment as at 31t March, 2018 is Rs. 2,028.73 crores (2017 : Rs. 714.88 crores)

41. Research and Development expenditure :

Research and Development expenditure debited to the Statement of Profit and Loss, including certain expenditure based on allocations made
by the Group, aggregate Rs. 1,426.20 crores (2017 : Rs. 1,352.67 crores)

42. The Scheme of Arrangement (‘The Scheme’) for merger of Two Wheeler business of the Company's subsidiary, Mahindra Two Wheelers
Limited (MTWL), with the Company has been approved by the Mumbai Bench of National Company Law Tribunal and on completion of the
required formalities on 25% October, 2017, the Scheme has become effective from appointed date i.e., 1°* October, 2016. As per the terms
of the Scheme, 5,03,888 Ordinary (Equity) shares (pre-bonus) of Rs. 5 each of the Company have been issued and allotted to the minority
shareholders of MTWL as fully paid up in the ratio of 1 (One) Ordinary (Equity) Share for every 461 (Four Hundred and Sixty One) fully
paid-up Equity Shares held in MTWL.

43. Additional information as required by Schedule Il to the Companies Act, 2013 :

Statement of Net Assets and profit and loss and other comprehensive income attributable to Owners and Non-controlling Interest
Rupees crores
Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or loss profit or loss profit or loss

PARENT

Mahindra and Mahindra Limited 82.38% | 30,294.04 54.74% 4,356.01 -2.55% (10.17) 52.01% 4,345.84

SUBSIDIARIES

Indian

Mahindra Vehicle Manufacturers Limited 11.60% 4,264.62 4.38% 348.73 0.31% 1.25 4.19% 349.98

Mahindra Heavy Engines Limited 0.93% 343.25 0.16% 13.02 0.02% 0.07 0.16% 13.09

Mahindra Electric Mobility Limited 0.64% 235.93 -1.62% (129.01) 0.25% 1.00 -1.53% (128.01)

Mahindra Trucks and Buses Limited 0.33% 121.93 0.26% 21.07 1.93% 7.68 0.34% 28.75
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Rupees crores

Name of the Enterprise

Net assets, i.e., total assets

Share of Profit or loss

Share of Comprehensive

Share of Total

minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or loss profit or loss profit or loss

Mahindra Automobile Distributor Private Limited 0.06% 20.23 0.14% 11.20 0.00% - 0.13% 11.20
NBS International Limited 0.00% (0.10) -0.09% (7.54) 0.00% (0.01) -0.09% (7.55)
Gromax Agri equipment Ltd 0.07% 24.61 -0.02% (1.59) 0.00% (0.00) -0.02% (1.59)
Auto Digitech Private Limited 0.00% 0.43 -0.07% (5.52) 0.00% 0.02 -0.07% (5.50)
Kota Farm Services Limited 0.00% (0.30) 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% -
Trringo.com Limited 0.01% 3.21 -0.14% (11.15) 0.00% - -0.13% (11.15)
Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited 26.23% 9,644.86 13.63% 1,085.02 -3.09% (12.29) 12.84% 1,072.73
Mahindra Insurance Brokers Limited 0.86% 315.51 0.67% 53.59 -0.36% (1.42) 0.62% 52.17
Mahindra Rural Housing Finance Limited 1.95% 717.70 1.71% 135.80 -0.02% (0.08) 1.62% 135.72
Mahindra Asset Management Company Private Limited 0.16% 57.28 -0.47% (37.43) -0.02% (0.08) -0.45% (37.51)
Mahindra Trustee Company Private Limited 0.00% 0.23 0.00% 0.01 0.00% - 0.00% 0.01
MMFSL Securitisation Trust SPV 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% -
Mahindra Lifespace Developers Limited 4.91% 1,805.64 0.67% 53.12 -0.22% (0.86) 0.63% 52.26
Mabhindra Infrastructure Developers Limited 0.00% 1.82 0.00% 0.04 0.00% - 0.00% 0.04
Mahindra World City (Maharashtra) Limited -0.02% (7.72) -0.01% (0.82) 0.00% - -0.01% (0.82)
Mahindra Integrated Township Limited 0.25% 91.88 0.06% 4.86 0.00% - 0.06% 4.86
Knowledge Township Limited 0.06% 23.49 0.00% 0.17 0.00% - 0.00% 0.17
Mahindra Residential Developers Limited 0.25% 93.62 0.04% 3.52 0.00% - 0.04% 3.52
Industrial Township (Maharashtra) Limited 0.01% 4.83 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Anthurium Developers Limited 0.00% 0.20 0.00% 0.05 0.00% - 0.00% 0.05
Mahindra Water Utilities Limited 0.17% 61.68 0.10% 8.20 0.00% - 0.10% 8.20
Rathna Bhoomi Enterprises Private Limited 0.00% (0.03) 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% -
Deepmangal Developers Private Limited 0.00% (0.16) 0.00% (0.04) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.04)
Moonshine Construction Private Limited 0.00% (0.30) 0.00% (0.00) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.00)
Mahindra Consulting Engineers Limited 0.04% 16.13 0.01% 0.59 0.00% - 0.01% 0.59
Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India Limited 2.08% 764.45 1.69% 134.36 -0.18% (0.72) 1.60% 133.64
Mahindra Hotels and Residences India Limited 0.00% (0.11) 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Gables Promoters Private Limited 0.17% 61.45 -0.03% (2.72) 0.00% - -0.03% (2.72)
Mahindra Two Wheelers Limited 0.02% 6.91 0.03% 2.16 0.62% 2.48 0.06% 4.64
Mahindra Agri Solutions Limited 0.24% 89.71 -0.80% (63.31) -0.06% (0.23) -0.76% (63.54)
EPC Industrie Limited 0.38% 139.92 0.06% 4.94 0.00% - 0.06% 4.94
Mahindra HZPC Private Limited 0.01% 2.01 -0.23% (18.60) 0.00% 0.01 -0.22% (18.59)
Mahindra Greenyard Private Limited 0.01% 4.03 -0.07% (5.74) 0.00% 0.02 -0.07% (5.72)
Bristlecone India Limited 0.28% 103.83 0.36% 28.31 0.00% - 0.34% 28.31
Mahindra Intertrade Limited 1.46% 535.24 0.78% 62.33 0.03% 0.10 0.75% 62.43
Mahindra Steel Service Centre Limited 0.29% 105.49 0.10% 8.14 0.00% - 0.10% 8.14
Mahindra Electrical Steel Private Limited 0.00% (1.57) -0.01% (0.86) 0.00% - -0.01% (0.86)
Mahindra Auto Steel Private Limited 0.24% 89.86 0.16% 12.75 0.00% - 0.15% 12.75
Mahindra Holdings Limited 3.24% 1,190.68 0.04% 3.18 0.00% - 0.04% 3.18
Mahindra Susten Private Limited 1.63% 598.16 0.59% 46.97 0.00% - 0.56% 46.97
Mahindra Renewables Private Limited 0.78% 285.34 -0.01% (0.65) 0.00% - -0.01% (0.65)
Cleansolar Renewable Energy Private Limited 0.17% 62.73 0.02% 1.44 0.00% - 0.02% 1.44
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Statement of net assets and profit and loss and other comprehensive income attributable to Owners and Non-controlling interest (contd.)

Rupees crores

Name of the Enterprise

Net assets, i.e., total assets

Share of Profit or loss

Share of Comprehensive

Share of Total

minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or loss profit or loss profit or loss

MachinePulse Tech Private Limited 0.00% 0.01 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.02)
Divine Solren Private Limited 0.21% 71.52 0.05% 3.78 0.00% - 0.05% 3.78
Neo Solren Private Limited 0.19% 69.50 0.07% 5.51 0.00% - 0.07% 5.51
Marvel Solren Private Limited 0.00% (0.05) 0.00% (0.04) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.04)
Astra Solren Private Limited 0.17% 62.37 0.01% 0.56 0.00% - 0.01% 0.56
Mega Suryaurja Private Limited 0.00% 0.02 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.02)
Mahindra Engineering and Chemical Products Limited 2.11% 774.83 0.04% 3.03 0.00% - 0.04% 3.03
Retail Initiative Holdings Limited -0.37% (137.11) 0.00% (0.06) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.06)
Mahindra Retail Private Limited 0.83% 303.97 -0.50% (39.49) 0.05% 0.21 -0.47% (39.28)
Mahindra Defence Naval Systems Private Limited 0.00% 1.05 -0.06% (5.00) 0.03% 0.11 -0.06% (4.89)
Mahindra Defence Systems Limited 0.62% 229.38 0.19% 15.04 0.09% 0.35 0.18% 15.39
Mahindra First Choice Wheels Limited 0.33% 121.66 -0.40% (31.91) -0.24% (0.95) -0.39% (32.86)
Mahindra First Choice Services Limited -0.14% (52.36) -0.51% (40.39) 0.04% 0.15 -0.48% (40.24)
Mahindra Namaste Limited 0.00% 0.19 0.00% 0.07 0.00% - 0.00% 0.07
Mahindra Integrated Business Solutions Private Limited 0.02% 7.93 0.01% 0.91 -0.04% (0.14) 0.01% 0.77
Mahindra ‘Electoral Trust’ Company 0.00% 0.04 0.00% (0.00) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.00)
Mahindra eMarket Limited 0.00% (0.09) 0.00% (0.05) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.05)
Orizonte Business Solutions Limited 0.03% 10.20 -0.28% (22.64) 0.00% - -0.27% (22.64)
Mahindra Construction Company Limited -0.06% (22.43) 0.00% (0.16) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.16)
Officemartindia.com Limited 0.00% (0.24) 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% -
Mahindra & Mahindra Contech Limited 0.03% 11.90 0.01% 0.95 0.01% 0.03 0.01% 0.98
Sunrise Initiatives Trust 0.33% 122.30 0.00% (0.12) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.12)
Mumbai Mantra Media Limited 0.00% 0.37 -0.03% (2.10) 0.00% 0.00 -0.03% (2.10)
Mahindra Marine Private Limited 0.03% 10.06 -0.02% (1.50) 0.01% 0.04 -0.02% (1.46)
Mahindra MSTC Recycling Private Limited 0.05% 17.60 -0.03% (2.61) -0.01% (0.04) -0.03% (2.65)
Mahindra Airways Limited 0.00% 0.76 0.00% (0.07) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.07)
Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited ESOP
Trust 0.09% 32.26 0.03% 2.16 0.00% - 0.03% 2.16
Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India Limited ESOP Trust 0.02% 8.06 0.02% 1.57 0.00% - 0.02% 1.57
M&M Benefit Trust 3.97% 1,459.78 0.78% 62.20 0.00% - 0.74% 62.20
Mahindra & Mahindra ESOP Trust 1.30% 476.45 0.52% 41.39 0.05% 0.18 0.50% 41.57
Mahindra First Choice Wheels Ltd ESOP Trust 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% -
Mahindra Consulting Engineers Limited ESOP Trust 0.01% 3.26 0.00% 0.04 0.00% - 0.00% 0.04
Mahindra Waste To Energy Solutions Limited 0.01% 2.38 0.00% (0.13) -0.12% (0.47) -0.01% (0.60)
Mahindra Telecom Energy Management Services
Limited 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Mahindra Logistics Limited 1.14% 418.90 0.40% 32.19 -0.19% (0.77) 0.38% 31.42
Lords Freight (India) Private Limited 0.02% 7.25 0.03% 2.37 0.01% 0.05 0.03% 2.42
2 x 2 Logistics Private Limited 0.02% 9.05 0.01% 0.73 0.00% - 0.01% 0.73
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Statement of net assets and profit and loss and other comprehensive income attributable to Owners and Non-controlling interest (contd.)

Rupees crores

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or loss profit or loss profit or loss
Foreign
Mahindra Automotive Australia Pty. Limited A 0.02% 8.51 -0.09% (7.37) 0.00% - -0.09% (7.37)
Ssangyong Motor Company » 12.29% 4,521.36 -6.89% (548.37) 73.31% 292.03 -3.07% (256.35)
Ssangyong Motor (Shanghai) Company Limited > 0.01% 5.25 -0.10% (7.78) 0.00% - -0.09% (7.78)
Ssangyong European Parts Center B.V. € -0.06% (21.47) 0.01% 0.92 0.00% - 0.01% 0.92
Mahindra Europe S.r.l. € 0.04% 13.57 -0.04% (3.06) 0.00% - -0.04% (3.06)
Mahindra and Mahindra South Africa (Proprietary)
Limited Z 0.25% 90.73 -0.02% (1.68) 3.20% 12.76 0.13% 11.08
Mahindra Graphic Research Design S.r.l. € 0.01% 4.67 -0.01% (1.14) 0.00% - -0.01% (1.14)
Mahindra West Africa Limited ¢ 0.00% 1.06 0.00% (0.04) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.04)
Mahindra International UK Limited £ 0.00% 0.22 -0.05% (3.62) 0.00% - -0.04% (3.62)
Mahindra USA Inc. $ 0.42% 155.45 0.28% 22.42 0.00% - 0.27% 22.42
Mitsubishi Mahindra Agricultural Machinery Co., Ltd
(Consolidated)¥ 1.92% 705.55 -0.65% (51.74) 13.67% 54.44 0.03% 2.70
Mahindra Mexico S. de.R. L © 0.00% 1.06 -0.05% (4.13) -0.47% (1.89) -0.07% (6.02)
Mahindra do Brasil Industrial Ltda B 0.06% 22.94 -0.16% (12.84) -0.57% (2.26) -0.18% (15.10)
Hisarlar Makina Sanayi ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi
(Consolidated) T 0.05% 19.27 -1.56% (124.21) -0.15% (0.60) -1.49% (124.81)
Heritage Bird (M) Sdn. Bhd. ** 0.00% (0.86) 0.01% 0.45 0.00% - 0.01% 0.45
Infinity Hospitality Group Company Limited # 0.03% 9.34 0.02% 1.57 0.00% - 0.02% 1.57
MH Boutique Hospitality Limited # 0.00% (0.95) -0.01% (0.57) 0.00% - -0.01% (0.57)
MHR Holdings (Mauritius) Limited € -0.06% (21.78) -0.09% (7.18) 0.00% - -0.09% (7.18)
Convington S.a.r.l. € 0.50% 182.11 0.05% 4.08 0.00% - 0.05% 4.08
HCR Management Oy € 0.05% 17.25 0.01% 0.40 0.00% - 0.00% 0.40
Holiday Club Resort Oy € 1.25% 458.73 0.38% 30.04 0.00% - 0.36% 30.04
Kiinteisté Oy Himos Gardens € 0.02% 8.67 0.00% 0.06 0.00% - 0.00% 0.06
Suomen Vapaa-aikakiinteistét Oy LKV > 0.00% 0.15 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Kiinteistd Oy Himoksen Téhti 2 € 0.03% 10.97 0.07% 5.46 0.00% - 0.07% 5.46
Kiinteisté Oy Vanha Ykkostii € 0.00% 0.44 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Kiinteistd Oy Katinnurkka € 0.01% 2.49 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Kiinteisté Oy Tenetinlahti € 0.00% 0.89 0.00% (0.00) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.00)
Kiinteistd6 Oy Méllosniemi € 0.01% 2.42 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Kiinteistd Oy Rauhan Ranta 1 € 0.00% 1.02 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.02)
Kiinteistd Oy Rauhan Ranta 2 € 0.00% 1.67 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.02)
Kiinteistdé Oy Tiurunniemi € 0.01% 2.92 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.02)
Kiinteisté Oy Rauhan Liikekiinteistot 1 € 0.04% 13.95 0.00% 0.38 0.00% - 0.00% 0.38
Supermarket Capri Oy € 0.00% 1.14 0.00% 0.20 0.00% - 0.00% 0.20
Kiinteistdé Oy Kylpylantorni 1 € 0.01% 2.03 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Kiinteistd Oy Spa Lofts 2 € 0.00% 1.16 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Kiinteistd Oy Spa Lofts 3 € 0.00% 1.14 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Kiinteisté6 Oy Kuusamon Pulkkajérvi 1 € 0.01% 2.24 0.00% 0.02 0.00% - 0.00% 0.02
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Statement of net assets and profit and loss and other comprehensive income attributable to Owners and Non-controlling interest (contd.)

Rupees crores

Name of the Enterprise

Net assets, i.e., total assets

Share of Profit or loss

Share of Comprehensive

Share of Total

minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or loss profit or loss profit or loss

Ownership Services Ab > 0.00% 1.59 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.02)
Are Villas 1 AB > 0.00% 0.04 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% -
Are Villas 2 AB > 0.00% 0.04 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% -
Holiday Club Sweden AB Are > 0.00% 0.11 0.00% (0.00) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.00)
Holiday Club Sport and Hotelspa AB > 0.01% 2.94 -0.03% (2.59) 0.00% - -0.03% (2.59)
Holiday Club Resorts Rus LLC R 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.01 0.00% - 0.00% 0.01
Holiday Club Canarias Investments S.L.U. € 0.00% 0.02 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.02)
Holiday Club Canarias Sales & Marketing S.L.U. € 0.02% 6.34 -0.09% (7.07) 0.00% - -0.08% (7.07)
Holiday Club Canarias Resort Management S.L.U. € 0.07% 26.67 0.02% 1.88 0.00% - 0.02% 1.88
Are Villas 3 AB > 0.03% 11.26 0.14% 11.22 0.00% - 0.13% 11.22
Arabian Dreams Hotel Apartments LLC ¢ -0.01% (3.96) 0.03% 2.71 0.00% - 0.03% 2.71
Mahindra Two Wheelers Europe Holdings S.a.r.l. € 0.57% 210.09 0.00% (0.28) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.28)
Peugeot Motocycles S.A.S. (Consolidated) € -1.01% (372.66) -1.96% (155.99) -6.96% (27.73) -2.20% (183.72)
Mahindra Tractor Assembly Inc. $ 0.03% 9.68 -1.69% (134.45) 0.00% - -1.61% (134.45)
OFD Holding B.V. (Consolidated) € 0.14% 51.81 0.13% 10.37 3.83% 15.26 0.31% 25.63
Bristlecone Consulting Limited @ 0.01% 3.59 0.00% 0.01 0.00% - 0.00% 0.01
Bristlecone Limited $ 0.30% 110.86 1.11% 88.59 0.00% - 1.06% 88.59
Bristlecone (Malaysia) Sdn.Bhd ** 0.01% 2.76 -0.02% (1.62) 0.00% - -0.02% (1.62)
Bristlecone International AG < 0.03% 11.92 0.01% 0.95 0.00% - 0.01% 0.95
Bristlecone (UK) Limited £ 0.01% 3.91 0.02% 1.70 0.00% - 0.02% 1.70
Bristlecone Inc. $ 0.10% 37.47 0.06% 4.49 0.00% - 0.05% 4.49
Bristlecone Middle East DMCC 0.00% 0.1 -0.02% (1.31) 0.00% - -0.02% (1.31)
Bristlecone GmbH € 0.09% 33.56 0.04% 3.29 0.00% - 0.04% 3.29
Bristlecone (Singapore) Pte. Limited < 0.00% 0.63 0.01% 0.49 0.00% - 0.01% 0.49
Mahindra MiddleEast Electrical Steel Service Centre (FZC) ® 0.08% 30.40 0.00% 0.02 0.00% - 0.00% 0.02
Mahindra Overseas Investment Company (Mauritius)
Limited. $ 3.74% 1,376.73 7.40% 589.21 0.00% - 7.05% 589.21
Mahindra Racing S.p.A. € 0.04% 15.57 0.02% 1.66 0.00% - 0.02% 1.66
Mahindra Racing UK Limited £ 0.04% 16.49 0.21% 16.56 0.00% - 0.20% 16.56
Mahindra Fresh Fruits Distribution Holding Company € 0.00% 0.08 0.00% (0.08) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.08)
Mahindra Automotive North America Inc.
(Consolidated) $ 0.15% 56.08 -1.44% (114.65) 8.19% 32.64 -0.98% (82.01)
Erkunt Traktor Sanayii A.S 0.34% 124.62 -0.17% (13.51) 0.00% - -0.16% (13.51)
Erkunt Sanayi A.S T 1.12% 412.14 0.08% 6.76 0.00% - 0.08% 6.76
Mahindra Emirates Vehicle Armouring FZ-LLC ¢ 0.07% 23.95 0.08% 6.00 0.00% - 0.07% 6.00
Associates (Investment as per the equity method)
Indian
Swaraj Engines Limited 0.21% 76.11 0.34% 26.68 -0.02% (0.07) 0.32% 26.61
Tech Mahindra Limited 13.42% 4,934.30 12.50% 995.05 -16.30% (64.93) 1M.13% 930.12
Mahindra CIE Automotive Limited 1.74% 640.97 0.78% 61.83 -0.80% (3.17) 0.70% 58.66
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Statement of net assets and profit and loss and other comprehensive income attributable to Owners and Non-controlling interest (contd.)

Rupees crores

Name of the Enterprise

Net assets, i.e., total assets

Share of Profit or loss

Share of Comprehensive

Share of Total

minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or loss profit or loss profit or loss

PSL Media & Communications Limited 0.00% 0.88 0.00% 0.03 0.00% - 0.00% 0.03
Merakisan Private Limited 0.00% (0.34) -0.01% (0.66) 0.10% 0.42 0.00% (0.24)
Brainbees Solutions Private Limited 0.60% 222.23 -0.19% (15.05) 0.00% - -0.18% (15.05)
Medwell Ventures Private Limited 0.00% 0.07 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.02)
Foreign
Mahindra Finance USA LLC $ 0.89% 327.97 0.38% 30.27 0.13% 0.50 0.37% 30.77
CIE Automotive S.A. € 1.33% 488.44 1.62% 129.18 15.24% 60.70 2.27% 189.88
The East India Company Group Ltd £ 0.00% 1.82 -0.10% (8.11) 2.61% 10.39 0.03% 2.28
P.F. holding B.V. € 0.60% 220.52 -0.08% (6.39) 7.53% 29.99 0.28% 23.60
Scoot Networks Inc. $ 0.09% 34.63 -0.36% (28.80) 0.00% - -0.34% (28.80)
Sampo Rosenlew Oy € 0.20% 73.45 -0.18% (14.65) 3.32% 13.22 -0.02% (1.43)
Koy Sallan Kylpyla € 0.02% 5.61 -0.01% (0.41) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.41)
Kiinteistdé Oy Seniori-Saimaa € 0.00% 1.83 0.00% (0.12) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.12)
HDG-Asia Ltd > 0.00% (0.55) 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% -
Joint Ventures (Investment as per the equity method)
Indian
Mahindra World City (Jaipur) Limited 0.58% 211.91 0.34% 27.45 0.00% - 0.33% 27.45
Mahindra Bebanco Developers Limited 0.00% 0.76 -0.13% (9.97) 0.00% - -0.12% (9.97)
Mahindra World City Developers Limited 0.33% 120.36 0.15% 11.55 0.00% - 0.14% 11.55
Mahindra Homes Private Limited 0.05% 20.15 0.16% 13.05 0.00% - 0.16% 13.05
Mahindra Inframan Water Utilities Limited 0.00% 0.01 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)
Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private Limited 0.21% 7717 -0.18% (14.25) 0.05% 0.21 -0.17% (14.04)
Mahindra Aerospace Private Limited 0.44% 161.91 -1.91% (151.78) 0.55% 2.21 -1.79% (149.57)
Mahindra Solar One Private Limited 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% -
Mahindra Tsubaki Conveyor Systems Private Limited 0.08% 30.49 0.02% 1.51 0.00% - 0.02% 1.51
Mahindra Telephonics Integrated Systems Limited 0.04% 14.01 -0.02% (1.81) 0.02% 0.06 -0.02% (1.75)
Mahindra Logistics Limited (Upto 9th Nov, 2017) 0.00% - 0.25% 20.15 0.01% 0.03 0.24% 20.18
Brightsolar Renewable Energy Private Limited 0.04% 14.00 0.00% (0.21) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.21)
Industrial Cluster Private Limited 0.00% (0.02) 0.00% (0.04) 0.00% 0.00% (0.04)
Mahindra Happinest Developers Limited 0.00% (1.24) -0.02% (1.29) 0.00% -0.02% (1.29)
Classic Legend Private Limited 0.16% 58.91 -0.01% (0.79) -0.01% (0.06) -0.01% (0.85)
Foreign
Mahindra Yueda (Yancheng) Tractor Company Limited > 0.00% - -0.14% (10.86) -0.46% (1.83) -0.15% (12.69)
Jinan Qinggi Peugeot Motocycles Co Ltd. > 0.15% 54.18 0.07% 5.24 0.00% - 0.06% 5.24
Mahindra-BT Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited $ 0.20% 73.40 0.01% 0.79 -0.02% (0.06) 0.01% 0.73
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Rupees crores

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Comprehensive Share of Total
minus total liabilities income Comprehensive income
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or loss profit or loss profit or loss
SY Auto Capital Co., LTD » 0.24% 89.46 0.07% 5.19 1.19% 4.74 0.12% 9.93
Mahindra Emirates Vehicle Armouring FZ-LLC ¢ 0.00% - -0.03% (2.51) -0.07% (0.28) -0.03% (2.79)
Tropiikin Rantasauna Oy € 0.00% 0.46 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% -
Non controlling Interest -22.43% | (8,250.47) -5.62% (447.40) -19.81% (78.90) -6.30% (526.30)
Inter Company Adjustments -74.94% | (27,557.72) 20.08% 1,597.72 18.32% 65.01 19.85% 1,662.74
Total 100.00% | 36,775.19 100.00% 7,957.79 100.00% 398.35 100.00% 8,356.14

¢ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 AED = Rs. 17.68 as on 315t March, 2018
A Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 AUD = Rs. 50.07 as on 31t March, 2018
BB Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 BRL = Rs. 19.50 as on 31t March, 2018
@ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 CAD = Rs. 50.47 as on 315t March, 2018
< Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 CHF = Rs. 68.61 as on 315t March, 2018
> Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 CNY = Rs. 10.34 as on 31t March, 2018
€ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 EUR = Rs. 80.66 as on 31t March, 2018
f Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 GBP = Rs. 92.02 as on 31t March, 2018
¥ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 JPY = Rs. 0.6153 as on 315t March, 2018
» Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 KRW = Rs. 0.0608 as on 315t March, 2018
© Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 MXN = Rs. 3.53 as on 31t March, 2018
** Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 MYR = Rs. 16.89 as on 31t March, 2018
0 Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 NGN = Rs. 0.1810 as on 31t March, 2018
R Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 RUB = Rs. 1.15 as on 31t March, 2018

> Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 SEK = Rs. 7.90 as on 315t March, 2018

< Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 SGD = Rs. 49.66 as on 31t March, 2018
# Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 THB = Rs. 2.08 as on 31t March, 2018

T Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 TRY = Rs. 16.26 as on 31t March, 2018
$ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 USD = Rs. 64.92 as on 31t March, 2018
Z Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 ZAR = Rs. 5.58 as on 31t March, 2018

44. The Company has on 9% February, 2018, entered into an agreement, subject to requisite approvals, to sell 26,36,401 Equity shares of
Rs. 10 each held in Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private Limited (MSSSPL) aggregating to 22% of the paid-up Equity Share Capital of MSSSPL,
to Sanyo Special Steel Co. Ltd. for a consideration of Rs. 146.32 crores. Consequently carrying value of of Rs. 63.61 crores pertaining to

26,36,401 shares have been classified as Assets Held for Sale.

45. Previous year's figures have been regrouped / reclassified where necessary.

In terms of our report attached.

Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra
For BSR & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan
Chartered Accountants R. K. Kulkarni Dr. Pawan Goenka
Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022 i .
Anupam Puri Directors V. S. Parthasarathy
Jamil Khatri Vishakha N. Desai

Partner
Membership No : 102527

Mumbai, 29t May, 2018

Vikram Singh Mehta
T. N. Manoharan
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Narayan Shankar

Executive Chairman
Managing Director
Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO
Company Secretary

Mumbai, 29 May, 2018
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Company Board'’s Management Discussion ~ Corporate Business Responsibility Standalone Consolidated
Overview Report and Analysis Governance Report Accounts Accounts
Part “B” Details of Associates / Joint Ventures [as per Section 2(6) of the Companies Act, 2013]
Rupees crores
Name of Associates / Joint Ventures Audited Date of No. of | Proportion Cost of Networth Profit/(Loss) for the year
Balance Acquistion Equity of | Investments | attributable to . .
. R Considered in Not
Sheet Date shares | ownership Shareholding S . -
. Consolidation | considered in
held tt interest as per latest N
. consolidation
audited
Balance Sheet
Swaraj Engines Limited 31/03/2018 | 11/08/2008 4,039,206 33.31% 1.60 76.11 26.68 53.42
Tech Mahindra Limited 31/03/2018 | 31/08/2012 | 256,450,608 26.19% 2,691.53 4,934.93 995.05 2,804.77
Mahindra & Mahindra Contech Limited 31/03/2018 | 01/04/2010 70,000 46.66% 1.73 5.55 0.44 0.51
Officemartindia.com Limited 31/03/2018 | 31/03/2002 749,997 50.00% 0.22 (0.12) * *
Kota Farm Services Limited 31/03/2018 | 15/04/2011 310,000 51.02% 0.27 (0.15) * *
P.F. holding BV 31/03/2018 | 27/05/2016 18,336,050 40.00% 137.82 220.52 (6.39) (9.58)
Sampo Rosenlew Oy 30/09/2017 | 01/07/2016 1,050 35.00% 110.49 73.45 (14.65) (27.22)
Carnot Technologies Private Limited 31/03/2018 | 9/03/2018 7,370 23.66% 6.07 1.14 — —
Mitsubishi Mahindra Agricultural
Machinery co., Ltd. § 31/03/2018 | 01/10/2015 4 33.33% 191.59 470.39 (34.50) (17.24)
M.L.T.R.A Agro Equipments Private
Limited 31/03/2018 | 15/02/2018 68,413 27.06% 8.90 3.04 — —
Zoomcar Inc ¢ 16/02/2018 — — — — — —
Resfeber Labs Private Limited 31/03/2018 | 28/03/2018 246,280 23.47% 50.05 10.24 — —

Notes :

No associates/ Joint ventures are yet to commence operations.

* denotes amount less than Rs. 50,000.

tt including participating preference shares.

§ In addition to JPY750 million Common Stock (which represents 33.33% of the Common stock),the Company owns the entire JPY 2,250 million “Class A"
shares (shares with no voting rights); “Class A" shares have rights over dividend and liquidation on an equal basis with Common Stock.

¢ Significant influence is through right to participate in business decisions arising out of contractual agreement. Additionally, the Company holds 3,63,752
Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares of Zoomcar India Private Limited, a subsidiary of Zoomcar Inc., comprising of approx. 11.60% of the total equity

share capital and compulsory convertible preference share capital.

Nadir B. Godrej

M. M. Murugappan
R. K. Kulkarni
Anupam Puri
Vishakha N. Desai
Vikram Singh Mehta
T. N. Manoharan

Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman

Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director

Directors

V. S. Parthasarathy Group Chief Financial Officer & Group CIO

Narayan Shankar Company Secretary

Mumbai, 29t May, 2018
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